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Morgan, Lewis & Bockius

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants and
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN

MAINLAND PRC

Floor 6, United Shanxi Merchants Tower
No.8 Jinze West Road

Fengtai District

Beijing, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG SAR

Room 511-512, 5/F., Tower 2, Lippo Centre

89 Queensway Road
Admiralty
Hong Kong

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)
NEIER(E)

RERER
BRHZELE -
FEAR B 2 HT 122 Bih =75 Py

B
KB TR

HEEFTENR
AR P25 B RE R 20T

AR

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

AR I o B Py 3t 3 R S

REIIE R

g
ol ithz: ek o
BEEBAKECE

ERBNITREIEE XM

BB
T8
T $E B8R

HEFOE —FESE511-512F

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &



-

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)
NEIER(E)

CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER

OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

Chongging Heyang Branch

STOCK CODE

1569

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.minshengedu.com

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4AH B EH AR A A

REREROECREFE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

EBREBTE
EBPRIBAZLARAR
B

BT

ERREFR1835
ESRPOTIEI712-171655 4
FEARBIT
B T EeRTT
BEEABYT

iR

1569

NARE

www.minshengedu.com



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

B 15 2

A summary of the audited results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out

AEERBEREMBFENLEELEER
BE;ABEBESIIOT

below:
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A318LLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 IV
ARBTIT ARETIT ARBTT ARETT PGE-RWT
Revenue W z& 623,143 1,005,436 1,107,206 2,394,012 2,353,965
Cost of revenue Gl (289,775)  (488,946) (540,126) (1,037,051) (1,078,819)
Gross profit EF 333,368 516,490 567,080 1,356,961 1,275,146
Profit before tax BR 15 A A 348,276 346,254 143,522 661,801 546,501
Profit for the year F[E % A 332,828 333,981 126,812 607,579 513,272
As at 31 December
R12A31H8

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 IR
ARBTIT ARETIT ARBTIT ARETT PGE-RWS
Non-current assets FEREEE 5,046,451 5,582,812 6,383,900 7,489,314 7,041,509
Current assets MENVEE 1,578,021 1,494,790 2,726,446 3,948,480 4,915,072
Current liabilities REARE 1,507,081 1,482,443 2,024,600 3,318,427 4,509,206
Net current assets MEVEEFE 70,940 12,347 701,846 630,053 405,866

Total assets less BEERRHEE
current liabilities 5,117,391 5595159 7,085,746 8,119,367 7,447,375
Non-current liabilities  FERBNA & 1,587,996 1,724,366 2,923,867 3,330,332 2,410,259
Net assets BEFE 3,529,395 3,870,793 4,161,879 4,789,035 5,037,116
Total equity MBS 3,529,395 3,870,793 4,161,879 4,789,035 5,037,116
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company (the “Group”),
| am pleased to present the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting Period”).

Looking back on 2022, there have been frequent favorable
policies for vocational education, and the fruits from the policies
in favor of national vocational education is continuously riped,
the “Opinions on Promoting the High-quality Development of
Modern Vocational Education” ( (R HEIIR KB EHE L 2%
ErER) ) and the “Opinions on Deepening the Reform of the
Construction of the Modern Vocational Education System” ( <%
RAREBERBEHREBRZERHRENER) ) emphasize that the
high-quality development of modern vocational education should
be placed in a more prominent position, insist on serving the
comprehensive development of students, economic and social
development, focus on deepening the integration of industry
and education, and to promote the integration of vocational and
general education as the key to cultivate more high quality skilled
and technical talents. The report of the 20th National Congress
of the Communist Party of China pointed out that “education,
technology, and talents are the basic and strategic support for
the comprehensive construction of a socialist modern nation. It is
necessary to coordinate the collaborative innovation of vocational
education, higher education, continuing education, and promote
the integration of vocational education, industry and education
integration, and integration of technology and education”. The
newly revised the “Vocational Education Law of the People’s
Republic of China” ( (PZEARZLMBBEEHE L) ) further
improves the legal system of vocational education in the new era,
and clearly stipulate that enterprises should play an important role
in school operations to promote enterprises’ to participate deeply
in vocational education, to utilize capital, technology, knowledge,
facilities and equipment to sponsor vocational colleges and
vocational training institutions, and to encourage enterprises to
sponsor high-quality vocational education. The Party and the
nation have attached great importance to vocational education
and promote the reform and development of vocational education
with unprecedented strength.
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According to statistics from the Ministry of Human Resources
and Social Security, the total population of skilled talents in the
nation have exceeded 200 million at the end of 2021, of which
approximately 60 million were highly-skilled talents, representing
more than 26% of the total working population in China, while
highly-skilled talents accounted for more than 40% of the total
population of skilled talents in countries in Europe and the United
States, therefore, there is great room for improvement of the
population of highly-skilled talents in China. In October 2022, the
General Office of the Central Committee of the Communist Party
of China and the General Office of the State Council issued the
“Opinions on Strengthening the Construction of Highly-Skilled
Talent Teams in the New Era” ( (BRI FTEF R = Fae AA B(RiE
RHE ) ) and proposed that by the end of the “14th Five-Year
Plan” period, the proportion of skilled personnel in the employment
population shall reach more than 30% and the proportion of highly-
skilled talents shall reach one-third of the total population of skilled
talents. The room of demand for talents will be further enlarged.

| will now briefly summarize the development of the Group in the
past year from the following several aspects:

1. OPTIMIZE AND ENHANCE THE GROUP’S “INTERNET +”
VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND COMPREHENSIVE
SERVICE CAPABILITIES FOR EMPLOYMENT OF
TALENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to integrate
internal and external resources, continuously strengthened
and improved the Group’s integrated vocational education
service capabilities of “Enroliment — Assessment — Teaching
— Practical Training — Examination — Employment” and
gathered resources of learning services and resources of
employment services, to improve the comprehensive ability
of employment services for talents, to connect colleges,
students and enterprises, to realize data interoperability and
precise matching employment services for talents, and to
become a leading “Internet +” vocational education group
in China. At present, the Group has perfected the layout
of eight business sectors: (i) online education services, (ii)
on-campus education, (iii) vocational ability improvement,
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)
EREHwE(R)

(iv) human resources services, (v) integration of digital
intelligence, industry and education services, (vi) education
informatization services, (vii) examination and evaluation,
and (viii) international education, with over 1,900 learning
centres in all 31 provinces throughout the nation, cooperation
with more than 20 national ministries and institutes, more
than 30 industry-leading companies and more than 1,500
colleges and universities, bringing together approximately
850 human resources companies, and approximately 30,000
employers, linking approximately 2.8 million C-end users and
approximately 2.7 million of jobs, serving students and users
at the total scale of more than 50 million, forming an online
+ offline “Internet +” vocational education network and talent
employment service system covering the whole nation.

ATTACH GREAT IMPORTANCE TO THE INVESTMENT
IN CONSTRUCTION OF TECHNICAL INFRASTRUCTURE
CAPABILITIES, AND SEVERAL CORE TECHNOLOGIES
HAVE REACHED THE INDUSTRY-LEADING LEVEL

During the Reporting Period, the research and development
expenses of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB117.6 million. As of 31 December 2022, the Group
has accumulatively invested more than RMB1 billion in
the construction of technical infrastructure capabilities. At
present, the Group has 7 national high-tech enterprises,
and has undertaken more than 200 national, provincial and
ministerial scientific research projects and projects including
major national science and technology projects from the
National Development and Reform Commission, the Ministry
of Science and Technology, the Ministry of Education, the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology and other
national ministries and commissions. In addition, the Group
has successively won 4 national and provincial teaching
achievement awards and 2 provincial science and technology
awards. Furthermore, the Group has more than 100 patents
and more than 400 software copyrights, and many core
technologies of the Group have reached the industry-leading
level.
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ATTACH GREAT IMPORTANCE TO THE QUALITY OF
SCHOOL OPERATIONS, FOCUS ON DEMAND OF HIGH-
QUALITY EDUCATION DEVELOPMENT

Focusing on the demand for high-quality development,
during the Reporting Period, the Group continued to increase
the investment and building of teaching team, school
environment and equipment, the cost of teachers in the
Group’s schools was amounted to approximately RMB355.4
million, representing an increase of approximately 10.5%
as compared to that of the corresponding period in 2021.
The Group continues to improve the teaching environment
of its colleges and universities and upgrade the teaching
venues and equipment. During the Reporting Period, the
Group’s schools completed the construction of nearly
110,000 square meters of new teaching buildings, including
teaching laboratory buildings, student activity centers, student
dormitories, student canteens and etc. There were more than
90 experimental and training labs of various functions were
built and/or upgraded, and the relevant capital expenditure
was amounted to approximately RMB312.8 million.

The Group attaches great importance to the quality of school
operations and education services, and has implemented the
concept of “cultivating morality, cultivating people, and putting
quality in first priority” throughout the entire process of school
operations and services. The quality of school operations,
the characteristics of school operations and the effectiveness
of educating people have been continuously improved. The
construction of teaching of various colleges and universities
of the Group has made remarkable achievements, and the
quality of school operations has been highly recognized.
During the Reporting Period, the mechanical design,
manufacturing and automation of Chongging Institute of
Humanities, Science and Technology was approved as a
provincial-level first-class undergraduate major construction
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)
EREHwE(R)

project; the Japanese,Mathematics and Applied Mathematics
majors of Dianchi College of Yunnan University were newly
added to the provincial majors of “Double Ten Thousand
Plan” (#&%t2l) of the Ministry of Education, and there
were 217 first-class majors at the provincial level ranking
first among private universities in Yunnan Province; the
financial management and finance majors of Pass College
of Chongging Technology and Business University have been
approved by the Ministry of Education as the construction
site of first-class undergraduate majors at the provincial level.
Furthermore, the Group’s schools have won many honors
at the provincial and ministerial level, including “National
Innovation and Entrepreneurship Education Practice Base”
(RRBRAFEIEHE TR EM), “National Red Cross Model
Unit” (2 B4 +FE 838 (7), and “National Party Construction
Work Model Branch” (2B & & T {E&IR > 25).

FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE HAVE BEEN
CONTINUOUSLY STABLE WHICH PROVIDE STRONG
SUPPORT TO THE FUTURE BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue of the
Group was approximately RMB2,354.0 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 1.7% as compared to that of the
corresponding period in 2021; earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) was approximately
RMB965.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately
2.0% as compared to that of the corresponding period in 2021.
As of 31 December 2022, the total assets of the Group was
approximately RMB11,956.6 million, and its cash reserves
was approximately RMB3,477.1 million, representing an
increase of approximately 4.5% and 18.4% as compared
to those of the corresponding period in 2021, respectively,
which lays a solid foundation for future development.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK

The Group is a leading “Internet +” vocational education group
in China. On this basis, through existing business resources,
mergers and acquisitions and strategic cooperation, the Group
intend to build an internet platform for the talent digital intelligence
service industry that integrates the three major service areas of
“learning field, employment field, and entrepreneurship field”. In
the future, the Group will comprehensively promote the “online-
digital-intelligent” development of learning, employment, and
entrepreneurship services; deepen the cooperation with industry-
leading enterprises that are urgently needed by the country,
seek development together; and accelerate cooperation with
world-renowned universities and scientific research institutions
to create a high-level scientific research system.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to sincerely thank our management and all the staff of the Group
for their loyalty and dedication. | would also like to thank our
shareholders and business partners for their trust and confidence
in the Board and management of the Group. With the concerted
efforts of all staffs, | believe the business of the Group will continue
to thrive and generate greater return for our shareholders.

Li Xuechun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E & am MoAT

BUSINESS REVIEW
POLICY REVIEW OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

According to statistics from the Ministry of Human Resources
and Social Security, the total population of skilled talents in the
nation have exceeded 200 million at the end of 2021, of which
approximately 60 million were highly-skilled talents, representing
more than 26% of the total working population in China, while
highly-skilled talents accounted for more than 40% of the total
population of skilled talents in countries in Europe and the United
States, therefore, there is great room for improvement for the
population of highly-skilled talents in China. Therefore, vigorously
developing vocational education is crucial to improving China’s
high-skilled talents in various industries. Vocational education has
become an important cornerstone and strong support for China’s
economic development, the construction of a strong nation,
and national rejuvenation. In recent years, favourable national
vocational education policies have been issued frequently,
including:

1. In October 2021, the General Office of the Central Committee
of the Communist Party of China and the General Office of
the State Council issued the “Opinions on Promoting the
High-quality Development of Modern Vocational Education”
((BEARHBBRABESESSEEERENER) ), proposed
a diversified school-operating pattern, encouraging listed
companies and industry leaders to sponsor vocational
education, encouraged vocational colleges to cooperate
with enterprises to jointly establish industrial colleges,
encouraged vocational colleges and social capital to jointly
build vocational education training bases, and proposing
that the enrolment scale of undergraduate level of vocational
education should not be less than 10% of the enrolment scale
of junior college of vocational education by 2025;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

In  May 2022, the newly revised “Vocational
Education Law of the People’s Republic of China”
((FREARKEMBEZEHE L) ) was officially implemented.
The new law clarifies that vocational education and general
education are of the same important status, and takes multiple
measures to promote enterprises to sponsor colleges. It
clearly supports social forces to participate in vocational
education extensively, encourages, guides and supports
enterprises and other social forces to sponsor vocational
schools and vocational training institutions in compliance with
the laws, and encourages enterprises to deeply participate
in the integration of industry and education and school-
enterprise cooperation;

In September 2022, the executive meeting of the State Council
announced supporting policies for special re-financing for
equipment renovation and financial support, with education
informatization as a key support area. The state supports
colleges and universities to reduce financial costs, improve
school conditions, implement the strategy of rejuvenating
the nation through technology and education, and promote
the high-quality development of education through special
loans and other means;

In October 2022, the General Office of the Central Committee
of the Communist Party of China and the General Office of
the State Council issued the “Opinions on Strengthening the
Construction of Highly Skilled Talent Teams in the New Era”
( CERIRFRFR SR AL BRORRNER) ), pointing out
that skilled talents are an important force supporting China’s
manufacturing and China’s creation. By the end of the “14th
Five-Year Plan” period, skilled personnel shall be accounted
for more than 30% of employment population, and highly-
skilled personnel shall be accounted for one-third of the total
population of skilled talents;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEE T ko ()

5. In December 2022, the National Development and
Reform Commission issued the “Implementation
Plan for the *“14th Five-Year Plan” to Expand
Domestic Demand Strategy” (( [THE] BARSE
BYREE i 72<) ) and proposed to improve the quality of
education services, support areas with concentrated
population inflows to actively expand the supply of basic
education degrees, promote vocational colleges and applied
undergraduate colleges to strengthen the construction of
enterprise-education integration training bases, and create
a number of high-level vocational colleges; and

6. InDecember 2022, the General Office of the Communist Party of
China and the State Councilissued the “Opinions on Deepening
the Reform of the Modern Vocational Education System”
(CEARARLLERBEHEBAEABRRRENER) ),
emphasizing that the high-quality development of modern
vocational education should be placed in a more prominent
position, insist on serving the comprehensive development
of students, economic and social development, focus on
deepening the integration of industry and education, and
promote the integration of vocational and general education
as the key to cultivate more high-quality skilled and technical
talents.

The above-mentioned relevant favourable policies have reflected
that the great importance attached to vocational education by
the nation and its determined policies of developing high-quality
vocational education, and the promotion of vocational education
reform is in unprecedented strength.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to integrate
internal and external resources, continuously strengthened and
improved the Group’s integrated vocational education service
capabilities of “Enroliment-Assessment — Teaching — Practical
Training — Examination — Employment” and gathered resources
of learning services and resources of employment services, to
improve the comprehensive ability of employment services for
talents, to connect colleges, students and enterprises, to realize
data interoperability and precise matching employment services
for talents, and to become a leading “Internet +” vocational
education group in China. At present, the Group has perfected
the layout of eight business sectors: (i) online education services,
(ii) on-campus education, (iii) vocational ability improvement, (iv)
human resources services, (v) integration of digital intelligence,
industry and education services, (vi) education informatization
services, (vii) examination and evaluation, and (viii) international
education, with over 1,900 learning centres in all 31 provinces
throughout the nation, cooperation with more than 20 national
ministries and institutes, more than 30 industry-leading companies
and more than 1,500 colleges and universities, bringing together
more than 850 human resources companies, and approximately
30,000 employers, linking approximately 2.8 million C-end users
and approximately 2.7 million jobs, serving students and users at
the total scale of more than 50 million, forming an online + offline
“Internet +” vocational education network and talent employment
service system covering the whole nation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEE W& (8)

The main business operations of the Group’s eight business
sectors during the Reporting Period are as follows:

1. Online Education Services

The Group’s online education services mainly cover online
education, open education, adult higher education, self-
study examinations and professional degree postgraduate
(master’s/doctoral) education. Aiming at adults who need to
improve their academic qualifications, through cooperation
with key domestic universities, domestic and foreign business
schools, provincial open universities and higher vocational
colleges, through the national online and offline learning
center, the Group provides online learning services for
students and users.

Higher academic continuing education online services

The Group’s higher academic continuing education
online services are provided by a subsidiary of the
Company, namely Beijing Open Distance Education Center
Company Limited* Gt RRESEEHE+F LERAF]) (“Open
Education”) and a consolidated affiliated entity of the
Company, namely Guangdong Minsheng Online Education
Technology Company Limited* (ERERAEZHE RS
[R27]) (“Minsheng Online”). As of 31 December 2022,
Open Education and Minsheng Online cooperated with
approximately 250 domestic key universities, provincial
open universities and higher vocational colleges, to provide
support services of online education, open education, adult
higher education and self-study examination qualification
education to approximately 1.05 million students throughout
over 1,900 learning centres across the nation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Postgraduate management education services

The Group’s postgraduate management education services
are provided by Doxue Network Technology (Beijing) Company
Limited* (EP 24848 EHL (AL ) AR A F]) (“Doxue Network”), a
consolidated affiliated entity of the Company. Doxue Network
is a national leading enterprise in postgraduate management
education services. Its MBAChina platform is an active online
platform in the industry, which gathers professional and
famous teachers in the industry to create an intelligent and
diversified learning information platform for those who want to
improve their academic qualifications, providing information
channels for real-time consultation and learning courses that
suit their needs. The business school rankings released by
the MBAChina platform are widely recognized by the industry,
universities and learners, and have extensive influence in the
industry. As of 31 December 2022, Doxue Network cooperated
with more than 190 domestic and foreign business schools;
the platform had newly added approximately 459,000
registered users and the cumulative number of registered
users reached approximately 3.14 million.

On-campus education

The Group is committed to constructing a vocational education
service system for the training of secondary vocational,
higher vocational, applied undergraduate and professional
postgraduate students. As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s
schools were located in Chongging, Shandong, Yunnan, Inner
Mongolia, and the Group operated or managed 10 schools
(including 7 higher education institutions, 2 secondary
vocational schools and 1 high school); the total number
of students was 100,141, of which full-time undergraduate
students accounted for approximately 58.2%. The Group’s
schools offer a total of 120 undergraduate majors, 127 higher
vocational (junior college) majors, 51 secondary vocational
majors and 4 postgraduate cultivation and construction
majors. The Group’s undergraduate colleges now offer 1
key subject at provincial and above level, 2 key disciplines,
4 key cultivation disciplines, 15 first-class majors and 44
first-class programmes. The Group has established the only
provincial level key discipline among private universities in
Yunnan Province.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEE W& (8)

Focusing on the demand for high-quality development, the
Group continued to increase the investment and building
of teaching team, school environment and equipment.
During the Reporting Period, the cost of teachers in the
Group’s schools was amounted to approximately RMB355.4
million, representing an increase of approximately 10.5%
as compared to that of the corresponding period in 2021.
The Group continues to improve the teaching environment
of its colleges and universities and upgrade the teaching
venues and equipment. During the Reporting Period, the
Group’s schools completed the construction of nearly
110,000 square meters of new teaching buildings, including
teaching laboratory buildings, student activity centers, student
dormitories, student canteens and etc. There were more than
90 experimental and training labs of various functions were
built and/or upgraded, and the relevant capital expenditure
was amounted to approximately RMB312.8 million.

The Group attaches great importance to the quality of school
operations and education services, and has implemented the
concept of “cultivating morality, cultivating people, and putting
quality in first priority” throughout the entire process of school
operations and services. The quality of school operations,
the characteristics of school operations and the effectiveness
of educating people have been continuously improved. The
construction of teaching of various colleges and universities
of the Group has made remarkable achievements, and the
quality of school operations has been highly recognized.
During the Reporting Period, the mechanical design,
manufacturing and automation of Chongging Institute of
Humanities, Science and Technology was approved as a
provincial-level first-class undergraduate major construction
project; the Japanese, Mathematics and Applied Mathematics
majors of Dianchi College of Yunnan University were newly
added to the provincial majors of “Double Ten Thousand
Plan” (#&5t2)) of the Ministry of Education, and there
were seven first-class majors at the provincial level ranking
first among private universities in Yunnan Province; the
financial management and finance majors of Pass College
of Chongging Technology and Business University have been
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

approved by the Ministry of Education as the construction
site of first-class undergraduate majors at the provincial level.
Furthermore, the Group’s schools have won many honors
at the provincial and ministerial level, including “National
Innovation and Entrepreneurship Education Practice Base”
(BERBAFTEIEHE EEEM), “National Red Cross Model
Unit” (2 B4 +F £ & BE(7), and “National Party Construction
Work Model Branch” (2B & T {E&R > 35).

In addition to the Group’s higher education institutions located
in China, the Group has also invested in higher education
institutions in Australia, Singapore and Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, including Australian National Institute
of Management and Business in Sydney, Australia, Beacon
International College in Singapore, and Hong Kong Nang
Yan Vocational College in Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region, providing associate degree to postgraduate degree
programs.

Vocational Ability Improvement

The Group’s vocational ability improvement business
mainly covers (i) teacher continuing training; (ii) information
technology (“IT”) vocational training; (iii) cloud training
platform; and (iv) vocational qualification certificate training
businesses.

(i) Teacher continuing training

The Group’s teacher continuing training is provided
by Open Education. As the pioneer of mobile learning
for teachers, the Group has launched platforms such
as “Open Distance’s Teacher Education Network”
(BIEHENZ B #), “Teacher Training Bao” (EDFIE)
and “I-Classmate” (iF/£8) and other mobile learning
application tools, and built a “school-based” training
platform, providing all-round, full-process online training,
hybrid training and offline training and other support
services for educational administrative departments,
teacher development centers, primary and secondary
schools, colleges and universities and other educational
institutions in various places.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEE T ko ()

(i)

As of 31 December 2022, Open Education has trained
approximately 8 million teachers, with more than 500
partnered schools, more than 15,000 training projects,
and a total of 30TB+ course resources.

Open Education’s teacher training case “Two-line
promotion and five-step linkage” rural small-scale
teacher training model based on a cloud-based cross-
school learning community” ( EREiRERKEE LR
B [EaHE A PIE | BN/ NREZHEEIIER) was
successfully selected as a typical teacher training case
in the “China Teacher Training Development Report
(2021)" HEIZRENIEFIBE R4 (2021)) |, being the only
typical case from training institution being selected.

IT vocational training

The Group’s IT vocational training is provided by IMOOC,
a subsidiary of Open Education. IMOOC focuses on IT
online education, creates cutting-edge IT technology
quality courses, and cultivates practical technical talents
for enterprises. It has built more than 3,000 high-quality
training courses, with nearly 1,000 high-level industry
lecturers, and accumulated approximately 23 million
users as of 31 December 2022.

IMOOC has been selected into the top 10 of the
“Vocational Education APP Ranking List” (Bt % 2( & APPHE
77#%) released by the Chinese Academy of Sciences for
consecutive years. It has also been selected in the Apple
application store to regularly recommend applications
on various topics such as “Helping the Workplace”(B)
B:3%), “Everyone Can Program”(A A BE4®F2) and “Easy
Learning to Program” (852 E2/R712).
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(iii)

(iv)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Cloud training

As an important part of the “recruitment and training”
integrated service system, and based on the educational
cloud platform, the Group’s cloud training platform
focuses on industry applications, integrates resources
and services of cloud training providers for co-provision
of online training solutions to colleges and universities,
provides all-rounded trainings for cultivation of application
oriented talents, and facilitates the cultivation of talents
and enhancement of comprehensive vocational skKills.
Currently, the platform has incorporated over 60 training
projects, covering 11 categories such as computer, big
data, architecture, machinery, pharmaceuticals, finance
and trade, radio, film and television, tourism, agriculture,
logistics and general education. In particular, general
education-oriented trainings apply to most majors, while
other specialized trainings cover over 20 undergraduate
majors and over 40 junior college majors.

Vocational qualification certificate training

As of 31 December 2022, the Group provided over
40 vocational qualification certificate training programs
such as teachers qualification certificate and human
resources specialist, with a total of approximately 28,000
person counts trained during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEE T ko ()

Human resources services

The Group actively deploys human resources services
to create a talent training closed loop that integrates
“Recruitment and Training”. A consolidated affiliated entity
of the Company, Beijing Xiaoai Intelligent Technology
Company Limited*(Jt R/NEBREREBRAFT) (“Xiaoai
Technology”) created a skilled talent service platform of
“Excellent Learning and Happy Work” ({22244%), dedicated
to providing Chinese skilled talents with high-quality internship
training, employment, job selection and professional ability
improvement services. Relying on its rich digital experience
and landing service capabilities, Xiaoai Technology provides
different digital products and solutions as well as a stable
one-stop person-time service and technology supply chain
for enterprises, human resources organizations and colleges.
The platform consists of (i) “Zhigonggong” (& A T)- providing
digital employment SaaS for employment enterprises; (ii)
“Yunzhiai” (&%) and “Ailingong” (B T) - providing
HROSaaS for third-party human resource service agencies;
(iii) “School-Enterprise Express” (R{I=EBE) - providing
colleges and universities with an internship employment
management system that connects schools, students and
enterprises, with first of all, data exchange and display on the
same platform. The School-Enterprise Express is also one of
the first batch of compliant platforms that complies with the
Ministry of Education’s new “Regulations on the Management
of Vocational School Student Internships” ( (BiZEERKE4
EBEIEMRTE) ) ; and (iv) to provide regional governments
with gig job market — a comprehensive solution for the digital
gig job market that has SaaS + skills training and capability
improvement + talent training base + industry-education
integration. The platform aims to solve the employment of
the masses, increase the income of the masses, meet the
employment needs of enterprises, promote the development
of enterprises, and provide needed talent for key regional
industries.

As of 31 December 2022, the business of Xiaoai Technology
covered 21 provinces throughout the nation, and the platform
had approximately 850 human resources companies with
over 30,000 employers settling in, linking approximately 2.8
million C-end users and approximately 2.7 million of jobs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

In addition, in 2022, the Group’s universities and colleges
actively cooperated with national, provincial and municipal
employment authorities to carry out various recruitment
activities, and utilized employment platforms at all levels to
organize online and on-campus recruitmentand visitenterprises
to expand jobs, etc. to broaden employment channels. The
targeted employment assistance for graduates of Dianchi
College of Yunnan University was promoted nationwide as a
key case by Chinese Central Television (CCTV). The Group
has been committed to continuously delivering outstanding
talents for the country’s economic construction and social
development for many years. The Group’s colleges and
universities have cultivated “National Excellent Communist
Youth League Members” (ZBIEFLFEE), “National
March 8th Red Banner Bearer’ (2B =/\4}EF), “Social
Practice for College Students to the Countryside Social
Practice Activities Outstanding Individuals” (= N 48+t & B &
SEENEFE ATEIR) A large number of outstanding graduates,
including advanced models such as “National University
Student Self-improvement Star’ (EERAKZ24LHBZE),
“National University Student Entrepreneurship Typical Figure”
(BBIREAAIZEHAR AY)), “Yunnan University Student Person
of the Year” (EEEAZEFEAY).

Integration of digital intelligence, industry and
education services

In response to the spirit of the national industry-education
integration policy, the Group adopts the innovative “N+1+N”
model, integrates the resources of leading enterprises in
various fields, combines the Group’s strong teaching and
research strength and product research and development
investment, and builds an integrated platform that supports
the integration and cooperation of production and education
in secondary and higher vocational schools, technicians
and undergraduate colleges. The Group’s integration of
industry and education covers various professional groups
related to strategic emerging industries such as artificial
intelligence, big data, blockchain, information security,
intelligent manufacturing, industrial internet, new energy
vehicles, intelligent networked vehicles, digital economy,
and new media. For the construction of professional groups
in colleges and universities, the Group provides products and
services including enrollment services, teaching services,
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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course construction services, experimental training room
construction, teaching software platform construction, teacher
training, student internship, employment and etc.

In the field of industry-education integration, the Group
supports flexible and diversified cooperation models,
including jointly building municipal-level industry-education
integration bases with local governments and industrial
parks, undertaking the trusteeship and operation of colleges
and universities, and jointly building industrial colleges with
colleges and universities, to provide laboratories, courses,
information platforms and etc. for the college and universities.

Education Informatization Services

The Group attaches great importance to the construction of
new education infrastructure. Guided by new development
concepts and information technology and oriented to the
needs of high quality education development, and by
focusing on information networks, platform systems, digital
resources, innovative applications, credible security, etc.,
it constructed a new infrastructure system, created core
productivity, and established a user-centric, end-to-end,
fully closed-loop education service cloud platform (including
laaS infrastructure, developer platform, multi-cloud resource
management platform, middle-level services, technical
products, OPEN application center, terminal services, etc.).

The Group’s education informatization services are
provided by a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company,
namely UMOOC Online Education Technology (Beijing)
Company Limited* (BEEREGKHABERIFILR)ERETAF)
("UMOOC"), Open Education and Doxue Network.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

UMOOC provides education and teaching informatization
construction, online teaching support, mixed teaching
applications and other services for undergraduate colleges
(including graduate schools) and vocational colleges across
the nation. As of 31 December 2022, UMOQOC has partnered
with more than 400 undergraduate colleges (including
graduate schools) and vocational colleges, and the services
provided by UMOOC covered more than 13 million students.
The “Campuswit” platform released by Doxue Network is
committed to providing business education in major colleges
and universities across the country, providing students with
a full life cycle and allround one-stop solution, with product
covering business education enrollment, online teaching,
academic affairs, dissertation, career development, alumni
management and other different stages of process.

Examination and Evaluation

The examination services of the Group mainly provide online
and offline course examinations and unified online education
examinations for online education colleges across the nation,
Chinese Proficiency Test (“HSK”), other social examinations
and etc.

Examination and Evaluation services are mainly provided by
the subsidiaries of the Company, namely Open Education
and Silk Road (Beijing) International Education Technology
Center Company Limited* (44482 B (1t ) BEIBR 2B BHEF L
BRAF]) (“Silk Road”). Open Education has established a
standardized test center system that covers the whole nation
and extends to the grassroots level. At the same time, with the
help of artificial intelligence, big data, cloud computing and
other technologies, it has independently developed an online
test system, a question bank system, a test administration
system, a monitoring system and an evaluation system.

As of 31 December 2022, Open Education has served
approximately 8.6 million division counts throughout the
Reporting Period. Silk Road is an industry-leading professional
service organization for the HSK online test. It is the world’s
first HSK online test center. It has built more than 80 test
centers/exams at home and abroad and has accumulated
more than 180,000 internet-based examination users.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEE T ko ()

International Education

The Group continues to implement the development concept
of “Internet + Chinese + Vocational Education”, and connects
government departments, key universities, and industry
associations to initiate and operate the MOOC China Alliance,
focusing on areas where there is a shortage of two-way
talent needs in countries along the Belt and Road. It exports
China’s high-quality educational resources, builds an online
multilanguage MOOC platform for educational services
carrying “Internet + Chinese + Vocational Education”,
adopts a hybrid teaching model to serve Chinese training,
learning and grade testing for international students from
many well-known Chinese universities, and adopted Sino-
foreign cooperation in school operation, study abroad, online
international education and other methods to cultivate and
improve the academic qualifications and abilities of students
and in-service personnel, serves China’s application-oriented
undergraduate colleges and vocational colleges to “bring
in and go out”, cultivates big data and cloud technology,
carbon neutrality and other cutting-edge industries along
the Belt and Road engineering and technology talents, and
builds an international talent pool for the Belt and Road trade
connections. In 2022, the Group has made the following key
arrangements for international education projects:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Create a closed loop of all-round study abroad services

In July 2022, Open Education and CIIC Technology Group
Co., Ltd.* (R B EHL & E AR A A) entered into an agreement
for the acquisition of 51% equity interest in Shanghai CIIC
International Business Development Co., Ltd.*(_t /& A %2 B B
3R AR A R]) (currently named as Shanghai Zhiaosheng
International Business Development Co., Ltd.* (/85 B
BIRR 753 R AR A Al)) (“CIIC Business”). ClIC Business is
one of the first professional consulting agencies in Shanghai
that has been approved by the Ministry of Public Security
to operate intermediary services for citizens entering and
leaving the country for private purposes. It is also one of
the earliest companies in China to provide immigration
consulting services. CIIC Business is the first batch of
overseas study intermediary service agencies approved
by the Ministry of Education and the Shanghai Municipal
Education Commission, and has established long-term and
stable cooperative relationships with over a thousand of
colleges and universities in United States, United Kingdom
and other countries, with integrated services including
language training, application for study abroad, overseas
study tours, internships and employment, overseas services,
and international schools, creating a closed loop of all-
rounded study abroad services.

Create a comprehensive service platform of “Chinese +
Vocational Education”

In December 2022, the Group, Wuzhou Hanfeng
Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd.”
(AMNERBLERIFAER)BR2AA]) (an enterprise directly
under the China-Foreign Language Exchange and Cooperation
Center of the Ministry of Education) and Silk Road entered
into an agreement on jointly building a “Chinese + Vocational
Education” comprehensive service platform project. The
“Chinese + Vocational Education” comprehensive service
platform project will focus on the “going out” of vocational
education colleges and Chinese-funded enterprises, and
focus on the actual needs of Chinese learners around
the world, such as language learning, skill improvement,
studying in China, exchanges, and tourism. Giving full play
to the resources and advantages of the three parties in
platformization, digitalization, and intelligence, the Group
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEE T ko ()

intends to build a comprehensive service platform of “Chinese
+ vocational education” integrating education exchanges and
cooperation with foreign countries and students studying
in China, so as to provide learners from all over the world
with more convenient, efficient, and Sustainable integrated
services of Chinese language and vocational technical
education.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

The Group is a leading “Internet +” vocational education group
in China. On this basis, through existing business resources,
mergers and acquisitions and strategic cooperation, the Group
intend to build an internet platform for the talent digital intelligence
service industry that integrates the three major service areas of
“‘learning field, employment field, and entrepreneurship field”.
The Group aims to further:

1. comprehensively promote the “online-digital-intelligent”
development of learning, employment, and entrepreneurship
services, and further improve the comprehensive product
and service system for learning, employment, and
entrepreneurship;

2. deepen the cooperation with industry-leading enterprises
that are urgently needed by the country, seek common
development, and become an industry-leading modern
enterprise that integrates production and education in multi-
industry layout and leads industrial development; and

3. accelerate cooperation with world-renowned universities
and scientific research institutions to create a high-level
scientific research system and comprehensively enhance
the platform’s support capabilities for learning, employment,
and entrepreneurship services under the background of
future technology. Relying on the platform, promote the
transformation of scientific research achievements, deeply
support the transformation and upgrading of industries
and industrial development, and lead the innovation and
development of new formats and forms.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Revenue

Revenue represents the value of services of the Group rendered
during the Reporting Period. The Group derives revenue primarily
from providing on-campus education and online education
services to students and users.

The total revenue slightly decreased by approximately 1.7%
to approximately RMB2,354.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 from that of approximately RMB2,394.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021, which was mainly due to
decrease in revenue in the distance education services and the
online course services during the Reporting Period.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales consists primarily of teaching staff costs, depreciation
and amortization, cost of cooperative education, utilities and other
costs.

The cost of sales increased by approximately 4.0% from
approximately RMB1,037.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB1,078.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. This increase was primarily due to (i) the increase
in the number of teaching staff and their salaries and allowances;
and (ii) the increase in the depreciation and amortization during
the Reporting Period.

Gross profit

The gross profit decreased by approximately 6.0% from
approximately RMB1,357.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB1,275.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, and the gross profit margin decreased from
approximately 56.7% to approximately 54.2%, which was mainly
due to (i) the decrease in revenue of online education services
during the Reporting Period; and (ii) the increase of operating
costs in general during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEE T ko ()

Other income and gains

Other income and gains consist primarily of government grants,
interest income and rental income and etc.

Other income and gains increased by approximately 12.3% from
approximately RMB249.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB280.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. This increase was primarily due to (i) the increase
in the investment income from short-term investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss during the Reporting Period;
and (ii) the increase in the government grant and etc. during the
Reporting Period.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses consist primarily of salaries and
other benefits for our staff who are in charge of student recruitment
and promoting, promoting expenses and student recruitment
expenses and marketing cost of the online education entities.

Selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately
12.5% from approximately RMB242.9 million for year ended 31
December 2021 to approximately RMB273.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, which was primarily due to there were
new online education entities consolidated to the Group during
the Reporting Period.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of the salaries and
other benefits for general and administrative staff, office-related
expenses, depreciation and amortization of office buildings and
equipment, environment and health expenses and travel and
transportation expenses.

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 6.3% from
approximately RMB471.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB501.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 due to (i) the increase in salaries and other
benefits of the administrative staff during the Reporting Period;
and (i) the increase in the depreciation and amortization expenses
during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Other expenses, net

Other expenses consist primarily of expenses relating to donations
made to third-party educational and other institutions, loss on
disposal of property, plant and equipment and the provision of
bad debts.

Other expenses decreased by approximately 28.7% from
approximately RMB100.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB71.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. This decrease was primarily attributable to the
expenses relating to the change in of fair value has not occurred
during the Reporting Period.

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly include (i) interests on bank loans and
other borrowings; and (ii) the interest on the put option liability in
connection with the share purchase agreement (the “Put Option”)
of Leed International Education Group Inc. (“Leed International”).

Finance costs has increased by approximately 25.4% from
approximately RMB130.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB163.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, which was mainly due to the increase of loan
and interest rate which led to the increase in the finance costs
in general during the Reporting Period.

Profit for the year

As a result of the above factors, profit for the year of the Group
decreased by approximately 15.5% from approximately RMB607.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately
RMB513.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

BRI (E)

At F8E

Hibfx T EREEMAE=THE kA
BRBEZOFAX HEWE  BELREES
1B ARIEIREME -

HM mEZE2021F12A318 EFEX
HARE100. 2B B LR L K28 7% 2B E
2022F12A31B L FEMHARKE71.58
BT @R ETEHRBREHRHEITEBEELER
T EZEIEEA AT -

BB A
BMEKATZ B RITERLEMERN
B R(iEEEERHEEEERQR (R
BEE )R Mty BB B a2 10 B a0 R0 B
(IFEAEDBENHNE -

BEKANBREE2021F12A31B IFFEH
HANRME130.6E BT INK25.4% 2B E
202212 A31H L FEMHARK163.78
Br FTEARBRESHMEERKARERSE
B BR R A K AN IE INFTER ©

FEBF

HREMAE A"EEFERMNBEE
202112 H31H L FEMH ARK607.68
BILR L #15.5%F & £2022F12831H
IEFENHARES13.38ETT ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &



-

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEE T ko ()

Adjusted net profit

The Group defines its adjusted net profit as its profit for the
year after adjusting for those items which are not indicative of
the Group’s operating performances (as presented in the table
below). This is not a IFRSs measure. The Group has presented this
item because the Group considers it an important supplemental
measure of the Group’s operational performance used by the
Group’s management as well as analysts or investors. The
following table shows profit and adjusted net profit of the Group
for the periods presented below:
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Year ended 31 December

Profit for the year FEm A

Add: o
Unrealised exchange loss RERELEE
Share option expenses R R

Interest of the Put Option liability from  WIEEEEERR L EEEERN

the acquisition of Leed International B
Amortisation of intangible assets due FARMEHEL &E
to consolidation

Change in fair value (gain)/loss AFEEH(WE) /BB

Deferred income tax accrued on ngf.ﬁrﬁ’] Lﬁﬁ S
dividends

Adjusted net profit AR i A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Adjusted net profit for the year ended 31 December 2022
decreased by approximately RMB180.7 million or approximately
22.5% as compared with that of the corresponding period in 2021.
Adjusted net profit margin decreased from approximately 33.6%
for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately 26.4%
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

FINANCIAL AND LIQUIDITY POSITION
Net current assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current assets of
approximately RMB405.9 million, which primarily consisted of cash
and bank balances. The current assets as at 31 December 2022
increase to approximately RMB4,915.1 million from approximately
RMB3,948.5 million as at 31 December 2021. The increase in
current assets was primarily attributable to an increase of cash
and cash equivalents from approximately RMB2,750.2 million as
at 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB3,477.1 million as
at 31 December 2022, mainly due to the increase of revenue of
tuition fee and accommodation fee of new academic year during
the Reporting Period.

The current liabilities increased from approximately RMB3,318.4
million as at 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB4,509.2
million as at 31 December 2022, mainly due to (i) an increase of
approximately RMB137.1 million in trade payables; (ii) an increase
of approximately RMB302.3 million in interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings during the Reporting Period; and (iii) the Put
Option liability became current liability in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEE T ko ()

Capital commitment

The Group has the following capital commitments at the end of
the periods indicated below:

BAAE

7R BB A R B 2 51 AR SRS ) 4 AR
T -

Contracted, but not provided for: EHELEES TR
Equipment By
Buildings BF
Acquisition of a private school B R R 224

At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group did not have
significant capital commitments that are authorized but not
contracted for (2021: nil).

Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
approximately RMB355.7 million, which was primarily used for
(i) the construction of the Group’s school buildings, facilities,
land acquisition; and (ii) the upgrade of software, hardware and
facilities of the Group’s online education entities.

Indebtedness

The Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings primarily
consisted of short-term working capital loans to supplement our
working capital and finance our expenditure and long-term project
loans for the continuous development of our school buildings
and facilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

The bank loans and other borrowings amounted to approximately
RMB2,357.5 million as at 31 December 2022, denominated in
Renminbi, United States dollar (“US$”) and Hong Kong dollar
(“HK$”). As at 31 December 2022, our bank loans and other
borrowings bore effective interest rates ranging from 2.2% to 7.4%
per annum. The loan of Chongging Zhenzhi Zhiye Co., Ltd.* (EE
ZEEXBREMTAR]) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Chongging
Electronic Information College) amounted to RMB6.14 million, with
interest rates ranging from 15%-24% per annum.

The Group maintains a balance between continuity of funding
and flexibility through generated cash flows from operating
activities and other borrowings. The Group regularly reviews its
major funding positions to ensure that it has adequate financial
resources in meeting its financial obligations.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have material
contingent liabilities (2021: nil).

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s buildings and
land with a net carrying amount of approximately RMB82.7 million
(831 December 2021: RMB84.4 million) were pledged to secure
bank loans and other borrowings.

Foreign exchange exposure

The majority of the Group’s revenue and expenditures are
denominated in RMB. As at 31 December 2022, certain bank
balances were denominated in US$ and HK$. The Group
currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policies.
The management will continue to monitor the Group’s foreign
exchange risk exposure and consider adopting prudent measures
as appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEE T ko ()

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing total borrowings
by total equity, increased to approximately 46.8% as at 31
December 2022 from approximately 41.3% as at 31 December
2021, which was due to the increase of bank and other borrowings
during the Reporting Period.

Salary increment for employees, training and development

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has approximately 7,500
employees (2021: 7,470 employees).

In 2022, in order to motivate our faculty staff for better work
performance, the Group has reviewed and increased the salaries
of employees. The increment in salaries is based on their
performance, experience and prevailing industry practices, with
all compensation policies and packages reviewed on a regular
basis. As required by the PRC laws and regulations, we participate
in various employee social security plans for our employees
that are administered by local governments, including pension,
medical, maternity, work-related injury, unemployment insurance
and housing provident fund.

In addition, the Group provides training programs to its existing

and newly recruited employees and/or sponsors its employees
to attend various job-related training courses.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEhEREERE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xuechun, aged 69, is the founder of our Group. Since
October 1998, Mr. Li has served as chairman of the board of
directors of Chongging Li’ang Industry Co., Ltd.. He was appointed
as a Director of the Company on 13 December 2005 and has
been the Chairman of the Board since 17 January 2006. Mr. Li has
more than 20 years of experience in the education industry, having
served as the Chairman of the Board since 2006. In addition, Mr,
Li served as the vice- chairman of the Chinese Association for
Non-Government Education* (FEBIRMHZ B #HE) from May 2008
to November 2016 and has served as the executive-chairman
of Chongging Association for Non-Government Education* (EE
R EHE) since 2014. Mr. Li is responsible for the strategic
development of our Group. Mr. Li graduated from the CPC Centrall
Party School* (/R REZ ) in Economic Management in June
1988 through long distance learning courses. Mr. Li was a member
of the 11th and 12th National Committee of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference* (FEIARBUAEEHEHE
) and a representative of Science Education Culture Health
and Sport Commission* (FEIARBUAHESHARINEEELZE
) of the 12th National Committee of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Mr. Li was awarded as a National
Education Industry Model Worker* (2E{EHFHE L1E#H) by the
Ministry of Education of the PRC in September 2014. Mr. Li did
not hold any directorship in other listed companies during the
last three years.

Mr. Liis the father-in-law of Mr. Zuo Yichen, the executive Director
and the President of the Company.
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English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
EEkafEEE(E)

Ms. Zhang Weiping, aged 58, joined the Group in April 2007. Ms.
Zhang was appointed as a Director of our Company on 27 July
2008, and served as the Chief Operational Officer of our Group
from April 2007 to August 2016. Ms. Zhang was appointed as the
vice-chairperson of the board of directors and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in July 2020. Since September 2000,
Ms. Zhang has held various positions with Chongging College of
Humanities, Science and Technology, including being appointed
as professor by Southwestern Normal University Yucai College*
(FArOREI K25 4 2Bt) (a predecessor of Chongging College
of Humanities, Science and Technology) in 2004. She currently
serves as the executive principal and party secretary of the school.
Ms. Zhang has more than 15 years of experience in the education
industry and is responsible for the overall management and
operation of our Group. Ms. Zhang graduated from Southwestern
University* (FAF AE2) (formerly known as Southwestern Normal
College* (FAF AT E67)) with a bachelor’s degree in law in 1988
and a master’s degree in law in 1998. Ms. Zhang held various
positions with Southwestern University during the period from
1988 to 2007, where she was appointed an associate professor
in 2001 before receiving a further promotion to the position of
researcher in 2007. Between December 2007 to December 2012,
Ms. Zhang was a representative member of Chongqging Municipal
People’s Congress* (EE M ARMREKAE). She has served as a
vice president of the Higher Education Commission of the China
Non-Governmental Education Association* (fFEIRBHEHE)
since 2011. Ms. Zhang was awarded the “Advance Education
Workers in Chongging* (%ti##& T1E%&)” award by Chongging
Municipal Education Commission in September 2007. She was
also named as an “Outstanding Party Affairs Worker* (B5 &% T
YE&)” by Southwestern University* (FAEIAE) in June 2006. Ms.
Zhang did not hold any directorship in other listed companies
during the last three years.

*

English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. Zuo Yichen, aged 42, joined the Group in August 2016
as Vice President. Mr. Zuo was appointed as a Director of our
Company on 23 August 2016 and currently act as the President
of our Company. Mr. Zuo has more than 20 years of experience
in finance and education. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zuo was
employed by the Bank of China from July 2002 to March 2016,
and last occupied the position of head office senior manager.
Mr. Zuo graduated from Beijing Foreign Studies University* (1t
FAHNEIFEARER) in 2002 with a bachelor of arts degree, majoring
in French. Mr. Zuo did not hold any directorship in other listed
companies during the last three years.

Mr. Zuo is the son-in-law of Mr. Li Xuechun, the executive Director
and chairman of the Board of the Company.

Mr. Lam Ngai Lung, aged 46, joined the Group in May 2012
as the general manager of our investment department and was
subsequently appointed as a Director of our Company on 23
August 2016. Mr. Lam has served as the Chief Financial Officer of
our Group since 22 May 2016. Mr. Lam has more than 15 years of
experience in the field of accounting, and finance. Prior to joining
our Group, He served as an audit assistant with Nexia Charles
Mar Fan & Co., a firm of Certified Public Accounts, between
September 2000 and November 2003. From November 2003 to
October 2006, Mr. Lam was employed by PricewaterhouseCoopers
and last occupied the position of senior associate. Between
November 2006 and March 2007, Mr. Lam was employed as an
assistant manager at TOM Group Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2383) since August 2004 and
was primarily responsible for internal operational reviews. From
March 2007 to May 2012, Mr. Lam served as an advisory manager
at KPMG. Mr. Lam graduated from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in November 1999 with a bachelor of
science in mathematics degree. In October 2000, He obtained
the Postgraduate Certificate in Professional Accounting from the
City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lam has been a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2004
and a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) charterholder since 2005.
Mr. Lam did not hold any directorship in other listed companies
during the last three years.
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English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
EERaREEE(E)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Shen Jinzhou, aged 36, was appointed by the Board as
a non-executive Director on 13 January 2023. Mr. Shen has
been working in Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Holdings Limited
(ZEBWERMIZRAETRAR]) (“OCT (Asia)’) (stock code: 3366)
since 2012, the shares of OCT (Asia) are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and which
holds approximately 7.87% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report. Mr. Shen has been
successively serving different senior positions during his tenure
with OCT (Asia). While working in OCT (Asia), with abundance
of investment experience, Mr. Shen was mainly responsible for
matters in relation to the Investment Development Department of
OCT (Asia). Since May 2018, Mr. Shen has been appointed as the
Managing Director of the Investment Development Department
of OCT (Asia). Mr. Shen had also served as a non-executive
director of Tianli International Holdings Limited (K3 BB A
FR/A7]) (stock code: 1773) ' the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
from October 2018 to December 2019. Mr. Shen graduated with
a bachelor of economics and a master of economics from Sun
Yat-sen University in 2010 and 2012, respectively. In 2017, Mr,
Shen was awarded with Chartered Financial Analyst qualification.
In addition, Mr. Shen obtained the Legal Professional Qualification
Certificate in 2018.

*

English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Ms. Li Yanping, aged 61, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 28 June 2017. Ms. Li has been the Vice Principal of
Pass College of Chongging Technology and Business University,
a school in which the Group owns 100% school sponsor interest,
since March 2016. Ms. Li has over 30 years of experience in the
financial service industry and possesses extensive experience in
management and internal audit. Prior to joining the Group, Ms.
Li was the Deputy Division Chief at the Xi’an Branch of Internal
Audit Bureau of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (“ICBC”)
(PEIERITABETBALHB) from 2006 to 2016 and has
worked as an auditor at ICBC from 1999 to 2004. She has also
worked at various positions in ICBC from 1980 to 2004. Ms. Li
has obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics and management
from the Party School of the Central Committee of the Communist
Party of China (FF R Z %) and is a senior economist. Ms. Li is the
daughter of Mr. Li Xuerang who is a cousin of Mr. Li Xuechun,
a controlling shareholder of the Company, an executive Director
and the chairman of the Board.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny, aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of our Company on 2 March
2017. Mr. Chan is a partner and founder of Kenny Chan & Co.,
a firm of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan has over 30
years’ experience in accounting, taxation, auditing and corporate
finance and has been involved in several mergers, acquisitions
and initial public offering projects. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor of
commerce degree from the University of New South Wales and is a
member of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand, the
Association of International Accountants, CPA Australia, the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan is also a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. Chan served as president
of the Hong Kong Branch of the Association of International
Accountants in the years 2012-2015. Mr. Chan is an independent
non- executive director of Zhongyuan Bank Co., Ltd., CMIC Ocean
En-Tech Holding Co., Ltd., Hebei Construction Group Corporation
Limited and Kingland Group Holdings Limited, all are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
EEkafEEE(E)

Mr. Yu Huangcheng, aged 47, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of our Company on 2 March 2017. From
March 2009 to March 2010, Mr. Yu was employed by the Investment
Promotion Bureau of Haidian District* (/&= % & {24 /5) and last
occupied the position of section chief (£H&). Since March 2010,
Mr. Yu has served as an investment director at Kunwu Jiuding
Capital Holdings Co., Ltd. (E & NE & E LMD BR A F]), which
is a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600053). Mr. Yu graduated from Macquarie University in Australia
with a Master’s degree in applied finance in November 2008. Mr.
Yu did not hold any directorship in other listed companies during
the last three years.

Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew, aged 67, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of our Company on 2 March
2017. He was admitted as Solicitor of the High Court in Hong
Kong in January 1982 and has over 30 years of experience in the
legal practice. Mr. Wang was the Head of Legal and Compliance
Department of China Development Bank Corporation Hong Kong
Branch between from August 2010 to September 2011. Before
joining China Development Bank Corporation Hong Kong, he was
a Partner of the Finance & Projects Group of DLA Piper Hong
Kong from October 2006 to November 2009. Mr. Wang has also
been a Notary Public since 1992. Actively involved in public sector
advisory and statutory bodies, amongst the appointments he is
the Chairman of Appeal Tribunal Panel (Building Ordinance), and
former member of Notaries Public Disciplinary Tribunal Panel. In
2005, he was invited by former President of the United States
Bill Clinton to participate in the Clinton Global Initiative Fund
held in New York 2005. Mr. Wang has served as an independent
non- executive director of Infinity Financial Group (Holdings)
Limited (FTREFEB(FER)BR AR, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1152) from October 2011 to June
2017. Mr. Wang graduated from Concordia University, Canada
with a bachelor of arts degree in Communications Arts.

*

English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Wei, aged 56, was appointed as the auditor director
of our company on 27 July 2020. Mr. Wang joined the Group
in October 2005. Mr. Wang has over 15 years of experience
in finance and accounting and is primarily responsible for the
finance and accounting of our Group’s schools in Chongging.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wang worked as accountant
with Beijing Zhongruicheng Lianhe Accounting Firm Chongging
Branch* (dtmRAInsltE S5t EHAERE S FT) and Chongging
Tongguan Accounting Firm Co., Ltd.* (EE BT &t E4KMA
FRE{E/AR]). Mr. Wang graduated from Jiangxi Caijing College*
(LPREI A& EP7) with a bachelor degree in economics in July 1989.

Mr. Li Jiandong, aged 50, joined our Group in January 2016 and
is currently the deputy officer of logistics of Chongqging College
of Humanities, Science and Technology and has been primarily
responsible for the logistical support of our schools in Chongging.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Li served as the general manager of
Shandong Dongying Jinheng Furniture Co., Ltd.* (LR E & & 1EX
BB AF], acompany primarily engaged in export and trading
of furniture, between June 2010 to December 2015. From March
1999 to March 2010, Mr. Li was employed by Shandong Shenghui
Timber Co, Ltd.* (ILERBEEARFEABRAF]) and last occupied the
position of deputy general manager.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Wai Chiu is the company secretary of our Company
and was appointed on 1 March 2022. Mr. Wong is a fellow
of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (previously
known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries), a
fellow of the Chartered Governance Institute, a member of CPA
Australia, a member of the Hong Kong Trustee Association and
a Certified Trust Practitioner. Mr. Wong is an associate director
of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and his
major responsibility is assisting listed companies in professional
company secretarial work.

*

English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EREHRE

The Board is pleased to present the reports and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated on 13 December 2005 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the laws of the
Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on 22 March 2017 (the “Listing
Date”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in providing educational services
in the PRC. Details of the principal activities of the Group’s
subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2022 as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including an
analysis of the Group’s financial performance, an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business and the Group’s key
relationships with its stakeholders who have a significant impact
on the Group and on which the Group’s success depends, is set
out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 6 to
11 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 36.
These discussions form part of this annual report. Events affecting
the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial
year is set out in the section headed “Events after the Reporting
Period” on page 118 below in this report of the Directors.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital as required under the Listing
Rules as at the date of this annual report.
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RESULTS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 150 to 344.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Group believes that risk management is important to the
Group’s success. Key operational risks faced by the Group
include, among others, changes in general market conditions of
formal higher education, changes in the regulatory environment in
the PRC education industry, the ability of the Group to offer quality
education to students, the ability of the Group to increase student
enrollment and/or raise tuition rates, the potential expansion of the
Group into other regions in China, availability of financing to fund
the Group’s expansion and business operations and competition
from other school operators that offer similar quality of education
and have similar scale.

In addition, the Group also faces numerous market risks, such as
foreign currency risk and liquidity risks that arise in the normal
course of the Group’s business.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank loans with floating
interest rates. It is the Group’s policy to keep certain borrowings
at floating rates of interest so as to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk. The Group currently does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However,
the Directors will consider hedging significant interest rate risk
should the need arises.

Foreign Currency Risk

All of the Group’s turnover and majority of the Group’s operating
expenses are denominated in RMB, which is not a freely
convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes controls on
the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies and, in certain
cases, the remittance of currency out of Mainland China. Shortages
in the availability of foreign currencies may restrict the ability of
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to remit sufficient foreign currencies
to pay dividends or other amounts to the Group.
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Liquidity Risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of internally generated
cash flows from operations and other borrowings. The Group
regularly reviews its major funding positions to ensure that it has
adequate financial resources in meeting its financial obligations.

To properly manage these risks, the Group has established risk
management structures and measures. The details are set out
on pages 134 to 135 “Risk Management and Internal Control” of
corporate governance report.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last
five financial years are set out on page 5 “Financial Highlights”
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

The Group held equity investment at fair value through profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2022. Details are set
out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER LOANS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2022
are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTION RESERVE

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on pages 155 to 156, respectively. As at 31 December
2022, the aggregate amount of reserve available for distribution
to equity shareholders of the company was approximately
RMB779,631,000 (2021: RMB1,027,528,000).

DIVIDEND POLICY

1.

Subject to the Cayman Islands Companies Act and the
Articles of Association, the Board of Directors has absolute
discretion on whether to distribute dividends. In addition,
the Shareholders may by ordinary resolution approve the
declaration of dividends, but no dividend may be declared
in excess of the amount recommended by the Board. In
either case, a dividend may only be declared and paid
out of the profits and reserves of the Company lawfully
available for distribution (including share premium), and in
no circumstances may a dividend be paid if this would result
in the Company being unable to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. Even if the Board
decides to pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount
of dividends will depend on the Company’s future operations,
cash flows, general financial condition, capital adequacy
ratio, cash dividends received from the invested portfolio
ecosystem partners, future business prospectus, statutory
and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends and
other factors that the Board considers relevant.

Any future dividend payments to the Shareholders will also
depend upon the availability of dividends received from our
subsidiaries. PRC regulations may restrict the ability of our
PRC subsidiaries to pay dividends to the Company.

The Company does not have a fixed dividend payout ratio.
The Company currently intends to retain most, if not all, of
the available funds and any future earnings to operate and
expand the business.
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4. The dividend policy reflects the Board’s current views on the
Company'’s financial and cash flow position. It will continue
to be reviewed by the Board from time to time and there can
be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount, if at all, for any given period.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$4.29
cents per ordinary share (equivalent to RMB3.76 cents, according
to the central parity rate of Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars as
announced by the People’s Bank of China on 28 March 2023, i.e.
RMBO0.8758 equivalent to HKD1.00) (2021: HK$5.32 cents) by cash
to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)’) whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on
Friday, 28 July 2023. Subject to the approval of the Shareholders
at the forthcoming annual general meeting on Thursday, 15 June
2023, the date of payment of final dividend will be on Tuesday,
22 August 2023.

There is no arrangement that a shareholder has waived or agreed
to waive any dividend.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the laws of the
Cayman Islands or under the Company’s Articles of Association
that require the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, had purchased,
sold or redeemed any listed securities of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2022.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

No service provided to a single customer contributes 10% or more
of the total revenue of the Group during the Reporting Period.
Revenue from the Group’s five largest customers combined
was less than 30% of the total revenue of the Group during the
Reporting Period.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
17.9% of the total purchases in 2022 and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to 6.5% of the Group’s
total purchases for the Reporting Period.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or any of the
substantial Shareholders (which are disclosed to the Directors)
had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers
or suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group acknowledges the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet
its immediate and long-term goals. The Group maintains a good
relationship with employees, customers and suppliers. During
the Reporting Period, there were no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its employees, customers and/
or suppliers.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

Net proceeds from the Listing (including the over-allotment option
and after deducting underwriting fee and relevant expenses)
amounted to approximately HK$1,374.7 million. As at 31 December
2022, all of the net proceeds had been fully utilized by the
Group according to the allocation set out in the prospectus of
the Company dated 10 March 2017 (the “Prospectus”).
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PLACING

The net proceeds received by the Company from the subscription
completed on 4 June 2020 amounted to approximately HK$239
million which was intended to be applied for the Group’s general
daily working capital, general operating purpose and potential
merger and acquisition purposes. As at 31 December 2022, all
of the net proceeds have been fully utilised.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” above in this annual report, the Group did not
have any other material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2022 amounted to approximately RMB8,425,000
(2021: approximately RMB8,993,000).

LOAN AGREEMENTS WITH COVENANT RELATING TO
SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Loan from International Finance Corporation

On 29 April 2020, Chongging Minsheng Education Management
Co., Lid* (EEREAHE EEARAF]) (“Chongging Minsheng”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
International Finance Corporation, a member of World Bank Group
entered into a loan agreement and the relevant loan documents
(the “Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which International Finance
Corporation agreed to lend, and Chongging Minsheng agreed
to borrow, a loan in an aggregate principal amount of up to
RMB750 million (the “Loan”), the period of the Loan will be 8
years, the Loan shall be repayable in 11 semi-annual instalments
commencing from 15 June 2023. Proceeds from the Loan will be
used for, among others, business expansion and daily operation
of the Group.
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On 30 October 2020, Chongging Minsheng and International
Finance Corporation entered into the first amendment letter to the
Loan Agreement, pursuant to which the Loan would be adjusted
from RMB750,000,000 to RMB400,000,000. The full amount of
RMB400,000,000 has been disbursed in July 2020 (“Completed
Disbursement”). On the same date, Minsheng Education, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and International Finance
Corporation entered into an USD loan agreement (the “USD Loan
Agreement”), pursuant to which International Finance Corporation
agreed to lend, and Minsheng Education agreed to borrow, a
loan in an aggregate amount of up to 51,000,000 USD (the
“USD Loan”), the USD Loan being the Completed Disbursement
subtracted from the Loan, which is amounted to USD equivalent
of RMB350,000,000. The USD Loan shall be repaid in 11 semi-
annual instalments commencing from 15 June 2023 until 15 June
2028. The USD Loan will be used for, among other things, the
Group’s business development and daily operations.

Pursuant to a share retention agreement ancillary to the Loan
Agreement and the USD Loan Agreement, each of Mr. Li Xuechun,
the chairman of the Board, an executive director and the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, and Minsheng Group,
being controlling shareholders of the Company, is required to
perform certain specific performance obligations. Specifically, Mr.
Li Xuechun shall maintain directly not less than 51% of the legal
and beneficial ownership of the shares of Minsheng Group, and
Minsheng Group shall maintain directly not less than 51% of the
legal and beneficial ownership of the shares of the Company, for
so long as any indebtedness under the Loan or the USD Loan
remains outstanding.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFEWmE(H)

R2020F10A30H  EER A HEE £
BMAREETERBENE —MOIBFT K -
Bt B3 A R %750,000,0007T #
&= A R #400,000,0007T  #5 A R
400,000,0007T #) 3K I8 B 720204 7 A 52X
RIA(TEZRER]D - REH  REHE
B—RARRHNEZENBAR  BEEES
BMARR L TETHNERBZE(ETER
mE) Bt BEemRARREERK
RA#EREEBHEFERE A51,000,000
ETWER(TERER])  ZETLEFKMAE
EREFRBEETKIER  eEAARK
350,000,000 EEHIETT ° ETTE KRN
2023F6 A 150 FA1E £2028F6 H158 5 1
—H B¥FA—HEHEE ETERE
AR(EPBER)AEEEXBHRMAE FE

R IB & R Wh sk e 3 7T B AR 0 A P P B0 B £ R
B ARREFSEE  BTEFEK
RERBERFEFEERREEHG /AR
AINZERER - AAERERNEE  RE
REETERNEABEERBELRRE - F2
BREBRERAERFTARESHEANDNET1%
VEEREREA RS RRASHARR
HBEREARRRTLRE1%NAENERTE
B -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFEWmE(R)

A breach of any of the said specific performance obligations will
constitute an event of default under the Loan Agreement and USD
Loan Agreement whereupon, International Finance Corporation
will have the power to require the Borrower to repay all or part
of the Loan or USD Loan (as applicable).

For details of the above, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 3 May 2020 and 30 October 2020.

Loan from Bank of China Limited Macau Branch

On 4 December 2020, the Company (as borrower) and BOC
Macau (as lender and as agent) entered into a facility agreement
(the “BOC Facility Agreement”) and the relevant loan documents,
pursuant to which Bank of China Limited Macau Branch (“BOC
Macau”) agreed to provide the Company a term loan facility up
to US$44,800,000, the period of the loan will be 5 years from
the date of the BOC Facility Agreement. Proceeds from the loan
will be used for, among others, acquisition and general working
capital of the Group.

Pursuant to the BOC Facility Agreement, Mr. Li Xuechun, the
chairman of the Board, an executive director, being the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, is required to maintain
directly or indirectly not less than 51% of the issued share capital
of the Company.

If Mr. Li Xuechun no longer owns directly or indirectly no less than
51% of the issued share capital of the Company, the Company
shall promptly notify BOC Macau, BOC Macau shall not be obliged
to fund the utilization of the loan, and BOC Macau may, by
not less than 10 business days’ notice to the Company, cancel
its commitment whereupon the outstanding loan, together with
accrued interest, and all other amounts accrued will become
immediately due and payable.

For details of the above, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 4 December 2020.
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Loan from Minsheng Bank Hong Kong Branch

On 13 July 2021 (after trading hours), the Company (as borrower)
and Minsheng Bank Hong Kong Branch (as lender) entered into
a facility agreement (the “Minsheng Bank Facility Agreement”),
pursuant to which Minsheng Bank Hong Kong Branch agreed to
provide the Company a term loan facility of up to HK$500,000,000
or its equivalent in US$ or RMB. Subject to review by Minsheng
Bank Hong Kong Branch and other terms and conditions under
the Minsheng Bank Facility Agreement, the facility under the
Minsheng Bank Facility Agreement will be available for multiple
drawings within one year from the date of the Minsheng Bank
Facility Agreement. The term of the loan(s) shall not exceed three
years from its utilization date.

Pursuant to the Minsheng Bank Facility Agreement, Mr. Li
Xuechun, the chairman of the Board, an executive Director, being
the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, is required
to maintain directly or indirectly not less than 51% of the issued
share capital of the Company.

For details of the above, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 13 July 2021.

Loan from DEG

On 21 December 2021, Minsheng Education Company Limited
(“Minsheng Education”) (as borrower) and Deutsche Investitions
— Und Entwicklungsgesellschaft Mbh (“DEG”) (as lender), a
member of KW Bankengruppe in Germany, entered into the
loan agreement dated 21 December 2021, pursuant to which DEG
agreed to lend, and Minsheng Education agreed to borrow, a loan
in an aggregate principal amount up to USD28,240,000, the last
repayment date of the loan shall be 15 June 2028. The loan shall
be repayable in 11 semi-annual instalments commencing from
15 June 2023. Proceeds from the loan will be used for, among
others, business expansion and daily operation of the Group.
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Pursuant to a share retention agreement ancillary to the loan
agreement, each of Mr. Li Xuechun, the chairman of the Board, an
executive director and the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company, and Minsheng Group, being controlling shareholders of
the Company, is required to perform certain specific performance
obligations. Specifically, Mr. Li Xuechun shall maintain directly
not less than 51% of the legal and beneficial ownership of the
shares of Minsheng Group; and Minsheng Group shall maintain
directly not less than 51% of the legal and beneficial ownership
of the shares of the Company, for so long as any indebtedness
under the loan remains outstanding.

A breach of any of the said specific performance obligations will
constitute an event of default under the loan agreement, whereupon
DEG will have the power to require Minsheng Education to repay
all or part of the Loan.

For details of the above, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 21 December 2021.

As at the date of this report, Minsheng Group owns approximately
71.66% of the issued shares of the Company.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year of 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman of the Board)

Ms. Zhang Weiping (Vice-chairperson of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Zuo Yichen (President)

Mr. Lam Ngai Lung (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Kaihua (resigned on 21 December 2022)
Mr. Shen Jinzhou (appointed on 13 January 2023)
Ms. Li Yanping
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny
Mr. Yu Huangcheng
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received a confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the Board considers
such Directors to be independent in accordance with Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 37 to
43 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director had a material beneficial interest in,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the
year 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year of 2022, none of the Directors or substantial
Shareholders or their respective associates had engaged in any
business which competes or may compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group or has any conflict
of interests with the Group.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the controlling Shareholders has made an annual
declaration in respect of their compliance with the terms of non-
competition undertaking during the Reporting Period. Details of
the non-competition undertaking are set out in the section headed
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus.
The non-competition undertakings in respect of the controlling
Shareholders have become effective from the Listing Date.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS IN RELATION TO THE
YUECHENG OPERATING ENTITIES

A.

Background and overview

Chongging Yuecheng Zhiyuan Education Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Chongging Yuecheng”) currently holds 51% of school
sponsor’s interest of Chongqging Electronic Information
College, 100% equity interest of Chongqging Yiersheng
Education Technology Company Limited (“Chongqing
Yiersheng”) and 100% equity interest in Chongqing Yujingao
Education Technology Co. Ltd. (“Chongqing Yujingao”).

Pending completion of the relevant agreements:

(1) Chongging Yuecheng will hold 51% equity interest of
Qufu Changyong Corporate Management Consulting
Company Limited (“Qufu Changyong”), which in turn
will hold 51% school sponsor’s interest in Qufu Fareast
Vocational and Technical College;

(2) Chongging Yiersheng will hold 51% equity interest of
Nanchang Hezhitong Education Consulting Company
Limited (“Nanchang Hezhitong”), which in turn will hold
51% of school sponsor’s interest in Nanchang Vocational
University.

Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College is currently
managed by the Group pursuant to its entrustment
arrangement.

Chongging Electronic Information College, Chongging
Yiersheng, Chongging Yujingao and Qufu Fareast Vocational
and Technical College are collectively referred to as
the “Yuecheng Operating Entities” in this section. Qufu
Changyong, Nanchang Hezhitong and Nanchang Vocational
University will become part of the Yuecheng Operating
Entities upon completion of the relevant agreements.
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We currently hold our interest in the Yuecheng Operating
Entities in the PRC through a series of contracts (the
“Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements”) as PRC laws and
regulations generally restrict foreign ownership in the private
education industry in the PRC. PRC laws and regulations
currently restrict the operation of higher education institutions
to Sino-foreign cooperation ownership, in addition to imposing
qualification requirements on the foreign owners. We do not
hold any equity interest in our Yuecheng Operating Entities.
The Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements, through which we
obtain control over and derive the economic benefits from
the Yuecheng Operating Entities, have been narrowly tailored
to achieve our business purpose and minimize the potential
conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations
as set out above while availing ourselves of international
capital markets and maintaining effective control over
all of our operations, on 27 September 2017, our wholly-
owned subsidiary, Chongging Ruibo Mincheng Education
Technology Co. Ltd. (“Chongqging Ruibo”) entered into
various agreements that constitute the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements with, among others, Chongging Yuecheng,
under which all economic benefits arising from the business
of the Yuecheng Operating Entities and Chongging Yuecheng
are transferred to Chongging Ruibo to the extent permitted
under the PRC laws and regulations by means of service
fees payable by Chongqging Yuecheng to Chongqging Ruibo.
Although the registered shareholders are not consolidated
as part of our Group, they are parties to certain agreements
which constitute the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements to
ensure that the shareholders’ rights of Chongging Yuecheng
are actually controlled by Chongging Ruibo.
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The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of LATF fS B 55 BR HR A i & A0 R BEAR TE 1A
economic benefits from the Yuecheng Operating Entities L ETREEANEENLEMNZER
to the Group stipulated under the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements:

Power of Attorney IIA
REZTEIA

Mr. Li Xuechun Mr. Cao Yong

FEERE EBLALE

The Company 5 5
AAE 5% 95%

Chongging
Yugangao
EEAER Power of Attorney IA
100%

REZTEIA

Provision of services
under the Exclusive

Business Cooperation 100%
Agreement A
ﬂif%% %%j%éf’ﬁ
J— AR ARTS \ -
Ruibo 4 Yuecheng
EEEN 4 BB
Service fee
RS E

Yuecheng Operating
Entities

w Minsheng Education Group Company Limited REZE £FHHR A A



Based on the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements and the
legal opinion of the Legal advisor to the Company as to
the laws of the PRC, Global Law Office (the “PRC Legal
Advisor”), the consolidated financial results of the Yuecheng
Operating Entities, which engage in higher education service,
are consolidated to those of our Group.

Summary of the Material Terms of the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements

The major provisions of the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements are summarized as follows:

(1) Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement A

Pursuant to the exclusive business cooperation
agreement entered into between Chongging Ruibo
and Chongqing Yuecheng (the “Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement A”), Chongqing Ruibo agreed
to provide exclusive technical services to Chongging
Yuecheng, including but not limited to, technical services,
network support, business consulting, market consulting,
system maintenance and other services necessary for
the business of or as required by Chongging Yuecheng
and allowed under the PRC law. Under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement A, Chongaging Ruibo
is entitled to charge Chongqging Yuecheng each financial
year for a service fee equals to all the amount of its net
profit (after deducting all costs, expenses, taxes, losses
from the previous year (if required by the law) and the
statutory provident fund as required by law) for the
corresponding period. Chongging Ruibo has the right
(but not the obligation) to adjust the amount of such
service fee by reference to, among others, the actual
services provided and the actual business operations
and needs of Chongging Yuecheng, provided that any
adjusted amount shall not cause any difficulties for the
operation of both of Chongging Ruibo and Chongaging
Yuecheng.
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(2) Equity Pledge Agreements A (2) REZFHEA

Pursuant to the equity pledge agreement entered into
by and among Chongging Ruibo, Chongging Yugangao
Enterprise Management Consultant Company Limited
(“Chongqing Yugangao”) and Chongging Yuecheng
(the “Equity Pledge Agreement IA”), Chongqing
Yugangao agreed to pledge and grant the first priority
security interests over the entire equity interest of
Chongging Yuecheng owned by Chongging Yugangao
together with all related rights thereto to Chongging
Ruibo as security for performance of the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements and all direct, indirect,
consequential damages and foreseeable loss of interest
incurred by Chonggqing Ruibo as a result of enforcement
of the obligations of Chongqging Yugangao and
Chongging Yuecheng under the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements until all such obligations are discharged
to the satisfaction of Chongging Ruibo.

In addition, pursuant to the equity pledge agreement
entered into by and among Chongging Ruibo, Chongging
Yugangao, Mr. Li Xuechun (“Mr. Li”) and Mr. Cao Yong
(“Mr. Cao”) (the “Equity Pledge AgreementllA”, together
with the Equity Pledge Agreement IA, the “Equity Pledge
Agreements A”), Mr. Li and Mr. Cao agreed to pledge
and grant the first priority security interests over the
100% equity interest of Chongging Yugangao owned
by Mr. Li and Mr. Cao in aggregate together with all
related rights thereto to Chongqing Ruibo as security for
performance of the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements
and all direct, indirect, consequential damages and
foreseeable loss of interest incurred by Chongging Ruibo
as a result of enforcement of the obligations of Mr. Li,
Mr. Cao and Chongging Yugangao under the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements until all such obligations are
discharged to the satisfaction of Chongging Ruibo.
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(3) Exclusive Call Option Agreements A

Pursuant to the exclusive call option agreement entered
into by and among Chongaging Ruibo, Chongging
Yugangao and Chongaging Yuecheng (the “Exclusive
Call Option Agreement IA”), Chongqging Yugangao
has irrevocably and unconditionally granted Chongaing
Ruibo the right to, as and when permitted by the
applicable PRC laws and regulations during the term of
the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements, acquire all or
part of the 100% equity interest of Chongging Yuecheng
held by Chongaing Yugangao at a consideration which
is the lower of the registered capital contribution by
Chongging Yugangao to Chongging Yuecheng and
nominal consideration, or otherwise at the lowest
price permitted by the then applicable PRC laws and
regulations.

In addition, pursuant to the exclusive call option
agreement entered into by and among Chongging
Ruibo, Chongging Yugangao, Mr. Li and Mr. Cao (the
“Exclusive Call Option Agreement lIA”, together with
Exclusive Call Option Agreement IA, the “Exclusive
Call Option Agreements A”), Mr. Li and Mr. Cao have
irrevocably and unconditionally granted Chongging
Ruibo the right to, as and when permitted by the
applicable PRC laws and regulations during the term of
the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements, acquire all or
part of the 100% equity interest of Chongging Yugangao
together held by Mr. Li and Mr. Cao for the lower of the
registered capital contribution by Mr. Li and Mr. Cao
to Chongqging Yugangao and nominal consideration,
or otherwise at the lowest price permitted by the then
applicable PRC laws and regulations. In addition,
pursuant to the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IIA,
Mr. Li and Mr. Cao have irrevocably undertaken that,
subject to the PRC laws and regulations, they will return
to the Company any consideration they receive in the
event that the Company acquires the equity interest in
Chongging Yuecheng when terminating the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements.
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(4) Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreements A (4) RRRREZTHBEARREET

and Power of Attorneys A

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IA and
Power of Attorney IA

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment
agreement executed by and among Chongging Ruibo,
Chongaing Yugangao and Chongging Yuecheng (the
“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IA”),
Chongging Yugangao executed a power of attorney in
favour of Chongqing Ruibo (the “Power of Attorney IA”)
pursuant to which Chongging Yugangao has irrevocably
and unconditionally authorized Chongging Ruibo to,
among other things:

(i) act as the agent of Chongging Yugangao and to
make decisions which Chongging Yugangao is
entitled to make as the shareholder of Chongaging
Yuecheng on behalf of Chongging Yugangao;

(i) exercise all its rights of shareholder and voting
rights in Chongging Yuecheng as granted by
the PRC law and the articles and associations of
Chongging Yuecheng, including but not limited to
selling, transferring, pledging or otherwise dealing
in all or any of the equity interests in Chongqging
Yuecheng; and

(iii) serve as the legal representative, chairman,
executive director or manager of Chongging
Yuecheng in accordance with its articles and
associations, or nominate, appoint or change
the legal representative, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager or
other management level personnel of Chongqging
Yuecheng.

Chongging Ruibo is entitled to authorize any person or
entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of
such directors to exercise the rights which Chongaging
Ruibo is authorized to exercise under the Power of
Attorney IA.
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In addition,

pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights

Entrustment Agreement |A, Chongging Yugangao
guarantees and undertakes that:

(i)

(ii)

in the event it receives any asset (including the
equity interest of Chongging Yuecheng) in relation to
the liquidation, winding-up, dismissal or termination
of Chongging Yuecheng, Chongging Yugangao
agrees to transfer at nil consideration or at the
lowest consideration as permitted by the then
applicable laws and regulations to Chongaging Ruibo
such asset; and

without prior approval of Chongqing Ruibo, it will
neither, directly or indirectly, participate or engage
in any business which is or may be in competition
with the business of Chongging Yuecheng or its
associated companies, or be engaged by any
entity which is or may be in competition with the
business of Chongqging Yuecheng or its associated
companies, or hold any assets of such entity or hold
more than 5% interest in such entity.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement |A, any successor to Chongging
Yugangao shall hold the respective equity interest
in Chongging Yuecheng subject to conditions,
requirements and obligations under the Shareholders’
Rights Entrustment Agreement IA.
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Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IIA and
Power of Attorney IIA

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment
agreement executed by and among Chongging
Ruibo, Mr. Li, Mr. Cao and Chongging Yugangao (the
“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IIA”,
together with the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IA, the “Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreements A”), Mr. Li and Mr. Cao executed a power
of attorney in favour of Chongqging Ruibo (the “Power of
Attorney IIA”, together with the Power of Attorney A, the
“Power of Attorneys A”) pursuant to which Mr. Li and
Mr. Cao have irrevocably and unconditionally authorized
Chongging Ruibo to, among other things:

(i) act as the agent of Mr. Li and Mr. Cao to convene
and attend shareholder meetings of Chongqging
Yugangao in accordance with its articles and
associations;

(i) exercise all their rights of shareholders and voting
rights in Chongging Yugangao as granted by the
PRC law and its articles and associations, including
but not limited to selling, transferring, pledging or
otherwise dealing in all or any of the equity interests
in Chongaing Yugangao; and

(iii) serve as the legal representative, chairman,
executive director or manager of Chongging
Yugangao in accordance with its articles and
associations, or nominate, appoint or change
the legal representative, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager or
other management level personnel of Chongging
Yugangao.

Chongging Ruibo is entitled to authorize any person or
entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of
such Directors to exercise the rights which Chongaging
Ruibo is authorized to exercise under the Power of
Attorney IlA.
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In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement IlA, each of Mr. Li and Mr. Cao
guarantees and undertakes that:

(i) in the event he receives any asset (including the
equity interest of Chongging Yugangao) in relation to
the liquidation, winding-up, dismissal or termination
of Chongqing Yugangao, he agrees to transfer at
nil consideration or at the lowest consideration
as permitted by the then applicable laws and
regulations to Chongging Ruibo such asset; and

(i) without prior approval of Chongging Ruibo, he will
neither, directly or indirectly, participate or engage
in any business which is or may be in competition
with the business of Chongging Yugangao or its
associated companies, or be engaged by any
entity which is or may be in competition with the
business of Chongqging Yugangao or its associated
companies, or hold any assets of such entity or hold
more than 5% interest in such entity.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement A, in the event of Mr. Li's or Mr. Cao’s death,
loss of capacity, marriage, divorce or bankruptcy or other
similar events affecting Mr. Li or Mr. Cao in exercising
their respective shareholders’ rights of Chongqging
Yugangao, any successor to Mr. Li or Mr. Cao shall hold
the respective equity interest in Chongqging Yugangao
subject to conditions, requirements and obligations
under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
[A.
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(5) Spouse Undertakings A

Pursuant to the spouse undertakings

Undertakings A”) executed by Ms. Shi, the spouse of
Mr. Cao, Ms. Shi has irrevocably undertaken that:

(a) she has full knowledge of and has consented to
the entering into of the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements to which Mr. Cao is a party, and
in particular, the equity interest in Chongging
Yugangao owned by Mr. Cao is not part of the
common assets of Mr. Cao and herself, she is
not entitled to any rights attached to such equity
interests of Mr. Cao in Chongging Yugangao
(including the rights arising from the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements), she shall not engage
in any activities interfering the performance of the
Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements (including
but not limited to claiming her entitlement to the
equity interest of Chongqging Yugangao owned by
Mr. Cao and any rights arising from the Yuecheng

Contractual Arrangements).

(b) she has not, is not and shall not in the future
participate in the operation and management in
relation to Chongging Yugangao and claim any
interest in relation to the equity interest and assets

of Chongqging Yugangao.

(c) in the event she receives all or part of the equity
interest of Chongaging Yugangao for any reason, she
agrees to be a party to the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements and be bound by the relevant
restrictions as set out in the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements and perform any act and execute all
necessary documents in order to give effect to such

restrictions.
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Authorization to obtain assets of Chongqing Yuecheng

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IA and the Power of Attorney IA, Chongging
Ruibo has been authorized to exercise all rights
of Chongqging Yugangao as the sole shareholder of
Chongging Yuecheng under applicable laws and
the articles of association of Chongging Yuecheng,
including but not limited to the right to dividends and
right to deal with the assets of Chongging Yuecheng.
It is also the guarantee and undertaking that, in the
Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IA, in the
event it receives any asset (including the equity interest
of Chongging Yuecheng) in relation to the liquidation,
winding-up, dismissal or termination of Chongging
Yuecheng, Chongging Yugangao agrees to transfer
at nil consideration or at the lowest consideration as
permitted by the then applicable laws and regulations
to Chongging Ruibo such asset.

Dispute resolution

Pursuant to the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements,
any dispute arising from the validity, interpretation and
performance of the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements
between the parties thereto should first be resolved
through negotiation. If the parties are unable to settle
the dispute within 30 days, any party may submit the
said dispute to the Chongging Arbitration Commission
with a view to resolving the dispute through arbitration
in accordance with the arbitration rules thereof. The
results of the arbitration shall be final and binding on
all relevant parties. The arbitral commission shall have
the right to award remedies over the equity interest
and property interest and other assets of Chongging
Yuecheng, injunctive relief (for the conduct of business
or to compel the transfer of assets) or order the winding
up of Chongging Yuecheng (the “Arbitral Award
Provisions”).
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The Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements also provide
that pending formation of the arbitral tribunal or
in appropriate cases, the courts of Hong Kong, the
Company'’s place of incorporation (the Cayman Islands),
Chongqing Yuecheng’s place of establishment (the PRC),
the jurisdiction where the principal assets of Chongging
Ruibo and Chongqging Yuecheng are located (the PRC)
have the power to grant interim remedies in support of
the arbitration (the “Interim Remedies Provisions”).

However, as advised by the PRC Legal Advisor
according to the PRC laws and regulations, the arbitral
tribunal normally would not grant such kind of remedies
or injunctive relief or winding up order of such PRC
operational entities as Chongging Yuecheng under the
PRC laws and regulations. For instance, the arbitral
commission has no authority to grant such injunctive
relief, nor will it be able to order the winding up of
the PRC operational entities pursuant to existing PRC
laws and regulations. In addition, interim remedies or
enforcement order granted by overseas courts such as
Hong Kong and Cayman Islands may not be recognizable
or enforceable in China.

C. Business Activities of the Yuecheng Operating Entities

Chongging Yuecheng is a company established under
the laws of the PRC with limited liability and is principally
engaged in higher education management consulting service.
Chongging Electronic Information College is a full-time
ordinary higher education institution located in Chongaing
city, the PRC, providing higher vocational (junior college)
education. Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College
is a full-time ordinary higher education institution located in
Qufu city, Shandong Province, the PRC, providing higher
vocational (junior college) education.
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D. Significance and financial contributions of the
Yuecheng Operating Entities to the Group

Pursuant to the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements, the
Group obtains control over and derives the economic benefits
from the Yuecheng Operating Entities. The table below sets
out the financial contribution of the Yuecheng Operating
Entities to the Group:
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Revenue

W 22

For the year ended
31 December 2022

B £2022F12A31H
HFEE

Significances and financial
contribution to the Group
HASENEZU LRI KER

3.9%

E. Revenue and assets involved in Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements

For the year ended
31 December 2022
B E2022F12831H

Net Profit Total Assets
R mEE

As of

31 December 2022

IHEE #ZF2022F12H31H

4.3% 8.8%

E. BHEHNLHTS Wik R EE

Revenue Assets
Wz EE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET ARET T
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For the year ended
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B £2022512A831H
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Yuecheng Operating Entities 91,422
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Reasons for use of the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangement

Higher Education

According to the PRC laws and regulations, the business of
the Yuecheng Operating Entities is a restricted business to
foreign investors at present.

The Yuecheng Operating Entities engages in higher
education in the PRC. At present, according to the Special
Administrative Measures for Access of Foreign Investment
(Negative List) (2021) ( (HNEIREEARRIEREK (AEE
%) ) (20214hR)) (the “Negative List’), higher education is
a restricted business for foreign investors and limited to Sino-
foreign cooperative operations led by Chinese nationals.
The Company is an overseas company registered outside
the PRC, which is a foreign investor; and accordingly, if the
equity interest in Chongging Yuecheng were owned by the
Company, it would be regarded as a foreign investor as well.

Furthermore, pursuant to the Implementation Opinions on
Encouraging and Guiding Private Fund’s Entry into the
Education Sector and Promoting Healthy Development of
Private Education* ( (EREEMSIBREREECEAHKS
AEHRERNYUEREZERNEREER) ) promulgated by
the Ministry of Education of the PRC on 18 June 2012 the
foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino-foreign joint
venture private school should be below 50% (the “Foreign
Ownership Restriction”).

As advised by the PRC Legal Advisor, pursuant to Regulations
on Sino-foreign Cooperation of Educational Institutions*
( (RANAVESEES]) ) and its implementing measures (the
“Implementing Measures”), the foreign investor of a Sino-
foreign cooperative educational institution shall be a foreign
educational institution with relevant qualification and the
quality of education services provided by it is relatively high
(the “Qualification Requirement”). There are no specific
criteria or guidance on the Qualification Requirement under
the current PRC laws and regulations.

*

English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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As further advised by the PRC Legal Advisor, the principal
business of the Yuecheng Operating Entities falls within the
aforesaid industry, and the Company, as a foreign investor
investing in the business of operating higher education in the
PRC, the PRC Legal Advisor is of the view that (i) there are
no specific requirements in the Implementing Measures or
specific criteria or guidance under the current PRC laws and
regulations as to how Chongging Yuecheng can be regarded
as an educational institution; and (ii) if Chongging Yuecheng
were a subsidiary of the Group, it would not be qualified to act
as a foreign investor in a Sino-foreign cooperative educational
institution, until the relevant specific implementation measures
and/or guidance have been promulgated to enable the Group
to attain such qualification.

Based on the above and as confirmed by the PRC Legal
Advisor, in order to achieve the business purpose of the
Company, the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements, through
which the Group will be able to exercise full control over
Chongging Yuecheng and consolidate the financial results of
Chongging Yuecheng into the accounts of the Group, have
been utilized to minimize the potential conflict with relevant
PRC laws and regulations.
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Risks associated with the arrangements and the actions
taken to mitigate the risks

Risks

As the primary beneficiary of Chongqging Yuecheng, the
Group is exposed to the business risks and financial risks
faced by Chongqging Yuecheng.

There is no assurance that Chongqing Yuecheng will
generate any profit which can be paid to the Group through
the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements

There is no assurance that Chongging Yuecheng will
generate any profit which can be paid to the Group through
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement A and the
Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IA. Any profit or
loss of Chongging Yuecheng (net of intra-group transactions)
will be reflected in the consolidated financial statement of
the Group.

A substantial amount of costs and time may be involved in
transferring the ownership of Chongqging Yuecheng to the
Group under the Exclusive Call Option Agreements A

The exercise of the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IA is
subject to applicable laws and regulations of the PRC. There
is no assurance that the acquisition of the equity interest in
Chongging Yuecheng held by Chongging Yugangao under
the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IA will be permitted in
the future, or whether such acquisition will incur any costs
and expenses to the Group in addition to the consideration
stipulated under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IA.
Due to these limitations, the transfer of equity interest in
Chongging Yuecheng pursuant to the exercise of the call
option under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IA may
still be subject to substantial costs.

There is no assurance that the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements could comply with future changes in the
regulatory requirements in the PRC and the PRC government
may determine that the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements
do not comply with applicable regulations.
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At the time when the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements
were entered into, the PRC Legal Advisor advised that
the execution, delivery and performance of the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements by each of the parties thereto,
were in compliance with (i) the provisions under the articles of
association of such party and (ii) any applicable PRC laws and
regulations. However, the interpretation and implementation
of the laws and regulations concerning the foreign investment
in the PRC, and their application to and effect on the legality,
binding effect and enforceability of contracts, are subject to
the discretion of competent PRC legislative, administrative
and judicial authorities. In particular, there is no assurance
that PRC legislative, administrative or judicial authorities will
not adopt a different or contrary interpretation or view against
view of the Company and its legal advisor in respect of the
legality, binding effect and enforceability of the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements, and may determine that the
contracts do not comply with applicable regulations.

The Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct ownership in providing control over
Chongqing Yuecheng

Further, the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements may not
provide control over Chongging Yugangao and Chongging
Yuecheng as effective as direct ownership; Mr. Li, Mr. Cao
and Chongging Yugangao may have potential conflicts of
interest with the Company; and the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny of the tax authorities
and additional tax may be imposed on the Group.

Insurance

We believe that there are limited business insurance products
available in the market, and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, no insurance products specifically designed for
protecting the risks relating to the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements are available in the PRC market. Further, it is
not compulsory for Chongging Yugangao and Chongging
Yuecheng to maintain an insurance policy to cover risks
relating to the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements under the
applicable PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly, the Group
has not purchased any insurance to cover the above risks.
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Internal control

In order to mitigate the risks associated with the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements, the Company has put in place
effective internal controls over Chongqging Ruibo, Chongging
Yugangao, Chongging Yuecheng and the Yuecheng
Operating Entities to safeguard its assets held through the
Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements. As a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, Chongging Ruibo is subject to
all the internal control process and procedures applicable
to the Group.

The operations of Chongging Yugangao and Chongging
Yuecheng are exclusively controlled by Chongqging Ruibo
through the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements and
the Group has applied its internal control processes and
procedures to Chongging Yugangao and Chongging
Yuecheng. In particular, pursuant to the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements, (i) Chongging Ruibo has the right to nominate,
appoint or terminate, the legal representatives, chairman,
directors, supervisors, chief executive officer, manager and
other senior management members of Chongging Yugangao
and Chongqing Yuecheng; and (ii) without the prior consent
of Chongging Ruibo, Chongging Yugangao and Chongging
Yuecheng is not allowed to dispose of any of their respective
assets with a value of RMB1,000,000 or more.

Material changes

As of the date of this annual report, there were no material
changes in the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements and/or
the circumstances under which the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements were adopted.
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I.  Unwinding of the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been
any unwinding of any Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements,
nor has there been any failure to unwind any Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that led to
the adoption of the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements are
removed. In the event that the PRC regulatory environment
changes and all of the Qualification Requirement, the Foreign
Ownership Restriction and the Foreign Control Restriction
are removed (and assuming there are no other changes in
the relevant PRC laws and regulations), Chongging Ruibo
will exercise the relevant call option in full to unwind the
contractual arrangements so that the Company will be able
to directly operate the schools without using the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements.

For details of the above Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 27
September 2017.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS IN RELATION TO THE
JIERUI OPERATING ENTITIES

The Jierui Contractual Arrangements

On 2 May 2018, Chongging Mengzhuo, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a set of agreements with
Shiji Kuangao (Beijing) Investment Management Co., Ltd* (42
B (dbR) REEEAR2AR) (“Shiji Kuangao”), Chongging
Jierui Education Technology Co., Ltd* (EBHEEHERIBAER A
7)) (“Jierui”) and its shareholders, Mr. Li and Mr. Li Jiandong
(“Mr. Li JD”), namely, the (a) Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement B, (b) Equity Pledge Agreements B, (c) Exclusive
Call Option Agreements B, (d) Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreements B; and (e) Power of Attorneys B, and (f) Spouse
Undertakings B, (as defined below) (collectively, the “Jierui
Contractual Arrangements”).
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Jierui is currently holding:

(a)

100% equity interest in Shiji Kuangao, which in turn holds
51% equity interest in Beijing Xiaoai Intelligent Technology
Company Limited* (JtR/NEZRERZERAR]) (“Xiaoai
Technology”);

100% equity interest in Minsheng Education High School
Company Limited* (#EREHESHRFTEHRAR]), also
known as Laoling Minsheng Education High School* (4
ERAHE SATE) (“Laoling Minsheng Education High
School”);

100% equity interest in Chongging Fanyun Education
Technology Company Limited* (EELBEHEREER
A\]) (“Chongqing Fanyun”), which in turn holds 51%
equity interest in Guangdong Minsheng Online Education
Technology Company Limited* (ERRAEEZRHBERFEAER
A A]) (“Minsheng Online”);

100% equity interest in Beijing Yierxue Education Technology
Company Limited* (3t RS MBHEREBERAF) (“Beijing
Yierxue”), which in turn holds 100% of UMOOC Online
Education Technology (Beijing) Limited Company* ({85}
ESHERR (b)) AREMERAR) ("UMOOC”); and

100% equity interest in Beijing Minsheng Zhicai Education
Technology Company Limited* (It RERE A HERBARA
A]) (“Minsheng Zhicai”), which in turn holds 60% of Doxue
Network Technology (Beijing) Company Limited* (EPE2434%
Bl (b)) AFR2AA]) (‘“Doxue Network”).

Shiji Kuangao, Xiaoai Technology, Laoling Minsheng Education
High School, Chongqging Fanyun, Minsheng Online and its
subsidiaries, Beijing Yierxue, UMOOC, Minsheng Zhicai, and
Doxue Network and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to
as “Jierui Operating Entities” in this section.

*

English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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Pursuant to the Jierui Contractual Arrangements:

(M)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the Group is able to exercise control over Jierui and the Jierui
Operating Entities;

the Group has the right to govern the management of Jierui
and the Jierui Operating Entities;

the Group has the right to deal with the assets of Jierui and
the Jierui Operating Entities;

the Group has the right to acquire the entire equity interest
of Jierui and Shiji Kuangao (as and when the PRC relevant
rules and regulations allow it to do so); and

the Company is able to consolidate the financial results
of Jierui and the Jierui Operating Entities into the Group’s
results.
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The following diagram illustrates the relationship among the TEERTAAGHEFZE  HELET
Company, Chongaing Mengzhuo, the Jierui Operating Entities, 2 « &5 AR RERE 7 FHEIE -
Jierui and its shareholders:

Power of Attorney IIB
REZFTEIB
Mr. Li Xuechun

Mr. Li Jiandong

FEREE

FEERE

The Company ,57% T%l

¥N/NE

100%

Provision of
services under
the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement B
RIBBREFEE
hEBIR AR

Chongging \
Mengzhuo! 7
Epgs’ 4 Power of Attorney IB
Service fee BEETZIB
RS &
Jierui Operating
Entities
Note: Mz -
(1) Chongaing Mengzhuo is indirectly wholly-owned by the Company. (1) EERZShAQRMERZEHES -
Reasons for use of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements (EAREES T EF

According to the PRC laws and regulations, the business of BB EEER @ BRI BT LMY
the Jierui Operating Entities is a restricted business to foreign &2 INFRIHE LR B ER o
investors at present.
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Laoling Minsheng Education High School is a full-time high school
located in Laoling, Shandong Province, the PRC.

At present, pursuant to the Special Administrative Measures for
Access of Foreign Investment (Negative List) (2021) ( {9 & &
ANERIEBEM(BEBE)) (20214FhR), high school education is a
restricted business for foreign investors and limited to Sino-foreign
cooperative operations led by Chinese nationals. The Company
is an overseas company registered outside the PRC, which is
a foreign investor; and accordingly, if the equity interest in Shiji
Kuangao was owned by the Company, it would be regarded as
a foreign investor as well.

Furthermore, pursuant to the Implementation Opinions, the foreign
portion of the total investment in a Sino-foreign joint venture private
school is subject to the Foreign Ownership Restriction.

As advised by the PRC Legal Advisor, pursuant to Implementing
Measures, the foreign investor of a Sino-foreign cooperative
educational institution is subject to the Qualification Requirement.
There is no specific criteria or guidance on the Qualification
Requirement under the current PRC laws and regulations.

The businesses operated by Doxue Network, Minsheng Online
and its subsidiaries, UMOOC and Xiaoai Technology require
a value- added telecommunications business license. Each of
Doxue Network, Minsheng Online, UMOQOC and Xiaoai Technology
holds a value-added telecommunications business license.

According to the “Special Administrative Measures for Foreign
Investment Access (Negative List) (2021 Edition)”, the proportion
of foreign shares in value-added telecommunications services
shall not exceed 50% (except for e-commerce, domestic multi-
party communications, store and forward, and call centers).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFEWmE(R)

As confirmed by the PRC Legal Advisor, in order to achieve
the business purpose of the Company, the Jierui Contractual
Arrangements, through which the Group will be able to exercise
full control over Jierui and consolidate the financial results of Jierui
into the accounts of the Group, have been utilized to minimize the
potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.

Termination of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements

The Directors confirm that the Company will monitor the
development of the relevant PRC laws and regulations on the
Foreign Ownership Restriction and the Qualification Requirement
and other relevant restrictions on foreign investors and work closely
with Jierui to take all reasonable steps to comply with the other
requirements or terminate the Jierui Contractual Arrangements
to the extent possible and practicable under the relevant PRC
laws and regulations.

In addition to monitoring the development of the relevant PRC laws
and regulations on the Qualification Requirement, the Company is
also minded to further develop its capabilities to provide higher
education services overseas in order to be prepared to satisfy
the Qualification Requirement when the relevant specific criteria
and guidance become available. The Group owns approximately
22.9% equity interest in Beacon International College PTE LTD.
in Singapore and is one of two members of Hong Kong Nang
Yan College of Higher Education Limited in Hong Kong. The
Group currently participates in the management of these two
schools mainly through its representatives who are appointed
as directors or governors of each school. As these schools are
overseas schools of higher education, which are in line with the
principles set out in the Regulations on Sino-foreign Cooperation
of Educational Institutions and the Implementation Measures
in relation to the status of a foreign investor in a Sino-foreign
cooperative educational institution, the Directors believe such
investment and involvement in overseas educational institutions
will be conducive to the Group’s satisfaction of the Qualification
Requirement when the relevant laws, regulation, procedures and/
or guidance are promulgated.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFEWmE(H)

Details of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements RESH TS

The major provisions of the contracts in the Jierui Contractual #&E&LILTHRE LR T BIECEE T -
Arrangements are summarized as follows:

(1) Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement B (1) BRXBEEHEB

Pursuant to the exclusive business cooperation agreement
entered into between Chongging Mengzhuo and Jierui
(the “Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement B”),
Chongging Mengzhuo agreed to provide exclusive technical
services to Jierui, including but not limited to, technical
services, network support, business consulting, market
consulting, system maintenance and other services necessary
for the business of or as required by Jierui and allowed under
the PRC law.

Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement B,
Chongging Mengzhuo is entitled to charge Jierui each
financial year for a service fee equals to all the amount of
its net profit (after deducting all costs, expenses, taxes,
losses from the previous year (if required by the law) and
the statutory provident fund as required by law) for the
corresponding period. Chongging Mengzhuo has the right
(but not the obligation) to adjust the amount of such service
fee by reference to, among others, the actual services
provided and the actual business operations and needs of
Jierui, provided that any adjusted amount shall not cause any
difficulties for the operations of both of Chongging Mengzhuo
and Jierui.

REEESZ S HERNRRIHBRE
Hatrihz(BREBSEWHEB]) -
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
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(2) Equity Pledge Agreements B (2) REZFHZEB

Pursuant to the equity pledge agreement entered into by and
among Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui and Shiji Kuangao (the
“Equity Pledge Agreement IB”), Jierui agreed to pledge and
grant the first priority security interests over the entire equity
interest of Shiji Kuangao owned by Jierui together with all
related rights thereto to Chongging Mengzhuo as security
for performance the Jierui Contractual Arrangements and all
direct, indirect, consequential damages and foreseeable loss
of interest incurred by Chongging Mengzhuo as a result of
enforcement of the obligations of Jierui and Shiji Kuangao
under the Jierui Contractual Arrangements until all such
obligations are discharged to the satisfaction of Chongging
Mengzhuo or as required by PRC laws and regulations.

In addition, pursuant to the equity pledge agreement
entered into by and among Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui,
Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD (the “Equity Pledge Agreement IIB”,
together with the Equity Pledge Agreement IB, the “Equity
Pledge Agreements B”), Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD agreed to
pledge and grant the first priority security interests over
the 100% equity interest of Jierui owned by Mr. Li and Mr.
Li JD in aggregate together with all related rights thereto
to Chongqging Mengzhuo as security for performance the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements and all direct, indirect,
consequential damages and foreseeable loss of interest
incurred by Chongging Mengzhuo as a result of enforcement
of the obligations of Mr. Li, Mr. Li JD and Jierui under the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements until all such obligations
are discharged to the satisfaction of Chongging Mengzhuo
or as required by PRC laws and regulations.
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(3) Exclusive Call Option Agreements B

Pursuant to the exclusive call option agreement entered
into by and among Chongqging Mengzhuo, Jierui and Shiji
Kuangao (the “Exclusive Call Option Agreement IB”), Jierui
has irrevocably and unconditionally granted Chongging
Mengzhuo the right to, as and when permitted by the
applicable PRC laws and regulations during the term of
the Jierui Contractual Arrangements, acquire all or part of
the 100% equity interest of Shiji Kuangao held by Jierui
at a consideration which is the lower of the registered
capital contribution by Jierui to Shiji Kuangao and nominal
consideration, or otherwise at the lowest price permitted by
the then applicable PRC laws and regulations. In addition,
pursuant to the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IB, Jierui
has irrevocably undertaken that, subject to the PRC laws and
regulations, they will return to the Company any consideration
they receive in the event that the Company acquires the
equity interest in Shiji Kuangao when unwinding the Jierui
Contractual Arrangements.

In addition, pursuant to the exclusive call option agreement
entered into by and among Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui,
Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD (the “Exclusive Call Option Agreement
IIB”, together with Exclusive Call Option Agreement IB,
the “Exclusive Call Option Agreements B”), Mr. Li and
Mr. Li JD have irrevocably and unconditionally granted
Chongging Mengzhuo the right to, as and when permitted
by the applicable PRC laws and regulations during the
term of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements, acquire all or
part of the 100% equity interest of Jierui together held by
Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD for the lower of the registered capital
contribution by Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD to Jierui and nominal
consideration, or otherwise at the lowest price permitted by
the then applicable PRC laws and regulations. In addition,
pursuant to the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IIB, Mr. Li
and Mr. Li JD have irrevocably undertaken that, subject to
the PRC laws and regulations, they will return to the Company
any consideration they receive in the event that the Company
acquires the equity interest in Jierui when terminating the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements.
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(4) Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreements B and

Power of Attorneys B

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IB and Power
of Attorney IB

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement
executed by and among Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui and
Shiji Kuangao (the “Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IB”), Jierui executed a power of attorney in
favour of Chongging Mengzhuo (the “Power of Attorney IB”)
pursuant to which Jierui has irrevocably and unconditionally
authorized Chongging Mengzhuo to, among other things:

(i) act as the agent of Jierui and to make decisions which
Jierui is entitled to make as the shareholder of Shiji
Kuangao on behalf of Jierui;

(i) exercise all its rights of shareholder and voting rights
in Shiji Kuangao as granted by the PRC law and the
articles and associations of Shiji Kuangao, including
but not limited to selling, transferring, pledging or
otherwise dealing in all or any of the equity interests in
Shiji Kuangao; and

(iii) serve as the legal representative, chairman, executive
director or manager of Shiji Kuangao in accordance
with its articles and associations, or nominate, appoint
or change the legal representative, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager or other
management level personnel of Shiji Kuangao.

Chongging Mengzhuo is entitled to authorize any person or
entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of such
Directors to exercise the rights which Chongging Mengzhuo
is authorized to exercise under the Power of Attorney IB.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4AH B EH AR A A
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In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IB, Jierui guarantees and undertakes that:

(i) in the event it receives any asset (including the equity
interest of Shiji Kuangao) in relation to the liquidation,
winding-up, dismissal or termination of Shiji Kuangao,
Jierui agrees to transfer at nil consideration or at the
lowest consideration as permitted by the then applicable
laws and regulations to Chongging Mengzhuo such
asset; and

(i) without prior approval of Chongging Mengzhuo, it will
neither, directly or indirectly, participate or engage in
any business which is or may be in competition with the
business of Shiji Kuangao or its associated companies,
or be engaged by any entity which is or may be in
competition with the business of Shiji Kuangao or its
associated companies, or hold any assets of such entity
or hold more than 5% interest in such entity.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
IB, any successor to Jierui shall hold the respective equity
interest in Shiji Kuangao subject to conditions, requirements
and obligations under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IB.

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement I1B and
Power of Attorney IIB

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement
executed by and among Chongqging Mengzhuo, Mr. Li, Mr.
Li JD and Jierui (the “Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IIB”, together with the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement IB, the “Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreements B”), Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD executed
a power of attorney in favour of Chongging Mengzhuo (the
“Power of Attorney IIB”, together with the Power of Attorney
IB, the “Power of Attorneys B”) pursuant to which Mr. Li and
Mr. Li JD have irrevocably and unconditionally authorized
Chongging Mengzhuo to, among other things:
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(iii)

act as the agent of Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD to convene and
attend shareholder meetings of Jierui in accordance with
its articles and associations;

exercise all their rights of shareholders and voting rights
in Jierui as granted by the PRC law and its articles
and associations, including but not limited to selling,
transferring, pledging or otherwise dealing in all or any
of the equity interests in Jierui; and

serve as the legal representative, chairman, executive
director or manager of Jierui in accordance with its
articles and associations, or nominate, appoint or
change the legal representative, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager or other
management level personnel of Jierui.

Chongging Mengzhuo is entitled to authorize any person or
entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of such
Directors to exercise the rights which Chongging Mengzhuo
is authorized to exercise under the Power of Attorney IIB.

In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IIB, each of Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD guarantees and
undertakes that:

(i)

(i)

in the event he receives any asset (including the equity
interest of Jierui) in relation to the liquidation, winding-up,
dismissal or termination of Jierui, each of them agrees to
transfer at nil consideration or at the lowest consideration
as permitted by the then applicable laws and regulations
to Chongging Mengzhuo such asset; and

without prior approval of Chongqing Mengzhuo, neither
of them will, directly or indirectly, participate or engage
in any business which is or may be in competition with
the business of Jierui or its associated companies, or be
engaged by any entity which is or may be in competition
with the business of Jierui or its associated companies,
or hold any assets of such entity or hold more than 5%
interest in such entity.
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(5)

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
[IB, in the event of death, loss of capacity, marriage, divorce
or bankruptcy of Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD, or other similar events
affecting Mr. Li or Mr. Li JD in exercising their respective
shareholders’ rights of Jierui, any successor to Mr. Li or
Mr. Li JD shall hold the respective equity interest in Jierui
subject to conditions, requirements and obligations under the
Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IIB.

Spouse Undertakings B

Pursuant to the spouse undertakings (“Spouse Undertakings
B”) executed by Ms. Xin, the spouse of Mr. Li JD, Ms. Xin
has irrevocably undertaken that:

(a) she has full knowledge of and has consented to the
entering into of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements to
which Mr. Li JD is a party, and in particular, the equity
interest in Jierui owned by Mr. Li JD is not part of the
common assets of Mr. Li JD and herself, she is not
entitled to any rights attached to such equity interests of
Mr. Li JD in Jierui (including the rights arising from the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements), she shall not engage
in any activities interfering the performance of the Jierui
Contractual Arrangements (including but not limited to
claiming her entitlement to the equity interest of Jierui
owned by Mr. Li JD and any rights arising from the Jierui
Contractual Arrangements);

she has not, is not and shall not in the future participate
in the operation and management in relation to Jierui
and claim any interest in relation to the equity interest
and assets of Jierui;

in the event she receives all or part of the equity interest
of Jierui for any reason, she agrees to be a party to the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements and be bound by the
relevant restrictions as set out in the Jierui Contractual
Arrangements and perform any act and execute all
necessary documents in order to give effect to such
restrictions.

)
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SIGNIFICANCE AND FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE
JIERUI OPERATING ENTITIES TO THE GROUP

Pursuant to the Jierui Contractual Arrangements, the Group
obtains control over and derives the economic benefits from the
Jierui Operating Entities. The table below sets out the financial
contribution of the Jierui Operating Entities to the Group:

HRELEERULAEENERZERMBER
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Significances and financial contribution to the Group
HEKEHEZEM R UK SRR
Revenue

Wz

For the year ended
31 December 2022

B Z2022F12A831H
ILFE

Significances and financial contribution
to the Group
HAEENEE

11.0%
1 B 5 B R

REVENUE AND ASSETS INVOLVED IN JIERUI
CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Jierui Operating Entities

R E E e
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Net Profit

FF

For the year ended
31 December 2022

Z2022512A31H

Total Assets
mEE

As of

31 December 2022
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5.3% 4.4%
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&
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31 December 2022

For the year ended
31 December 2022
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Consolidation of financial results

Based on the Jierui Contractual Arrangements and the legal
opinion provided by the PRC Legal Advisor, the Directors are of
the view that the Jierui Contractual Arrangements have allowed
the Company to consolidate the financial results of the Jierui
Operating Entities under the prevailing accounting principles.

Risks involved in the Jierui Contractual Arrangements

As the primary beneficiary of Jierui, the Group is exposed to the
business risks and financial risks faced by Jierui.

There is no assurance that Jierui will generate any profit which can
be paid to the Group through the Jierui Contractual Arrangements

There is no assurance that Jierui will generate any profit which can
be paid to the Group through the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement B and the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
IIB. Any profit or loss of Jierui (net of intra-group transactions) will
be reflected in the consolidated financial results of the Group.

A substantial amount of costs and time may be involved in
transferring the ownership of Jierui to the Group under the
Exclusive Call Option Agreements B

The exercise of the Exclusive Call Option Agreement B is subject to
applicable laws and regulations of the PRC. There is no assurance
that the acquisition of the equity interest in Jierui held by Mr. Li
and Mr. Li JD under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement B will be
permitted in the future, or whether such acquisition will incur any
costs and expenses to the Group in addition to the consideration
stipulated under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IIB. Due to
these limitations, the transfer of equity interest in Shiji Kuangao
pursuant to the exercise of the call option under the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement IIB may still be subject to substantial costs.

There is no assurance that the Jierui Contractual Arrangements
could comply with future changes in the regulatory requirements
in the PRC and the PRC government may determine that the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements do not comply with applicable
regulations.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
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The PRC Legal Advisor is of the opinion that as at the date
of this annual report, the execution, delivery and performance
of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements by each of the parties
thereto, is in compliance with (i) the provisions under the articles
of association of such party and (ii) any applicable PRC laws
and regulations. However, the interpretation and implementation
of the laws and regulations concerning the foreign investment
in the PRC, and their application to and effect on the legality,
binding effect and enforceability of contracts, are subject to
the discretion of competent PRC legislative, administrative and
judicial authorities. In particular, there is no assurance that PRC
legislative, administrative or judicial authorities will not adopt a
different or contrary interpretation or view against view of the
Company and its legal advisors in respect of the legality, binding
effect and enforceability of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements,
and may determine that the contracts do not comply with
applicable regulations.

The Jierui Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective as
direct ownership in providing control over Jierui

Further, the Jierui Contractual Arrangements may not provide
control over Jierui as effective as direct ownership; Mr. Li, Mr. Li
JD may have potential conflicts of interest with the Company; and
the Jierui Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny
of the tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed on the
Group.

As of the date of this annual report, there were no material changes
in the Jierui Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances
under which the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangement were
adopted.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFews(A)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND EERFETHRAERRG - HBRHKRE
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARE, UNDERLYING SHARES AND HZFHHEENERRAE
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of 20224128310 * ARG EBERFET
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, HBABRAATISEBEEE(EERES
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated x| #6571 =& 5 LK ([BERBE
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and &l |) EXVEL) &5 - HHERGH R EESE
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”), Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong  # #EBIRIEZE 5 MBI E &0 35216 B0 8%
Kong), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the REARRFEFEMNELM » SRE 31T
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise ABZESZHTELERXSHEESTR([BES
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Bl ) ZB1€ AN 7 R B a9z oA A 1A
Model Code for Securities Transactions by directors of Listed T :

Issuers (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares BRBFNETFE

Approximate percentage
of shareholding in
the Company as at 31

Number of December 2022 (Note2)
Name of Director Nature of interest shares held  Position 2022512831 HRAR
ESHR EEME BFEROHE HR /%R ANRESLOES MR
Mr. Li Xuechun (Nete Interest of corporation  3,022,604,000  Long 71.66%
FBEFEERY controlled 1A
Pzl e EE S
Ms. Zhang Weiping Beneficial owner 30,000,000 Long 0.71%
REFLL BEREAA R
Mr. Zuo Yichen Beneficial owner 8,000,000  Long 0.19%
ERREE BEREAA o)
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung Beneficial owner 8,000,000  Long 0.19%
MRS AL BERFEAA iE
Ms. Li Yanping Beneficial Owner 1,000,000  Long 0.02%
FREFLL EREAA 5o}
Notes: (1) Mr. Li holds 90% of the issued share capital of Minsheng Group [z : (1) A B EREEFER A B (ATEHIE
Company Limited (formerly known as Honest Cheer Investments BEBREAT) ([BREERA]) 90%E 31T
Limited) (“Minsheng Group”) and is its sole director and he is AR WAREEFRME—FE - IER
therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held by Minsheng EBEEREEANRMDBESZ - T=EL+
Group. Ms. Li Ning, daughter of Mr. Li, holds the remaining 10% ABEEENLR  BREEREEFHBTEY
of the issued share capital of Minsheng Group. 10%E BEITIRAN -
(2) Based on the number of issued shares of the Company of (2) IBIEARRQ B HR2022F12 A31H K 2 31T
4,217,720,000 as at 31 December 2022. AR5 8B 4,217,720,0000% 55 o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, neither the
chief executive nor any of the Directors of the Company had
or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(i) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to any Directors
or chief executive of the Company, the following persons (other
than Director or chief executive of the Company) or corporations
who had interest or short positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Number of
shares held

BEROEE

Nature of interest

RENE

Name of Shareholder

BRER

Br Eat 4 B & S - 720228 12H31H @ A&
RAMNEETBRABRESHEREAAA
REAEE LB (EERFBSHSRBEKRHEXV
)RR - AR D Sk B R A S
BAEBNRIEER LK BAEEGIEXVIE
TRESHDEAME RN E MR FA(BIER
BEHRBAERINEBESUESHE EL
REEBOERIORE) + H(iNREBEEH K
HAE 5 38 35216 J8 5T 8 A 5% 16 P it & =
A k(iR R E T RIZE M AR B KB
RETRIRE R SA R ©

TERRRBROREBROTFEFNERR

KRB

RARARAESERFTETBRAEMA B
2022 12H318  RA R B IR 7D R AERE AR
NEAREEF RABRIIEXVERE2RFE
3P EEMA R AR - KALRHENIREE
H RHE KA FI36IKBEFENECHRL
BRIABWALT(RRAAEEREETH
ABBRINFZ AT -

Approximate percentage
of shareholding in
the Company as at 31

December 2022 (note 2)
Position 72022512831 HRAER L
BR/ KR FNRERQOE S K

Minsheng Group (formerly Beneficial owner 3,022,604,000  Long 71.66%
known as Honest Cheer EnEEA HE
Investments Limited)

RESHAGGIERRRERRLR)

City Legend International Beneficial owner 332,000,000  Long 7.87%
Limited (ote ) ERBEAA 5o

FESBBRERARMED

Phoenix Ocean Developments Interest of corporation 332,000,000 Long 7.87%
Limited (ete ) controlled e

ERBRBR AR PRI 65 B e
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
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Approximate percentage
of shareholding in
the Company as at 31

Number of December 2022 (te2)
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest shares held  Position  A2022F12A31 B RAEA
BRRER ERtME BFERGEE BE/ KR FNRESNE DLW
Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Interest of corporation 332,000,000  Long 7.87%
Holdings Limited Mt " controlled HE
EEH (M) ERB R A R MED Pzl e A B s
Pacific Climax Limited (o€ Interest of corporation 332,000,000  Long 7.87%
Pacific Climax Limited %0 controlled He
Pzl e A s
Overseas Chinese Town (HK) Interest of corporation 332,000,000  Long 7.87%
Company Limited Nete 1) controlled HE
BEBEBMARRFMED Pzl e A R
RINEBEHRDBRAR] Nore D Interest of corporation 332,000,000  Long 7.87%
RN ZEEH IR B IR 2 7= controlled He
Pzl e A R
ZEEMERBRA TN Interest of corporation 332,000,000  Long 7.87%
EEHEBBRARWE controlled 1A

gl opRE L g

Notes: (1) City Legend International Limited is 100% owned by Phoenix Ocean [z : (1) #EERBER A TIHEZHEBR A TE

Developments Limited, which is 100% owned by Overseas Chinese LA MEZREARAGHESH
Town (Asia) Holdings Limited. Pacific Climax Limited holds 70.94% (T AR AT EEE - Pacific
of Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Holdings Limited. Pacific Climax Climax Limited$} A #= 5 4 (25 M ) 122 J%
Limited is 100% owned by Overseas Chinese Town (HK) Company A R A 7170.94%4KE %% » Pacific Climax
Limited, which is 100% owned by JRIIZEBHR B GRRA). FEHH Limited BB EBWABER AT 2 EH
SEBRAF holds 46.99% of RIIEBHAML AR AR B MEAEBWERARBARINERS

WM ERRARZERE - ZRHER
ERARBERIEBHERMGBRA A
46.99% 25 °

(2) Based on the number of issued shares of the Company of (2) IRIEAR DT R2022FE12 A31 BN E B 1T
4,217,720,000 as at 31 December 2022. BE D2 E 4,217,720,00008 514 -
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFEWmE(R)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company are not aware of any
other person or corporation having an interest or short position in
the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which would
require to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”, at no time during the year 2022 were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the Company
granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or
children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised
by any of them; or was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND OTHER
INFORMATION

Each of our executive Directors (other than Mr. Lam Ngai Lung)
has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial
fixed term of three years commencing from 1 August 2016 and
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from
22 May 2016. The term of each of the service contracts between
the Company and the executive Directors will be automatically
renewed for a further term of three years upon the expiration of
the initial term, until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other (or otherwise
in accordance with the terms of the relevant service contract).
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Each of our independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed term
of one year commencing from the Listing Date and the term of
each of these service contracts will be automatically renewed for
a further term of one year after the expiration of the initial term,
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing by
served by either party on the other (or otherwise in accordance
with the terms of the relevant service contract).

Mr. Shen Jinzhou and Ms. Li Yanping, each has been appointed
as non- executive Director with effect from 13 January 2023 and
28 June 2017 respectively. Each of them has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of one year,
subject to retirement by rotation and re- election in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company and the term of
each of the appointment may be renewed for a further term of
one year by mutual agreement between the above respective
director and the Company upon expiration of the initial term and
each renewed term.

In accordance with article 84 (1) of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Lam Ngai Lung, Mr. Shen Jinzhou, Ms. Li Yanping
and Mr. Yu Huangcheng will retire from the Board by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

As set out in the Prospectus, the Company would adopt, among
others, the following measures to avoid any conflict of interests
arising from competing business and to safeguard the interests
of the Shareholders: (i) the Company would disclose decisions
on matters reviewed by the independent non-executive Directors
relating to compliance and enforcement of the non-competition
undertaking of the controlling Shareholders in the annual reports
of the Company; and (ii) the controlling Shareholders would make
an annual declaration on compliance with their undertaking under
the Deed of Non-competition in the annual report of the Company.

The Company confirms that there were no conflicts of interests
between the controlling Shareholders and the Group arising from
any competing business during the period from 1 January 2022 to
31 December 2022 (both dates inclusive) (the “Relevant Period”).

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
status of compliance and enforcement of the Deed of Non-
competition and confirmed that nothing has come to their attention
that the controlling Shareholders have breached any undertaking
or provisions under the Deed of Non-competition during the
Relevant Period.

The controlling Shareholders have also confirmed that they
have complied with their undertaking under the Deed of Non-
competition during the Relevant Period and have made an annual
declaration on such compliance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this annual report.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The following is a summary of principal terms of the share option
scheme (the “Shares Option Scheme”) conditionally approved
by a resolution of our sole shareholder passed on 2 March 2017
and adopted by a resolution of the Board on 2 March 2017 (the
“Adoption Date”).

1. Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to give the
Eligible Persons (as defined in the following paragraph) an
opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company and
help motivate them to optimize their future contributions to the
Group and/or to reward them for their past contributions, to
attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going relationships
with such Eligible Persons who are significant to and/or whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance,
growth or success of the Group, and additionally in the
case of Executives (as defined below), to enable the Group
to attract and retain individuals with experience and ability
and/or to reward them for their past contributions.

2. Who may join

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer options
(“Options”) to subscribe for such number of shares in
accordance with the terms set out in the Share Option
Scheme to:

(a) any executive director of, manager of, or other employee
holding an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar
position in any member of the Group (“Executive”), any
proposed employee, any full-time or part-time employee,
or a person for the time being seconded to work full-time
or part-time for any member of the Group (“Employee”);

(b) adirector or proposed director (including an independent
non-executive director) of any member of the Group;
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(c) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the
Group;

(d) a supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group;

(e) acustomer, consultant, business or joint venture partner,
franchisee, contractor, agent or representative of any
member of the Group;

(f) a person or entity that provides design, research,
development or other support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional or other services to any
member of the Group;

(g) an associate of any of the persons referred to in
paragraphs (a) to (f) above; and

(h) any person involved in the business affairs of the
Company whom the Board determines to be appropriate
to participate in the Share Options Scheme (the persons
referred above are the “Eligible Persons”).

Pursuant to the amendments to the Listing Rules with effect
from 1 January 2023, the Eligible Persons under the Share
Option Scheme is subject to Rule 17.03A of the Listing Rules.

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the Listing Date
(such 10% limit representing 400,000,000 shares excluding
shares which may fall to be issued upon the exercise of
the Over-allotment Option granted by the Company) (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit”) provided that:
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(a)

the Company may at any time as our Board may think
fit seek approval from Shareholders of the Company
to refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit, save that the
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
shall not exceed 10% of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval by the Shareholders
of the Company in general meeting where the Scheme
Mandate Limit is refreshed. Options previously granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
of the Company (including those outstanding, cancelled,
lapsed or exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme or any other schemes of the
Company) shall not be counted for the purposes of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit as refreshed. The
Company shall send to Shareholders of the Company a
circular containing the details and information required
under the Listing Rules;

the Company may seek separate approval from the
Shareholders of the Company in general meeting for
granting Options beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit,
provided that the Options in excess of the Scheme
Mandate Limit are granted only to the Eligible Person
specified by the Company before such approval is
obtained. The Company should issue a circular to the
Shareholders of the Company containing the details and
information required under the Listing Rules; and

the maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes of the Group shall not exceed 30% of the
Company’s issued share capital from time to time. No
Options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Company if
this will result in such limit being exceeded.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

No Option may be granted to any one person such that the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of Options granted and to be granted to that person in any
12- month period exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued share
capital from time to time. Where any further grant of Options
to such an Eligible Person would result in shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all Options granted and
to be granted to such Eligible Person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding Options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of our Shares in issue, such further
grant shall be separately approved by the Shareholders of
the Company in general meeting with such Eligible Person
and his close associates (or his associates if such Eligible
Person is a connected person) abstaining from voting. The
Company shall send a circular to the Shareholders of the
Company disclosing the identity of the Eligible Person, the
number and terms of the Options to be granted (and Options
previously granted) to such Eligible Person, and containing
the details and information required under the Listing Rules.
The number and terms (including the subscription price) of
the Options to be granted to such Eligible Person must be
fixed before the approval of the Shareholders of the Company
and the date of the Board meeting proposing such grant shall
be taken as the offer date for the purposes of calculating the
subscription price of those Options.

Offer and grant of Options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board
shall be entitled at any time within 10 years from the Adoption
Date to offer the grant of an Option to any Eligible Person as
the Board may in its absolute discretion select to subscribe
at the subscription price for such number of shares as the
Board may (subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme)
determine (provided the same shall be a board lot for dealing
in the shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple
thereof).
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Granting Options to connected persons

Subject to the terms in the Share Option Scheme, only
insofar as and for so long as the Listing Rules require,
where any offer of an Option is proposed to be made to
a director, chief executive or a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of their
respective associates, such offer must first be approved by
the independent non-executive Directors of the Company
(excluding the independent non-executive Director who or
whose associates is the grantee of an Option).

Where any grant of Options to a substantial shareholder
(as defined in the Listing Rules) or an independent non-
executive director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the securities issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all Options already granted and
to be granted (including Options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant:

(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant
class of securities in issue; and

(b) (where the securities are listed on the Stock Exchange),
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the securities at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5.0 million, such further grant of Options must be
approved by the Shareholders of the Company (voting
by way of a poll). The Company shall send a circular
to the Shareholders containing the information required
under the Listing Rules. The grantee, his associates
and all core connected persons of the Company must
abstain from voting in favor at such general meeting.

Approval from the Shareholders is required for any change
in the terms of Options granted to a participant who is a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their respective associates.
The grantee, his associates and all core connected persons
of the Company must abstain from voting in favour at such
general meeting.
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Restriction on the time of grant of Options

The Board shall not grant any Option under the Share Option
Scheme after inside information has come to its knowledge
until such inside information has been announced pursuant to
the requirements of the Listing Rules. In particular, no Option
shall be granted during the period commencing one month
immediately preceding the earlier of the date of the Board
meeting (as such date is first notified to the Stock Exchange
in accordance with the Listing Rules) for the approval of
the Company’s results for any year, half-year, quarterly or
any other interim period (whether or not required under the
Listing Rules) and the deadline for the Company to publish an
announcement of its results for any year, half-year, quarterly
or any other interim period (whether or not required under
the Listing Rules), and ending on the date of the results
announcements.

Minimum holding period, vesting and performance
target

Subject to the provisions of the Listing Rules, the Board may
in its absolute discretion when offering the grant of an Option
impose any conditions, restrictions or limitations in relation
thereto in addition to those set forth in the Share Option
Scheme as the Board may think fit (to be stated in the letter
containing the offer of the grant of the Option) including
(without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) qualifying
and/or continuing eligibility criteria, conditions, restrictions
or limitations relating to the achievement of performance,
operating or financial targets by the Company and/or the
grantee, the satisfactory performance or maintenance by
the grantee of certain conditions or obligations or the time
or period before the right to exercise the Option in respect
of any of the shares shall vest provided that such terms or
conditions shall not be inconsistent with any other terms or
conditions of the Share Option Scheme. For the avoidance of
doubt, subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may
determine as aforesaid (including such terms and conditions
in relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise) there is no
minimum period for which an Option must be held before
it can be exercised and no performance target which need
to be achieved by the grantee before the Option can be
exercised.
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10.

Amount payable for Options and offer period

An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain open for
acceptance by the Eligible Person concerned for a period
of 28 days from the offer date provided that no such grant of
an Option may be accepted after the expiry of the effective
period of the Share Option Scheme. An Option shall be
deemed to have been granted and accepted by the Eligible
Person and to have taken effect when the duplicate offer
letter comprising acceptance of the offer of the Option duly
signed by the grantee together with a remittance in favor of
the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof is received by the Company on or before the
date upon which an offer of an Option must be accepted
by the relevant Eligible Person, being a date no later than
28 days after the offer date (the “Acceptance Date”). Such
remittance shall in no circumstances be refundable.

Any offer of the grant of an Option may be accepted in
respect of less than the number of shares in respect of
which it is offered provided that it is accepted in respect of
board lots for dealing in shares on the Stock Exchange or an
integral multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in
the duplicate offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer
of the Option. To the extent that the offer of the grant of an
Option is not accepted by the Acceptance Date, it will be
deemed to have been irrevocably declined.

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option
shall be such price as the Board may in its absolute discretion
determine at the time of grant of the relevant Option (and
shall be stated in the letter containing the offer of the grant
of the Option) but the subscription price shall not be less
than whichever is the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of a share;

(b) the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date; and

10.
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(c)

the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 Business
Days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately
preceding the offer date.

11. Exercise of Option

(a)

An Option shall be exercised in whole or in part (but
if in part only, in respect of a board lot or any integral
multiple thereof) within the Option period in the manner
as set out in this Share Option Scheme by the grantee
(or his or her legal personal representative(s)) by giving
notice in writing to the Company stating that the Option is
thereby exercised and specifying the number of shares
in respect of which it is exercised. Each such notice
must be accompanied by a remittance for the full amount
of the aggregate subscription price for the shares in
respect of which the notice is given. Within 28 days after
receipt of the notice and, where appropriate, receipt
of a certificate from our auditors pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme, the Company shall accordingly allot and
issue the relevant number of shares to the grantee (or
his or her legal personal representative(s)) credited as
fully paid with effect from (but excluding) the relevant
exercise date and issue to the grantee (or his or her
legal personal representative(s)) share certificate(s) in
respect of the shares so allotted.

The exercise of any Option may be subject to a vesting
schedule to be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion, which shall be specified in the offer letter.

The exercise of any Option shall be subject to the
members of the Company in general meeting approving
any necessary increase in the authorized share capital
of the Company.
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(d) Subject as hereinafter provided and subject to the terms
and conditions upon which the Option was granted, an
Option may be exercised by the Grantee at any time
during the Option Period, provided that:

(i)

(i)

in the event that the grantee dies or becomes
permanently disabled before exercising an Option
(or exercising it in full) and none of the events for
termination of employment or engagement pursuant
to the terms of the Share Option Scheme exists with
respect to such grantee, he or she (or his or her
legal representative(s)) may exercise the Option
up to the grantee’s entitlement immediately prior
to the death or permanently disability (to the extent
not already exercised) within a period of 12 months
following his or her death or permanent disability or
such longer period as the Board may determine;

in the event that the grantee ceases to be an
Executive for any reason (including his or her
employing company ceasing to be a member of
the Group) other than his or her death, permanent
disability, retirement pursuant to such retirement
scheme applicable to the Group at the relevant
time or the transfer of his or her employment to an
affiliate company or the termination of his or her
employment with the relevant member of the Group
by resignation or culpable termination, the Option (to
the extent not already exercised) shall lapse on the
date of cessation of such employment and not be
exercisable unless the Board otherwise determines
in which event the Option (or such remaining part
thereof) shall be exercisable within such period as
the Board may in its absolute discretion determine
following the date of such cessation;
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(iii)

(iv)

if a general offer is made to all holders of shares and
such offer becomes or is declared unconditional
(in the case of a takeover offer) or is approved by
the requisite majorities at the relevant meetings of
the Shareholders of the Company (in the case of
a scheme of arrangement), the grantee shall be
entitled to exercise the Option (to the extent not
already exercised) at any time (in the case of a
takeover offer) within one month after the date on
which the offer becomes or is declared unconditional
or (in the case of a scheme of arrangement) prior
to such time and date as shall be notified by the
Company;

if a compromise or arrangement between the
Company and its members or creditors is
proposed for the purposes of or in connection with
a scheme for the reconstruction of the Company
or its amalgamation with any other company, the
Company shall give notice thereof to the grantees
who have Options unexercised at the same time as
it dispatches notices to all members or creditors of
the Company summoning the meeting to consider
such a compromise or arrangement and thereupon
each grantee (or his or her legal representatives or
receiver) may until the expiry of the earlier of:

(1) the Option period;

(2) the period of two months from the date of such
notice; or

(8) the date on which such compromise or
arrangement is sanctioned by the court,
exercise in whole or in part his or her Option.
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(v) in the event a notice is given by the Company
to its members to convene a general meeting for
the purposes of considering, and if thought fit,
approving a resolution to voluntarily wind-up the
Company, the Company shall on the same date
as or soon after it dispatches such notice to each
member of the Company give notice thereof to all
grantees and thereupon, each grantee (or his or her
legal personal representative(s)) shall be entitled
to exercise all or any of his or her options at any
time not later than two Business Days (as defined
in the Listing Rules) prior to the proposed general
meeting of the Company by giving notice in writing
to the Company, accompanied by a remittance for
the full amount of the aggregate subscription price
for the shares in respect of which the notice is given
whereupon the Company shall as soon as possible
and, in any event, no later than the business day
(as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately prior to
the date of the proposed general meeting referred
to above, allot the relevant Shares to the grantee
credited as fully paid.

12. Life of Share Option Scheme

Subject to the terms of this Share Option Scheme, the Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the
date on which it becomes unconditional, after which no further
options will be granted or offered but the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme shall remain in force and effect in all
other respects. All Options granted prior to such expiry and
not then exercised shall continue to be valid and exercisable
subject to and in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.
As at 31 December 2022, the remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme was approximately 4 years and 3 months.
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13. Lapse of Share Option

An Option shall lapse automatically and not be exercisable,
to the extent not already exercised, on the earliest of:

(a)

(b)

the expiry of the Option period;

the expiry of any of the period referred to paragraphs
related to exercise of the Option;

subject to the terms of the period mentioned in the
paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme — 11. Exercise
of Option” in this section, the date of the commencement
of the winding-up of the Company;

there is an unsatisfied judgement, order or award
outstanding against the grantee or the Board has reason
to believe that the grantee is unable to pay or to have
no reasonable prospect of being able to pay his/her/its
debts;

there are circumstances which entitle any person to take
any action, appoint any person, commence proceedings
or obtain any order of the type mentioned in this Share
Option Scheme with respect to the exercise of the
Option;

a bankruptcy order has been made against any director
or shareholder of the grantee (being a corporation) in
any jurisdiction.

No compensation shall be payable upon the lapse of any
Option, provided that the Board shall be entitled in its
discretion to pay such compensation to the grantee in such
manner as it may consider appropriate in any particular case.
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14. Adjustment

In the event of any alteration to the capital structure of the
Company while any Option remains exercisable, whether
by way of capitalization of profits or reserves, right issue,
consolidations, reclassification, reconstruction, sub-division
or reduction of the share capital of the Company, the Board
may, if it considers the same to be appropriate, direct that
adjustments be made to:

(a) the maximum number of shares subject to the Share
Option Scheme; and/or

(b) the aggregate number of shares subject to the Option
so far as unexercised; and/or

(c) the subscription price of each outstanding Option.

Where the Board determines that such adjustments are
appropriate (other than an adjustment arising from a
capitalization issue), the auditors appointed by the Company
shall certify in writing to the Board that any such adjustments
are in their opinion fair and reasonable, provided that:

(a) any such adjustments shall give the Eligible Persons the
same proportion of equity capital as they were previously
entitled to. In respect of any such adjustments, other
than any made on a capitalization issue, the auditors
shall confirm to the Board in writing that the adjustments
satisfy this requirement;

(b) any such adjustments shall be made on the basis that
the aggregate subscription price payable by the grantee
on the full exercise of any Option shall remain as nearly
as practicable same as (but shall not be greater than)
it was before such event;

(c) no such adjustments shall be made the effect of which
would be to enable a share to be issued at less than its
nominal value;
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(d) any such adjustments shall be made to in accordance
with the provisions as stipulated under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules and supplementary guidance on the
interpretation of the Listing Rules issued by the Stock
Exchange from time to time; and

the issue of securities as consideration in a transaction
shall not be regarded as a circumstance requiring any
such adjustments.

Cancellation of Options not exercised

The Board shall be entitled for the following causes to
cancel any Option in whole or in part by giving notice in
writing to the grantee stating that such Option is thereby
cancelled with effect from the date specified in such notice
(the “Cancellation Date”):

(a) the grantee commits or permits or attempts to commit or
permit a breach of restriction on transferability of Option
or any terms or conditions attached to the grant of the
Option;

(b) the grantee makes a written request to the Board for the
Option to be cancelled; or

(c) ifthe grantee has, in the opinion of the Board, conducted

himself in any manner whatsoever to the detriment of

or prejudicial to the interests of the Company or its

subsidiary.

The Option shall be deemed to have been cancelled with
effect from the Cancellation Date in respect of any part of the
Option which has not been exercised as at the Cancellation
Date. No compensation shall be payable upon any such
cancellation, provided that the Board shall be entitled in its
discretion to pay such compensation to the grantee in such
manner as it may consider appropriate in any particular case.
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16.

17.

Ranking of Shares

The Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an Option will
be subject to all the provisions of the Articles of Association
and the laws of the Cayman Islands from time to time and
shall rank pari passu in all respects with the then existing
fully paid Shares in issue commencing from (i) the allotment
date or, (ii) if that date falls on a day when the register of
members of the Company is closed, the first date of the
re-opening of the register of members. Accordingly, it will
entitle the holders to participate in all dividends or other
distributions paid or made on or after (i) the allotment date
or, (ii) if that date falls on a day when the register of members
of the Company is closed, the first day of the re-opening of
the register of members, other than any dividend or other
distribution previously declared or recommended or resolved
to be paid or made if the record date therefore shall be before
the allotment date.

Share issued upon the exercise of an Option shall not carry
rights until the registration of the grantee (or any other person)
as the holder thereof.

Termination

The Company may by resolution in general meeting at any
time terminate the operation of the Share Option Scheme.
Upon termination of the Share Option Scheme as aforesaid, no
further Options shall be offered but the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force and effect in all other
respects. All Options granted prior to such termination and
not then exercised shall continue to be valid and exercisable
subject to and in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFEWmE(H)

16. K 1i7tth{v

AT RE IR AE B S T BR B A AR (0 32 TN
BOHEBERMARFASES AT
FrBIEXRR - W aG)E B - 3k(ii)
Wz B AR ARG ERERGBEER
Z A BAEFMRERERGBPER
MEARES T HEERBEEETH
BB EZERSEZ BB TRE
A2 EROHEEB - iz B AR
ARIEEHERMBEERL A - AlA
BENMERERNBFECNERSZ
BIRT S EL BT AR B sk Efth 5 IRAY
R BRI E RS EFESFE
R S EH s B IR R AL BT
AR B H DK ©

AR A (BERE M A L) B RN
FAAR - RAITEBBEZETHRD T
S TR o

17. #&LE

ARRAIRBRAE LBIBRZERMER
AR IHESE - 7 Dl
FHEIR IR - NEE—SIREBAE -
HERB A HE AT Sl A0 IS E A & T m D AR
BEEMS - RERZ LAIERBEER
RARITER P BAEDARER - X A]
FREBERT BIRR TR RB AR 87T
{8 -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &



-

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

5

18.

19.
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Transferability

The Option shall be personal to the grantee and shall not
be assignable and no grantee shall in any way sell, transfer,
charge, mortgage, encumber or create any interest (legal
or beneficial) in favor of any third party over or in relation
to any Option or attempt to do so (save that the grantee
may nominate a nominee in whose name the Shares issued
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme may be registered).
Any breach of the foregoing shall entitle the Company to
cancel any outstanding Option or part thereof granted to
such grantee.

Alteration of Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme may be altered in any respect by
a resolution of the Board except that the following shall not
be carried out except with the prior sanction of an ordinary
resolution of the Shareholders of the Company in general
meeting:

(a) any material alteration to its terms and conditions or any
change to the terms of Options granted (except where
the alterations take effect under the existing terms of the
Share Option Scheme);

(b) any alteration to the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme in relation to the matters set out in Rule 17.03
of the Listing Rules to the advantage of grantee;

(c) anychange to the authority of the Board or any person or
committee delegated by the Board pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme to administer the day-to-day running of
the Scheme; and

(d) any alteration to the aforesaid alternation provisions.
provided always that the amended terms of the Share Option

Scheme shall comply with the applicable requirements of
the Listing Rules.
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20. Conditions of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall come into effect on the date
on which the following conditions are fulfilled:

(a)

(b)

the approval of the Shareholders for the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme;

the approval of the Stock Exchange for the listing of and
permission to deal in, a maximum of 400,000,000 shares
to be allotted and issued pursuant to the exercise of the
Share Option Scheme in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Share Option Scheme;

the commencement of dealing in the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange; and

the obligations of the underwriters under the Underwriting
Agreement becoming unconditional and not being
terminated in accordance with the terms thereof or
otherwise.

If the permission referred to in paragraph (b) above is not
granted within two calendar months after the Adoption Date:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

the Share Option Scheme will forthwith terminate;

any Option granted or agreed to be granted pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme and any offer of such a grant
shall be of no effect;

no person shall be entitled to any rights or benefits or be
under any obligations under or in respect of the Share
Option Scheme or any Option; and

the Board may further discuss and devise another share
option scheme that is applicable to a private company
for adoption by our Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFeRE(E)

OPTIONS GRANTED UNDER THE SCHEME R EIR NNV ERE

Details of the Options granted and outstanding for the year ended ~ #, £2022% 12 A31 B L EEEHEH R &
31 December 2022, are as follows: ITEEBRERBOT

Number of Options granted: ERLEBRESZE :

Number of ordinary shares subject to share options granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
REEALAHYEARRE IRLNBRESRNEBRAA

Date of grant
of Granted during  Exercised during  Lapsed during
Category share Exercise Outstanding the year the year ended theyear  Outstanding as
and name of ~ S5EER options price as at ended 31 31 December ended 31  at 31 December
participant Rt (Note) (HKD) 1 January 2022  December 2022 2022  December 2022 2022
Rk Ro2F  REEARF  REENRF  REEARF 120225
RERS ke 1A18 12A318 12A318 12A318 12A31H
(H&) (B7) BATE LEERH LEET LEEXN BA{TE
Directors g%
Zhang ¥ 31/8/2017 139 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000
Weiping
27/8/2018 1.66 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000
Zuo Yichen ERR 31182017 139 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
27/8/2018 1.66 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
Lam Ngai WiRE 31/8J2017 139 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
Lung
27/82018 1.66 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
Li Yanping ST 27/8/2018 1.66 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
Other EfET 31182017 139 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
employees
27/8/2018 1.66 10,450,000 - - - 10,450,000
19/8/2019 142 1,700,000 - - 500,000 1,200,000
21/82020 1.2 1,100,000 - - - 1,100,000
Total &t 65,250,000 - - 500,000 64,750,000

( ' Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RE#E £HBR A A
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Notes:

(1)

The closing prices of the shares of the Company on 31 August 2017,
27 August 2018, 19 August 2019 and 21 August 2020, being the dates
on which the Share Options were granted, were HK$1.39, HK$1.66,
HK$1.42 and HK$1.22 per share respectively.

The closing price of the shares of the Company on 30 August 2017, 24
August 2018, 16 August 2019 and 20 August 2020, being the date before
the date on which the options were granted were HK$1.38, HK$1.55,
HK$1.42 and HK$1.25 per share respectively.

Save for 5,000,000 Share Options granted on 21 August 2020, the Share
Options with respect to a grantee will be exercisable in the following
manner:

(i)  20% of the share options will be vested on the first anniversary of
the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from the
first anniversary of the date of grant.

(i) 20% of the share options will be vested on the second anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the second anniversary of the date of grant.

(iif) 20% of the share options will be vested on the third anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the third anniversary of the date of grant.

(iv) 20% of the share options will be vested on the fourth anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the fourth anniversary of the date of grant.

(v) 20% of the share options will be vested on the fifth anniversary of
the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from the
fifth anniversary of the date of grant.

5,000,000 Share Options granted on 21 August 2020 with respected to
a grantee will be exercisable in the following manner:

(i)  50% of the share options will be vested on the first anniversary of
the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from the
first anniversary of the date of grant.

(i) 50% of the share options will be vested on the second anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the second anniversary of the date of grant.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
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As there had been no exercise of any share options during the
year ended 31 December 2022, there was no weighted average
closing price of the Shares immediately prior to exercise date to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.07(1)(d) of the Listing Rules.

As at the beginning and the end of the year ended 31 December
2022, the number of options available for grant under the Scheme
Mandate Limit is 335,250,000.

As at the beginning and the end of the year ended 31 December
2022 and as at the date of this annual report, the remaining
number of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 400,000,000 shares, representing approximately 9.5%
of the total issued shares of the Company and the weighted
average number of the shares in issue of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were 500,000
ordinary shares subject to share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme were lapsed.

Save as disclosed above, no Options were granted, exercised or
cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in this annual
report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into
any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the Reporting
Period or subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors
is currently in force and was in force throughout the year 2022.
The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover
for the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed approximately
7,500 (2021: 7,470) staff in the PRC and Hong Kong. Employees of
the Group are remunerated based on their individual performance,
professional qualifications, experience in the industry and
relevant market trends. The management of the Group regularly
reviews the Group’s remuneration policy and appraises the work
performance of its staff. Employee remuneration includes salaries,
allowances, bonuses, social insurance and mandatory pension
fund contribution. As required by the relevant regulations in the
PRC, the Group participates in the social insurance schemes
operated by the relevant local government authorities. The Group
also participates in the mandatory provident fund schemes for
our employee in Hong Kong.

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the
Group’s operating results, individual performance of the Directors
and senior management and comparable market practices.

The Directors and senior management may also receive Options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme. For further details
of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” in this report.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, and five highest paid
individuals during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out
in Notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Company are set out in “Other employee benefits” of Note 2.4
to the consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has not entered into any connected transaction
(as defined in the Listing Rules) for the year ended 31 December
2022.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
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Save as disclosed above, details of the related party transactions
entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
The transactions as set out therein do not fall under “Connected
Transactions” or “Continuing Connected Transactions” in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
During the Reporting Period, as far as the Directors are aware,
there was no material non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
Group’s business and operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION POLICIES

The Group is principally engaged in providing educational
services, a line of business that generally does not have material
impact on the environment. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the Group did not incur any material cost of compliance
with applicable environmental laws and regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Group has complied with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

After the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
there were no material events affecting the Company or any of
its subsidiaries.

LITIGATION

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Company was not engaged in any litigation
of material importance and no litigation of material importance
is known to the Directors to be pending or threatening against
the Company.
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has committed to achieving high corporate governance
standards in order to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and
to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
complied with all the code provisions set forth in the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
(the “Corporate Governance Code”) during the year ended 31
December 2022. The Board will continue to review and monitor the
corporate governance practices of the Company for the purpose
of maintaining high corporate governance standards.

For details, please see the Corporate Governance Report in this
annual report on pages 120 to 139.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”)
in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code. The members
of the audit committee have discussed with the management, and
reviewed, the 2022 consolidated financial statements as set out
in this annual report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 had been audited by Ernst & Young, who will
retire and being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment
as auditor at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. The Company has not changed its external auditor
since its Listing and up to the date of this annual report.

RECOMMENDATION TO CONSULT PROFESSIONAL TAX
ADVICE

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding
of the Company’s securities. If the shareholders of the Company
are not sure about the tax effect on the purchase, holding, sale,
trading or exercise of any rights attached to the relevant shares
of the Company, they are recommended to consult independent
experts for advice.

On behalf of the Board
Li Xuechun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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INTRODUCTION

The Board is committed to upholding a high standard of
corporate governance and business ethics in the firm belief
that they are essential for enhancing investors’ confidence and
maximizing Shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the rising
expectations of stakeholders, and to comply with increasingly
stringent regulatory requirements as well as fulfill its commitment
to excellence in corporate governance.

During the period from 1 January 2022 up to 31 December
2022 (both dates inclusive), the Company has complied with all
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

THE BOARD
General

The Board is committed to providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith and in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board sets the Group’s overall
objectives and strategies, monitors and evaluates its operating
and financial performance and reviews the corporate governance
standard of the Group. It is also responsible for approving
certain specific matters such as annual and interim results,
major transactions, director appointments or reappointments,
investment policy, dividend and accounting policies. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for implementing
its business strategies and managing the daily operations of the
Group’s businesses to the executive Directors and members
of senior management. The functions and power that are so
delegated are reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain
appropriate. All Directors are provided with monthly updates on
the Company’s performance and financial position to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
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All Board members have separate and independent access to
the Group’s senior management to fulfill their duties. Independent
professional advice can be sought to assist the relevant Directors
to discharge their duties at the Group’s expense upon their
request.

The Board has established three Board committees, being the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee (each a “Board Committee” and collectively the
“‘Board Committees”), to oversee different areas of the Company’s
affairs. For details, please see “Board Committees” below.

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors, namely Mr.
Li Xuechun, Ms. Zhang Weiping, Mr. Zuo Yichen and Mr. Lam Ngai
Lung, two non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Shen Jinzhou and
Ms. Li Yanping and three independent non- executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny, Mr. Yu Huangcheng and
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew. A list of the Directors identifying
their roles and functions are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Their biographical details and (where applicable) their family
relationships are set out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report. All Directors are
required to declare to the Board upon their first appointment,
the directorships or other positions they are concurrently holding
at other companies or organizations. These interests are updated
on an annual basis and when necessary.

Mr. Li Xuechun, the chairman of Board, is the father-in- law of Mr.
Zuo Yichen, who is an executive Director. Ms. Li Yanping is the
daughter of Mr. Li Xuerang who is a cousin of Mr. Li Xuechun,
a controlling shareholder of the Company, an executive Director
and chairman of the Board. Save as disclosed herein, there are
no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among members of the Board.
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Independent views and input

In order to ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board, the Board has developed the following mechanisms,
including but not limited to:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

at least one-third of Board members are independent non-
executive Directors;

every independent non-executive Director is appointed for
a specific term and subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years;

independent non-executive Directors possess professional
knowledge and broad experience;

no independent non-executive Director has served the
Company for more than nine years;

no independent non-executive Director holds more than six
listed company directorships to make sure that each of
independent non-executive Directors has sufficient time to
make contributions to the Board;

every independent non-executive Director has made an
annual confirmation of his independence to the Company;
and

(vii) the Board, each of its Committees or every Director is able

to seek professional advice in appropriate circumstances at
the Company’s expenses.

The implementation and effectiveness of relevant mechanisms
have been reviewed by the Board during the Reporting Period
and will be reviewed annually.
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board is also responsible for developing,
monitoring the policies and practices on corporate governance
and legal and regulatory compliance of the Group, and the training
and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management. The Board also reviews the disclosures in the
corporate governance report to ensure compliance. The Board’s
responsibility in this regard includes:

reviewing and

(a) toreview and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board and report to the Board on matters;

to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the corporate governance
report; and

to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company’s whistleblowing policy.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices and
the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The role of the independent non-executive Directors is to provide
independent and objective opinions to the Board, giving adequate
control and balances for the Group to protect the overall interests
of the Shareholders and the Group. They serve actively on the
Board and the Board Committees to provide their independent
and objective views.

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors,
Each independent non-executive Director has confirmed his
independence to the Company with reference to the factors set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the contents of such
confirmations, the Company considers that all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

representing one-third of the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by a number of committees, including the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. Each Board Committee has its defined and written
terms of reference approved by the Board covering its duties,
powers and functions. Their terms of reference are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties, including access to management or
professional advice if considered necessary.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny, Mr,
Yu Huangcheng and Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew. Mr. Chan Ngai
Sang, Kenny, who has appropriate professional qualifications and
experience in accounting matters, was appointed as the chairman
of the Audit Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee
mainly performed following duties:

e reviewed the Group’s audited annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2021 and the unaudited interim results
for the six months ended 30 June 2022, met with the external
auditors to discuss such annual results and interim results,
and was of the opinion that the preparation of the relevant
financial statements complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure
had been made;

e reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group, and recommended the appointment of external
auditors; and

e assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities for
maintaining an effective system of internal control and risk
management, including meeting with the management of the
Company and internal control review department regarding
the internal control of the Group and review the capabilities
and scope of review of the internal control assessment team
of the Group.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board in providing an independent view of the effectiveness
of the financial reporting process, internal control and risk
management systems, and relationship with external auditors
of the Group, overseeing the audit process and performing
other duties, reviewing the interim and annual results, and such
responsibilities as assigned by the Board. The Audit Committee
had also reviewed the audited annual consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

For details on the internal control and risk management systems,
please see “Risk Management and Internal Control” below.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew (independent non- executive
Director), Mr. Li Xuechun (executive Director) and Mr. Yu
Huangcheng (independent non-executive Director). The chairman
of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew.
The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are
to review and make recommendations to the Board on the overall
remuneration structure and policy for all Directors and senior
management as well as the specific remuneration packages
for the executive Directors and senior management; and to
review matters relating to share schemes. No Director takes
part in any decision of the Board on his own remuneration. The
Company’s objective for its remuneration policy is to maintain fair
and competitive packages based on business requirements and
industry practice. In order to determine the level of remuneration
and fees paid to members of the Board, market rates and factors
such as each director’s workload, performance, responsibility, job
complexity and the Group’s performance are taken into account.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration
Committee have:

e discussed and reviewed the Group’s remuneration policy
and reviewed and approved the remuneration package of the
executive Directors and senior management of the Company
for the year of 2022; and

e assessing performance of the executive Directors.

Details of the Group’s remuneration policy are set out in the
paragraph headed “Employee and Remuneration Policies” in the
report of the directors.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management
(including all executive Directors) of the Group by band for the
year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:
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Number of persons

Remuneration bands 3 B &5 = AE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ 7 22,000,000/ 7T =
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 71,2 3,000,000/ 7T 1
over HK$3,000,000 3,000,000/8 7TIA 3
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in Notes 8 and 9 to
the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely,
Mr. Li Xuechun (chairman of the Board and executive Director),
Mr. Yu Huangcheng (independent non-executive Director) and Mr.
Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny (independent non-executive Director).
The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Li Xuechun.
The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to
review the composition of the Board, including its structure, size
and diversity at least annually to ensure that it has a balance of
expertise, skills and experience appropriate to the requirements
of the business of the Group and make recommendations in any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy. It also carries out the process of identifying,
considering and recommending to the Board suitably qualified
persons by making reference to the skills, experience and
expertise of such individuals, the Company’s needs and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations to become
a member of the Board, monitor the succession planning of
Directors and assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors. An external recruitment agency may be
engaged to carry out the recruitment and selection process where
necessary. The Nomination Committee will also review the Board
Diversity Policy (as defined below) from time to time, so as to
develop and review measurable objectives for the implementing
the Board Diversity Policy (as defined below) and to monitor the
progress on achieving these objectives.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination
Committee has reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board, and whether the composition of the Board complied
with the requirements of the Board Diversity Policy (as defined
below) during the year of 2022.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Board adopted a board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”’) on 2 March 2017. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity of
Board members. While all Board appointments will continue to be
made on a merit basis, the Company will ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the needs of the Company’s business. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills and
knowledge.

The Nomination Committee has set measurable objectives (in
terms of gender, age, skills and experience) to implement the
Board Diversity Policy. Such objectives will be reviewed from
time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the progress
made towards achieving those objectives will be ascertained. The
Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its continued effectiveness.

As of 31 December 2022, the Company has two female Directors,
which is in compliance with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules. The
Board considers that the Company has achieved gender diversity
at the Board level and targets to maintain at least the current level
of female representation.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination
Committee has reviewed the diversity of the Board and considered
that the Group has achieved the measurable objectives of the
Board Diversity Policy in terms of age, educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of services.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of approximately
7,500 staff comprising of approximately 3,000 male staff
(equivalent to approximately 41% of the Group’s total workforce)
and approximately 4,500 female staff (equivalent to approximately
59% of the Group’s total workforce). As such, the Group has
achieved gender diversity in respect of its workforce. The Group
will continue to maintain an appropriate balance of gender diversity
in its workforce in near future.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

For the dividend policy adopted by the Company, please refer
to “Dividend Policy” in the Report of the Directors on page 47 to
48 in this annual report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are
separate and are not performed by the same individual as this
ensures better checks and balances and hence better corporate
governance. Mr. Li Xuechun holds the position of the Chairman,
who is primarily responsible for the strategic development of
the Group. Ms. Zhang Weiping serves as the Chief Executive
Officer, who is primarily responsible for the overall management
and operation of the Group.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The term of each of the executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors of the Company is subject to his retirement
and re-election at annual general meeting in accordance with
the Company’s articles of association. In accordance with the
Company’s articles of association, a person may be appointed
as a Director either by the Shareholders in general meeting or
by the Board. Each of the non-executive Directors has entered
into an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term
of one year, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in accordance with the articles of association of the Company
and the term of each of the appointment may be renewed for
a further term of one year by mutual agreement between the
non- executive Director and the Company upon expiration of the
initial term and each renewed term. Any Directors appointed by
the Board as additional Directors shall hold office until the next
following annual general meeting or any Director appointed by
the Board to fill casual vacancies shall hold office until the next
following general meeting, and are eligible for re-election by
the Shareholders. In addition, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years, and are eligible for re-
election by the Shareholders.

BOARD MEETINGS

In compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, Board
meetings will be held regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. For regular Board meetings,
notices of at least 14 days are given to facilitate maximum
attendance of the Directors. Directors may propose to the
Chairman or the Company Secretary to include matters in the
agenda for regular board meetings.

At board meetings, the Directors will be provided with the relevant
documents to be considered and approved. Draft and final
versions of minutes are sent to all Directors for their comments
and records respectively within a reasonable time after the board
meeting is held. Minutes of Board meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary or a duly appointed secretary of the Board
meeting and are open for inspection by any Director.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board held 8
meetings. During the meetings of the Board held in 2022 the
Board reviewed the operation and financial performance and
reviewed and approved the annual results for the year ended 31
December 2021 and the interim results for the six months ended

30 June 2022, etc..

The individual attendance record of each Director for the meetings
of the Board, Board committees and the general meeting of the
Company held during the year ended 31 December 2022 is set
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out below:
2022 Meetings Attended/Held
20225 HE BITHER
Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee = Committee Meeting
Exg ENRZES VFMZEEE REZEE RREFAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman) — Z2&F5LE(EE) 8/8 N/A TiEH 11 1 1
Ms. Zhang Weiping RETFRT 8/8 N/A TER N/A ~EA  N/A TER 11
Mr. Zuo Yichen TRREE 8/8 N/A TEH N/A TNER  NA TER il
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung MRBELE 8/8 N/A TEH N/A TNER  N/A TERA 11
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Lin Kaihua (resigned on  #BI#E L4 717 N/A TER N/A TEA  N/A TNER 0/1
21 December 2022) (20225
128218 8T)
Ms. Li Yanping FEFL 8/8 N/A NEH N/A TEA  N/A TER 11
Independent BYFHITES
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny BRE4ELE 8/8 2/2 N/A 5 1/1 1/1
Mr. Yu Huangcheng REMREE 8/8 2/2 11 11 11
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew TEHEL4E 8/8 2/2 11 N/ATER 11
Total Number of Meeting ~ & B & 8 2 1 1 1
DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE EERTHRAENRE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and officers.

ARRIEREEEMITHA BRI GE S EE A
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as
well as his/her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules
and regulations. Briefings and updates on the latest development
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements are provided to the Board during Board meetings
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. The Company will also arrange
regular seminars to provide Directors with updates on the latest
development and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant
legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors
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participated in the following trainings: T -

Name of Director Type of Training'
EEnE B
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman of the Board) TBEELE(EFSFE) B
Ms. Zhang Weiping SREF L B
Mr. Zuo Yichen ERBREE B
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung MERBESLE B
Non-executive Directors HHITEF

Mr. Lin Kaihua (resigned on 21 December 2022) #RBAFESL A (742022912 A21 BEHT) A B
Ms. Li Yanping T+t B
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTEE

Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny BRER 4 ST & A, B
Mr. Yu Huangcheng REMESE B
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew TEEEAE B
Note: BiisE

1. Type A training includes: attending training sessions, including but not 1,  ABEIIEIE : 2MEYEE - 8FEETER

limited to, briefings, seminars, conferences and workshops relating to
directors’ duties and responsibilities/corporate governance/updates on

Listing Rules amendments and similar activities.

Type B training includes: reading relevant news alerts, newspapers,
journals, magazines, updates and relevant publications relating to the
economy/general business/directors’ duties and responsibilities and

similar activities.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the period from the 1 January 2022 up to 31
December 2022 (both dates inclusive).

The Company has also established a code no less exacting than
the Model Code for securities transactions by senior management
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
or inside information of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Wai Chiu has been appointed as the Company
Secretary with effect from 1 March 2022. Mr. Wong is a fellow
of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (previously
known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries), a
fellow of the Chartered Governance Institute, a member of CPA
Australia, a member of the Hong Kong Trustee Association and
a Certified Trust Practitioner. Mr. Wong is an associate director
of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and his
major responsibility is assisting listed companies in professional
company secretarial work.

Mr. Wong’s primary contact person at the Company is Mr. Lam
Ngai Lung, an executive Director and the chief financial officer
of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Wong has undertaken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognizes its responsibility to ensure the Company
maintains a sound and effective risk management and internal
control system.

The Group’s internal control system is designed to safeguard
assets against misappropriation and unauthorized disposition
and to manage operational risks. Review of the Group’s internal
controls covering major financial, operational and compliance
controls, as well as risk management functions. The controls
built into the risk management system are intended to manage
significant risks in the Group’s business.

The Board is in charge of managing the overall risks of our Group.
It is responsible for considering, reviewing and approving any
significant business decision involving material risk exposures,
(including, among others, material risk relating to environmental,
social and governance) such as our decision to expand our school
network into new geographic areas, and to enter into cooperative
business relationships with third parties to establish new schools.
The Group also maintains insurance coverage which is in line
with customary practice in the PRC education industry, including
school liability insurance. The Group also has arrangements with
certain banks in place to ensure that it will be able to obtain credit
to support its business operation and expansion.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, taking into account the internal
control measures implemented by the Group in connection
with the non-compliance incidents disclosed under the section
headed “Business — Legal Proceedings and Compliance” in the
Prospectus, the on-going monitoring and supervision by the Board
and the principals of the Group’s schools with the assistance from
professional external advisers where required, and the fact that,
as confirmed by the Directors, the non- compliance incidents
did not involve fraud or dishonesty, the Directors are of the view
that our enhanced internal control measures are adequate and
effective.
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The Company has established an internal audit department to
carry out its internal audit functions by assisting the Board to
implement the Group’s of risk management framework. The work
of the internal audit department will be reviewed by the Audit
Committee and the Board annually. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Audit Committee, with reference to and
based on the internal audit report issued by the independent audit
firm, conducted a review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions, adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal control and financial
reporting functions, and training programmes and budget. The
Board has considered and discussed the internal audit report
issued by the independent audit firm, the work conducted by
the independent audit firm, the Audit Committee’s view on the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems and their
effectiveness. The Board and the Audit Committee are satisfied
with the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and
internal control of the Group.

Based on the review carried out by the independent audit firm, the
Audit Committee and the Board, the Board concluded that there
are no material irregularities nor areas of concern that would have
significant adverse impact on the Company’s financial position or
results of operations, and that the risk management and internal
control systems are adequate and effective and the Company’s
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs
and budget for accounting, internal audit, financial reporting
function and Listing Rules compliance are adequate.

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission
in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved,
and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors
and employees about due compliance with all policies regarding
the inside information. Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior
management and employees appraised of the latest regulatory
updates. The Company shall prepare or update appropriate
guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory
requirements.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN PREPARING FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Company’s consolidated financial statements which give a
true and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs, results and
cash flows for the year and in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The Company has
selected appropriate accounting policies and has applied them
consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgments and
estimates. The Board considers that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future and
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may affect the business of the Company or cast
doubts on its ability to continue as going concern.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided
by the auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, during the year
ended 31 December 2022 was approximately as follows:
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Amount

Type of Services i3 kil 8
RMB’000

AR®F T

Annual audit services FEEZRS 4,900
Total Bt 4,900

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
the Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and understanding of the Group’s business, performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of timely
and non-selective disclosure of information, which will enable
shareholders and investors to make the informed investment
decisions.
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At general meetings of the Company, the Shareholders will have
the opportunity to communicate directly with the Directors. The
chairman of the Board and the chairman of each of the Board
Committees will attend the annual general meetings to answer
Shareholders’ questions. The auditor of the Company will also
attend the annual general meetings to answer questions about the
conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s
report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and its shareholders and maintains a website of the Company
at (www.minshengedu.com), where up-to- date information on
the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access.

To promote investors’ understanding of the Company’s business,
the Company organises roadshows and on-site visits for investors.
The Company has also participated in a number of investment
forums and conducted multiple exchanges with securities analysts,
fund management companies, and individual investors through
various means.

The Company will review its shareholders’ communication policy
annually to ensure its implementation and effectiveness. The
Company considers its shareholders’ communication policy
implemented effectively during the Reporting Period.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
General

To safeguard our Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a
timely manner after each general meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
eEERHRE (F)

RARBRRAG £ - RERAH S AEE
FERYHFE -BEFERTIFNREFSELRES
EREARFRRIBFAE LR RARERE
ARRZEE & L ERRBERSEE
FAEZIIE - XA REREBIZEAR
SRR R ZBENB L FRE -

AREBBER  AARKEREERK
o BERBUARRIEERR ZEHER
B R B 2% - I B £ (www.minshengedu.
com)sR M A QA Bk - FIEARD A K HE
BR - PBER  CEERTHAREMAE
WS ERHME A RER -

RIBEREEHARRREBHER - A7)
RBEEABIRERISZ2E - ARRT2
MAEREREBY BESETANEBEFZON
- REEERRREAAREEETZRR

K3
L °

ARRPREFRTERRBBEBOR - AR
HEmNMARME - RARRBAERRBRIK
KR MEHE D AREM o

IR R AEF
—REH

RREARRBBRROEREERN - ERRA
ERNNBREE(BRERENES)EAN
B HPRESIR o

EERRASRENMBRABRARE TR

AR ETARR - MREERAESBRR
REBREBERAEND A MR FAHIER

i o

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
hRERERS ()

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at
a general meeting of the Company according to the articles of
association. Any one or more members holding as at date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or company secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Proposing a Person for Election as a
Director

Pursuant to the Article 85 of the articles of associations of the
Company, no person other than a Director retiring at the meeting
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be
eligible for election as a Director at any general meeting unless
a Notice (as defined therein) signed by a Member (as defined
therein) (other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to
attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given
of his intention to propose such person for election and also a
Notice signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness
to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
Registration Office provided that the minimum length of the period,
during which such Notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven (7)
days and that (if the Notices are submitted after the despatch of
the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election)
the period for lodgment of such Notice(s) shall commence on
the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7) days
prior to the date of such general meeting.
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Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to Mr. Lam
Ngai Lung of Room 511-512, 5/F., Tower 2, Lippo Centre, 89
Queensway Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong (email address: msedu@
minshengedu.com).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company during the Reporting Period and up
to the date of this annual report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB RS

EY:

To the shareholders of
Minsheng Education Group Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Minsheng Education Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 150 to 344,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

in our professional

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIHENHRS (#)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BREZER

Income tax

Vi

As set out in note 10 to the financial statements, pursuant
to the 2016 Decision (as defined in note 10 to the financial
statements), private schools are no longer being classified
as either schools for which the school sponsor (s) require
reasonable returns or schools for which the school sponsor
(s) do not require reasonable returns. Instead, the school
sponsor (s) of a private school may choose for the school to
be a for-profit private school or a non-profit private school,
with the exception that schools providing nine-year compulsory
education must be non-profit. Pursuant to the 2016 Decision
and the 2021 Implementation Rules (as defined in note 10
to the financial statements), a private school may enjoy the
preferential tax policies, which are not defined under neither the
2016 Decision nor the 2021 Implementation Rules, as stipulated
by the related government authorities and a non-profit school
may enjoy the same tax policies as enjoyed by a public school.

As at the date of this report, except for one school which
was incorporated as a limited liability company, the Group’s
schools in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC Schools”)
are in the process of classification registrations and remain
as private non-enterprise units. In accordance with the tax
compliance confirmations obtained from the local tax authorities
and the Group’s external legal advisor's comments on the
preferential tax treatments for the current year, the PRC Schools
did not pay corporate income tax for the income from formal
educational services and have enjoyed the preferential tax
treatments during the year of 2022. Following the completion of
the registration of the PRC Schools as for-profit private schools,
the PRC Schools may be subject to corporate income tax at
a rate of 25% in respect of service fees they receive from the
provision of formal educational services, if they do not enjoy
any preferential tax treatment. As such, significant impact on
the Group’s profit and loss may arise.

There were significant judgements involved in management’s
analysis and assessment, such as the assessment on the
possible outcome of the tax provision based on historical
experiences and interpretation of the relevant tax laws and
regulations in respect of the preferential tax treatments enjoyed
by the PRC Schools.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 10 to the
financial statements.
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REFZEEHE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ERNERNAEERRERSE

We performed the following procedures:

° discussed with management to evaluate their interpretation
of the tax laws and their assessment of the tax obligations
of the schools operated by the Group for the current year;

. evaluated management’s assessment on the application of
the preferential tax or applicable tax rate to the respective
schools;

o discussed with the Group’ s external PRC legal advisors to
understand their view with respect to the interpretation of
the existing applicable laws which would have an impact
on the applicable tax rates on the respective schools;

o obtained the Group’s external legal advisor's comments
on the tax obligations applied onto the Group’s schools,
in particular, whether or not the PRC Schools had to pay
income tax as required by their respective tax authorities
by the end of year 2022 and whether the PRC Schools
which enjoyed such preferential tax treatments were in
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations in
China;

° assessed any new policies, regulations or rules that have
been introduced by the authorities up to the date of this
report, which might have an impact on the tax position of
the PRC Schools;

o examined the tax compliance confirmations obtained
from the local tax authorities for the current year, where
appropriate; and

o involved our internal tax experts to assist us in analysing
the preferential tax treatments enjoyed by the PRC Schools
and assessing the adequacy of tax provisions.



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIHENHRS (#)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BREZER

Goodwill impairment

HEHAE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had significant amounts
of goodwill of RMB2,338.4 million arising from acquisitions,
which were supported by an annual impairment review. No
impairment charge was recorded against goodwill in the current
year. Certain assumptions used in the impairment review were
subjective and involved significant judgements and estimates,
and they included:

. the future cash flow growth assumptions used in the
Group’s most recent budgets for the next five years
approved by management, including future industry
development, pricing strategies, market supply and
demand, and gross margins;

o the growth rate used beyond the period covered by the
budgets; and

o the discount rate applied to future cash flows.

The accounting judgements and estimates and disclosures
related to the impairment assessment are included in notes 3
and 15 to the financial statements.
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REFZEEHE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ERNERNAEERRERSE

In order to evaluate the impairment test carried out by
management and assess the value-in-use of the cash-
generating units, we performed the following procedures:

evaluated management’s future cash flow forecasts and
the process by which they were drawn up;

assessed the actual performance in the year against
the prior year budgets to evaluate historical forecasting
accuracy;

assessed the key assumptions by checking against the
historical trend and industry index;

performed sensitivity analyses on the forecasts;
analysed the discount rate and long term growth rate used
by comparing to the industry index with the assistance of

our internal valuation experts; and

evaluated the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures
regarding the goodwill impairment testing.
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Key audit matter
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Goodwill impairment
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIHENHRS (#)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee

in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIHENHRS (#)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lee Mee Kwan, Helena.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

28 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REeBmREMZENSR

Year ended 31 December 2022 #;ZE2022412A31H L F[E

Notes 2022 2021

B 20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AREFIT

REVENUE g 5 2,353,965 2,394,012
Cost of sales SHEM A (1,078,819) (1,037,051)
Gross profit EF 1,275,146 1,356,961
Other income and gains Hb WA KKz 5 280,570 249,894
Selling and distribution expenses  $5& M2 R X (273,341) (242,932)
Administrative expenses TRFAX (501,042) (471,342)
Other expenses, net Hib > F5 (71,455) (100,194)
Finance costs BhE P A 7 (163,740) (130,564)

Share of profit/(loss) of an associate 2 {hEE% A RLEF, (&

B) 363 (22)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBE A1 5 F 6 546,501 661,801
Income tax expense FTiEHi X 10 (33,229) (54,222)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR R 513,272 607,579
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)
rERmREMEZENRSR(E)

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{Z=2022F 128318 ILF[E

Notes 2022 2021
Lik=3 20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AREFIT

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME H fth 2 [ W &

Other comprehensive (loss)/ BN SE
income that may be reclassified DEEERCHM
to profit or loss in subsequent 2mE(ER), MW
periods:
Exchange differences on BENGHREZ
translation of financial BEH ZHE
statements (157,537) 35,319
Net other comprehensive (loss)/ A ee R EiE AR EFT 0 18
income that may be reclassified EEEMNAMEE
to profit or loss in subsequent (B518) Wz 55
periods (157,537) 35,319
Other comprehensive income/ TERBEREENRHE
(loss) that will not be reclassified ~ ZEiEzMEHME2E
to profit or loss in subsequent W/ (E18):
periods:
Exchange differences on BEBRE 2
translation of financial bE =58
statements 71,426 (23,231)

Net other comprehensive income/ TE@RHARBEETHHE
(loss) that will not be reclassified  ZEiEzMEHME2E

to profit or loss in subsequent Wz (&518) ¥

periods 71,426 (23,231)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) SEHMt2mE(EE),

INCOME FOR THE YEAR & (86,111) 12,088
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEZHEWHEZE

FOR THE YEAR 427,161 619,667
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)
refaRREMEENRDR(E)

Year ended 31 December 2022 #;ZE2022412A31H L F[E

Notes 2022 2021
& 20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AREFIT
Profit attributable to: AT IR
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEFEWN 490,066 576,886
Non-controlling interests IR R 23,206 30,693
513,272 607,579
Total comprehensive income ATEEE2EREER
attributable to:
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEZEWN 403,955 588,974
Non-controlling interests TR R 23,206 30,693
427,161 619,667
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREBRRESEEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EhSRAEF
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT:
Basic and diluted HEXNE#S 12 RMBAK¥0.1162t RMBAK¥0.13687T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RS M E R IR

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

Notes 2022 2021
liEs3 20224 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - B R ERE 13 3,210,791 3,061,628
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 837,230 859,308
Goodwill Bk 15 2,338,424 2,335,902
Other intangible assets Hihmi&E 16 434,285 519,433
Investment in an associate REEE R RIMRE 17 2,063 1,545
Financial assets at fair value BATERTABRN
through profit or loss TREE 18 14,176 96,539
Deferred tax assets EETHIBE E 30 13,552 10,607
Other non-current assets HEMIEmBEE 19 190,988 604,352
Total non-current assets FEMEBEERE 7,041,509 7,489,314
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories & 20 10,003 11,590
Trade receivables 2 5 W GRIE 21 684,137 606,031
Prepayments, other receivables and FBff7RE « EAh & 7K IE
other assets NEAME E 22 566,089 190,216
Financial assets at fair value RATEFABRN SR
through profit or loss BE 18 177,755 204,400
Cash and cash equivalents BHEFREEEY 23 3,477,088 2,750,227
Restricted bank deposits ZPRFIERITER 23 - 186,016
Total current assets MENEERE 4,915,072 3,948,480
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables B Z N RIE 24 944,220 807,138
Contract liabilities BREE 25 909,607 986,560
Other payables and accruals HAb N FIB R ESTE R 26 965,689 1,178,005
Dividend payables FET AR B 102,428 23
Deferred income PFEIE WA 27 22,832 22,891
Interest-bearing bank and other FTEERIT REMER
borrowings 28 598,051 295,719
Tax payable JERTTEIE 21,907 28,091
Put option liability RLEERE 31 944,472 —
Total current liabilities BB EERE 4,509,206 3,318,427
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFRE 405,866 630,053
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HWEERREBARE
LIABILITIES 7,447,375 8,119,367
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

fREMBBR R (#)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

Notes 2022 2021
B EE 20224 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Financial liability at fair value BRATEFABRN SR
through profit or loss afE 35 - 7,840
Deferred income RIEWA 27 242,395 260,472
Interest-bearing bank and other FTESRITREAMMBERK
borrowings 28 1,759,483 1,683,208
Other long term liability HuREBE 29 264,119 274,777
Payables for compensation fees e EEA 26 - 55,116
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBAE 30 144,262 148,177
Put option liability RLEEAE 31 - 900,742
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERTE 2,410,259 3,330,332
Net assets BEFE 5,037,116 4,789,035
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the &R RIHEA AFELRIEZS
parent
Share capital [N 32 322 322
Reserves [ 34 4,815,763 4,591,483
4,816,085 4,591,805
Non-controlling interests IR B R 221,031 197,230
Total equity B 5,037,116 4,789,035
LI XUECHUN LAM NGAI LUNG
85 REREE
Director Director
o =t
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ROERBER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #; 2022412 A31H L F[E

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATREARL
Share Exchange Non-
Share  Confributed  Capital Statutory ~ option  Retained fluctuation controlling Total
Notes capital surplus  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  reserve Total interests equity
BRE HERE
liFd B&  RABR REGR  ieER it EFE i Gt FEREE  4B%
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR¥Tn  ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARRTR ARMTR ARETR
Note 32 Note 34(b) Note 34(c) Note 35iii)
& Wtsao)  Warac)  MisEas(i)
At 1 January 2021 R01E1R1R k7/) 160308 12330698 800411 38,235 1,698,327 7340 4035602 126237 4,161,879
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - 576886 - GT6886 30693 607579
Other comprehensive income.~~ EEEH2ENE :
for the year:
Exchange differences on BEahRR ENER
franslation of financial
statements - - - - - - 12088 12,088 - 12,088
Total comprehensive income for -~ FE2EREES
the year - - - - - 576886 12088 588,074 30693 619,667
Acauistion of subsidiaries WEHBLT % - - - - - - - - 0300 40300
Final 2020 dvidend declared ~ EERNERHRE - - (3198 - - - - (398 - B1R)
Recogniion of share-based MR AERAM
payment expenses HER 3 - - - - 5 - -5 - 5iM
Transfer rom retained profis ~~ EE AL AT - - - 08T - (60867) - - - -
At 31 December 2021 R021E12R318 32 160308+ 1202746  861.278* 43376 2214346  19.420* 4591805 197,230 4,789,035
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)

RERRBER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2022 #;ZE2022412A31H L F[E

Attributable to owners of the parent

BADER AR
Share Exchange Non-
Share  Contributed ~ Capital ~ Statuloy ~ opfion  Refained fluctuation controlling
Notes capital suplus — reserve  reseve  resenve profits ~~ reserve Totl interests Total equity
BiE INERE
liFd RE  ERER ARBR TRk B ERRN ] & HikER g
RMBOOO ~ RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RVBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMB'0O
ARETT  ARMTR ARBTT ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARMTR ARETR
Note 32 Note 34(b) Note 34(c) Note 33i)
i3 Mata)  Wddle) RS
At 1 January 2022 M02%1R1R n 160308 1202746 86128 43376 2214346 19429 4591805 197,230 4789038
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - 490066 - 0086 806 5132
Other comprehensive loss for ~ FEA{2EEE:
the year:
Exchange differences on pEahRR ENER
franslation of financial
statements - - - - - - (e (8611) - (86111)
Total comprehensive income for - FE2EREES
the year - - - - - 490066 (86111) 40395 23206 427161
Acquisiion of asubsidiay W ENEL 3 - - - - - - - - 5% 5%
Captalinction fomnon- B RF IRk
controling shareholder ofa K&
subsidiary - - - - - - - - 4900 4900
Dividends paic to non- X THERRE L RE
controlling shareholders - - - - - - - - (1029 (10,29
Acquision of non-controling B SHATER
interests - - - - - - - - (30) (30)
Final 2021 dividend declared ~ EEEAIERERE - - (182250) - - - - (182550) - (182050)
Recogniion of share-based MR ARRAM
payment expenses EE 3 - - - -0 - -0 -
Transfer from refained profits ~ EREBRR - - - B - () - - - -
At 31 December 2022 1202212318 22 160308" 1110489 914498 45068 2651192° (66,682 % 4816085 221,031 5037116

*

* RERERBER2022F12A31B R A
B R NS A ARK4815,763,0007T
(20214 : AR¥4,591,483,0007T ) W47 &
& -

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
RMB4,815,763,000 in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB4,591,483,000).

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Mo REMER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #; 2022412 A31H L F[E

Notes 2022 2021
PiEE 20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING K& EBFMERESAKE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B A5 AT 7 546,501 661,801
Adjustments for: AT RIBFE -
Finance costs =D %N 7 163,740 130,564
Share of (profit)/loss of an DMEBE AR CEF),
associate E518 (363) 22
Investment income from short- BEAVEFAEBRTE
term investments measured at R HAIRE MR E W
fair value through profit or loss A 5 (29,985) (20,951)
Bank interest income RITH BWA 5 (29,067) (54,927)
Interest income from a company KRB M E AR RAEFT
controlled by the former 2 NGRS SRV N
shareholders of a subsidiary 5 (19,487) (17,780)
Fair value loss on an equity BEAVEF ABERR
investment at fair value through BIgE A NHEEE
profit or loss 6 21,164 15,830
Fair value loss from short-term BEAVEFABRTE
investments at fair value through MR IR E 2 A FE
profit or loss B8 6 4,787 =
Fair value loss from a loan to an Eﬂ\ﬁﬁﬂé‘ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ?ﬁﬁ
associate included in other non- BAFEFENG
current assets measured at fair BERNRNES E’J’/}
value FEEE 6 17,986 10,133
Fair value (gain)/loss from BEAVERTAEEDN
contingent consideration at fair FRARERFE
value through profit or loss (Uzs),/ 1B 6 (57,085) 53,054
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of ~ BREYE - BE K& E
property, plant and equipment HEUREAEEE
and right-of-use assets, net Z BB () F8E 6 1,385 (1,002)
Government grants released BB B A BUAT # BD 27 (103,646) (95,926)
Depreciation of property, plant Y% - BEREETE
and equipment 6 168,971 154,049
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {FFEBERE 6 48,192 43,375
Amortisation of other intangible HinmE EEEH
assets 6 86,933 68,812
Provision for expected credit B WA 2 TR E
losses on trade receivables EEaE 6 8,722 5,518
Reversal of impairment of trade B 5 I W IE R (B ]
receivables 6 - (1,439)
Provision for expected credit HEM W RIE 2 RS
losses on other receivables EEaEE 6 8,044 6,310
Equity-settled share option UAtE e A5 B VBB AR i
expense =33 6 2,582 5,141
839,374 962,584

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

RERERER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2022 #;ZE2022412A31H L F[E

Notes 2022 2021
liEs3 20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETIT
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD,(3Em) 1,587 (616)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 FE YR IEIE hN (86,828) (164,425)
Increase in prepayments, other TERIE - bR
receivables and other assets T8 R EAh & ESE N (12,764) (12,175)
(Increase)/decrease in long-term REBTEFIRIE - HAth
prepayments, other receivables JE WUk TE 2 ELAth & 2
and other assets (1), (6,486) 32,595
Increase in trade payables E 5 e R N 137,082 40,789
Decrease in other payables and H At B FRIE R ST B A
accruals N (70,153) (126,021)
(Decrease)/increase in contract AHERECRD), #hn
liabilities (82,288) 74,033
Decrease in other long term liability HEtREAE &R (10,658) (10,547)
Decrease in payables for FEREERRRD
compensation fees — non-current — JEENEA (60,000) (60,000)
Government grants received BT B 27 85,510 94,652
Decrease/(increase) in restricted ZREBRITERRD
bank deposits (3&hn) 3,030 (3,030)
Cash generated from operations REMSIRE 737,406 827,839
Interest received EH B 29,067 54,927
Income tax paid B TS H (46,634) (52,299)
Net cash flows from operating KEEBFREHRERE
activities R 719,839 830,467

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
mEeRENER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2022 #;ZE2022F 128318 ILF[E

Notes 2022 2021
liEs3 20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBRERERE

ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 RS 20,411 18,547
Purchase of items of property, plant BB - BE KR HE

and equipment B H (387,746) (609,510)
Proceeds from disposal of items of B EYZX « HEKLEE

property, plant and equipment HE 2 I8 R0R 1,892 5,696
Additions to other intangible assets ABHMEFLEE 16 (1,785) (22,542)
Acquisition of subsidiaries Wit R Bf /o8 1 ] (101,708) 457,160
Acquisition of non-controlling W B JE iR A

interests (30) -
Capital injection from non-controlling —fEIf1 8 A 7). Z JEIZER% %

shareholders of subsidiary & 4,900 =
Purchase of short-term investments BB & A FEF AR

measured at fair value through SEEHRE

profit or loss (6,463,480) (7,411,440)
Receipt from maturity of short-term R A F(EF ABRAER

investments measured at fair 52 HRI% & B HR A9 UK

value through profit or loss 6,633,638 7,211,440
Investment income from short-term  ZAF(EH ABZEAEH

investments measured at fair RERE 2 IREWRA

value through profit or loss 29,985 16,551
Repayment of a loan from a third RKE—RBRE=ZFZEFE

party EA 28,000
Advance of a loan to a third party  [AI—ZF=FRNER - (28,000)
Net cash flows used in investing KREEBFARERE

activities FER (235,923) (362,098)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

RERERER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2022 #;ZE2022412A31H L F[E

Notes 2022 2021
liEs3 20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTTT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METEFERERE
ACTIVITIES
New bank and other borrowings FERITRAMBER 36 555,193 701,043
Repayment of loans from the EESRLIZERATER
ultimate holding company 36 - (138,814)
Repayment of bank and other BERTIT MHEMEK
borrowings 36 (358,964) (586,771)
Interest paid BERFE 36 (90,260) (77,575)
Interest element of sale and ErEHEEENMNEHS
leaseback liabilities 36 (21,130) (6,194)
Principal portion of lease payments FHEMNKHIARE D 36 (29,347) (30,137)
Principal portion of sale and EBEROEEENREE S
leaseback liabilities 36 78,848 92,906
Dividends paid B A 36 (79,852) (100,108)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BRI ARAR R 2 AR B
shareholders 36 (10,259) -
Decrease/(increase) in restricted SREIRITERRD
bank deposits (3&hn) 182,986 (182,986)
Net cash flows from/(used in) REEERE(FrA)
financing activities REMEFE 227,215 (328,636)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND HEeERBESEEYIEM
CASH EQUIVALENTS HE 711,131 139,733
Cash and cash equivalents at FRE MRS EED
beginning of year 2,750,227 2,624,670
Effect of foreign exchange rate [ERSETE - F5E
changes, net 15,730 (14,176)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FREGRRESEEY
AT END OF YEAR 3,477,088 2,750,227
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH He&RkB&ZEWHEL
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Aty
Cash and bank balances M RIBITHER 23 3,477,088 2,750,227

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
13 December 2005 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the laws of the Cayman lIslands. The address
of the registered office of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P. O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in providing
on-campus and online educational services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company and
the ultimate holding company of the Company is Minsheng
Group Company Limited, which was incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share
registration and business capital

ARRY/ AMEERERE CROLE/HRRK

Minsheng Education Company Limited Cayman Islands US$50,000

REHRRRAR REHS 500007

Minsheng Vocational Education Company ~ Cayman Islands US$10
Limited (“Minsheng Vocational')

REBZHEARAR(RERERE]) REEE 10%7

Minsheng Education Development Cayman Islands US$50,000
Company Limited

REHRRRERLT REEE 50000%7

RAREEHEHR

REHEBEEHARR 2B XA )
MR2005F12H1BR E M 2 8 & R &
FEHESEMNTMANIREREBR
ANAEle AR FMPERN MU R
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands °

ARRB/REEBR AT - SFA - AR
AN EME AR (S AEE ) EER
REARKMBE([HEDRHRE ME
ARHE RIS o

EERA - ARBZEB AR RREE
BRARIRRESHEBRAR]  ZABRS
REBRE LS EMAKIZA QA

HEINI A 7> B R
AATEENEAANHEN TR -

Percentage of effective equity
interests attributable to the Company principal activities

KD RRERREEL TEEEEE

Direct Indirect

& 53

100% - Investment holding
REER

100% - Investment holding
RERK

100% - Investment holding
RERK
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. RAREEER(E)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BB R 2E# ()
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as RRAREEMBRARINFEN IR :
follows: (continued) (&)

Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share  Percentage of effective equity
registration and business capital  interests attributable to the Company principal activities

SMAL/HRUSREENY BRTEE/HRRE FRARGRRRELA  rmgpme
Direct Indirect
E# [
Leed International Education Group Inc. ~ Cayman Islands US$44,875 - 100%  Investment holding
(‘Leed International”) *

BEARAEEEERAT(RERE]) RSEs 148755 T RERR
Leed International Education Group (China)  Hong Kong US$1,282 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited"
BEARHE AR BRAR Bk 128250 RERR
Chongging Li'ang Industry Company The PRC/ Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
Limited” management and
services
ERHIBEFARAA /A AR AR#10,000,0007 REHREERRH
Changaing College of Humanities, The PRC/ Mainland China RMB55,000,000 - 100%  Provision of formal
Science and Technology* undergraduate and
junior college education
services
BRAXREER e/ AR AFR#55,000,0007C RETRASRERAEHE
Hi

[le¥4"  Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RA#EF £H AR A A
-



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Pass College of Chongging Technology
and Business University*

BRTAASRNER

Chongaing Vocational College of Applied

Technology*
Chongaing Yujinggang Education
Investment Company Limited”

BRAREHERARRAA

Chongaing Hechuan Renwen Hospital
Company Limited*

ERA)I A BRERAR
Chongaing Minsheng Education

Management Company (“Minsheng
Management’)*

BRRIMHERRARAA(RALE))

Place of incorporation/

registration and business

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

AR/ AMEERERLE SROLE/ERRK

The PRC/ Mainland China

GEVEEN::

The PRC/ Mainland China
hE/hEAR
The PRC/ Mainland China
hE/PEAR

The PRC/ Mainland China

GEVEEN::

The PRC/ Mainfand China

e/ PEARE

RMB5,000,000

AB%5,000,0007

RVB5,000,000
AK¥5,000,00072
RMB50,000,000
ARH50,000,0007

RMB50,000,000

AR#50,000,0007

US§14,500,000

14,500,000% T

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI EE ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

1. RFREEER(HE)
BHEAE LAz EX (&)
ARREZMBARIFBTWO TR -

(%)

Percentage of effective equity

interests attributable to the Company principal activities

ARAEEERREL A
Direct Indirect

28 &
- 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

IZXHRED

Provision of formal
undergraduate and
junior college education
services

RETRREEERAZHE
%

Provision of junior college
education services

REAEHE RS

Investment in education
projects
REYEER

Provision of disease
diagnosis and treatment
services

REERDEHAERE
Provision of education

management and
services

RIABER R

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. AFAREEER(E)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BERENE Rl zE8 (4E)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AAREEMBARINFEBO AR

follows: (continued) (&)

Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share  Percentage of effective equity
registration and business capital  interests attributable to the Company principal activities
BRAL/aMesRERey ERAEE/SRRE  FLANGERERNN  imsgms
Direct Indirect
E% [

Chongging Bozhi Education Services The PRC/ Mainland China US$9,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
Company Limited management and
(‘Bozhi Education’) * services

EERRYERBARAA((RERE))  +&/HPEAE 9,000,000%7 REBEERRRR

Chongging Li'ang Education Services The PRC/ Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
Company Limited” management and

services

ERHBHERBARAR /AR AR30,000,0007 REHRERRRH

Chongaing Pass Education Services The PRC/ Mainland China RMB300,000 - 100%  Provision of university and
Company Limited” college logistics services

ERRAHERBERAA hE/REAR AEH300,0007T REAERBERREDRE

Inner Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational The PRC/ Mainland China RMB4,000,000 - 100%  Provision of junior college
College (Qingcheng Branch) * education services

AEhENBE 2R (F50k) hE/REARE AE%4,0000007T RUAZHERY

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Chongging Huizhi Education Services
Company Limited (“Chongging
Huizhi") *

ERERYARHARAA ((EREE )

Laoling Minsheng Secondary Vocational
School*

SRRIBXTEEREN

Chongaing Yugangao Enterprise
Management Consultant Company
Limited (“Chongqing Yugangao’) *

ERRERCEERTARRAR
([ERAmER))

Chongaing Yuecheng Zhiyuan Education
Technology Company Limited
(‘Chongqing Yuecheng’) *

RS EH B RARAT
(SR )

Place of incorporation/

registration and business

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

AR/ AMEERERLE SROLE/ERRK

The PRC/ Mainland China

R/ AR

The PRC/ Mainland China

RE /AR

The PRC/ Mainfand China

e/ RE AR

The PRC/ Mainland China

RE /AR

RMB10,000,000

AE#10,000,0007

RMB30,000,000

AR#30,000,0007C

RMB5,000,000

AE%5,0000007T

RMB50,000,000

AR #50,000,0007

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI EE ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

R REEMER (H)
BHEAE LAz EX (&)

ARREZMBARIFBTWO TR -

(%)

Percentage of effective equity
interests attributable to the Company principal activities

ARAEEERREL A
Direct Indirect

28 &
- 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

IZXHRED

Provision of university
logistics services

AR BRHS

Provision of secondary
vocational education and
technical training

REHEBEYE A

Provision of rental and
business management
services

RERERFRERRS

Provision of education
management and
services

REAREERRH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. AFAREEER(E)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEKB L ZER (&)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AAREEMBARINFEBO AR
follows: (continued) (&)
Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share  Percentage of effective equity
registration and business capital  interests attributable to the Company principal activities
BRAL/aMesRERey ERAEE/SRRE  FLANGERERNN  imsgms
Direct Indirect
E%
Chongaing Electronic Information College*  The PRC/ Mainland China RMB 183,680,000 = 51%  Provision of junior college
education services
EREERESR e/ hE AR AR 183,680,007 REAZHERE
Chongaing Zhenzhi Real Estate Company  The PRC/ Mainland China R\B8,000,000 = 51%  Real estate development
Limited”
ERBEEXARAAAA e/ hE AR ARH8,0000007 BHERE
Chongaing Jierui Education Technology ~ The PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
Company Limited” management and
services
ERREHENBERA /AR AR#50,000,0007C REBEERRERS
Chongaing Fanyun Education Technology ~ The PRC/ Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
Company Limited* (“Chongqing management and
Fanyun’) services
ERARHENEARAA(ERAR) 1B/ MEAE AR20,000,0007 REHRERRRH

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Chongging Jiehan Education Technology
Company Limited”

BRABHEHBARAA

Shiji Kuangao (Beijing) Investment
Management Co., Ltd. *
("Shiji Kuangao’)
HRER (LR REERERAA
([t£Es))

Laoling Minsheng Education High School
Company Limited”
ERREAERRNERRAR

Chongaing Mengzhuo Education
Technology Company Limited
(“Chongging Mengzhuo')*

BRPSHENRARLA(ERBE))

Leed (China) Education Technology Co.,
Limited (‘Leed (China)’) *

BE(FE)AENBARAR
(REE)

Place of incorporation/

registration and business

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

AR/ AMEERERLE SROLE/ERRK

The PRC/ Mainland China

R/ AR

The PRC/ Mainland China

GEVEEN::

The PRC/ Mainfand China
hE/E KR

The PRC/ Mainland China

e/ RE AR

The PRC/ Mainland China

e/ PEARE

RMB20,000,000

AE#20,000,0007

RMB2,000,000

AB%2,000,0007

RMB30,000,000

AR#30,000,0007

US52,600,000

2,600,000%7C

US529,000,000

29,000,000%7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI EE ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

R REEMER (H)
BHEAE LAz EX (&)
ARREZMBARIFBTWO TR -

(%)

Percentage of effective equity
interests attributable to the Company principal activities

ARAEEERREL A
Direct Indirect
E# i
S 100%
= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

IZXHRED

Provision of education
management and
services

RIABER R

Provision of investment
management and
services

RItiRA T R

Provision of high school
education
RUEERAE

Provision of education
consulting and
management and
services

AR AR GRS

Provision of education
consulting and
management services

RUABHARERRY
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. AFAREEER(E)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BB R 2E# ()
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AAREEMBARINFEBO AR
follows: (continued) (&)
Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share  Percentage of effective equity
registration and business capital  interests attributable to the Company principal activities
SMAD/HMeSREEeY BRaEE/HRRs  APARCERBRLA  izpze
Direct Indirect
E# B
Yunnan Dianchi Education and Training ~ The PRC/ Mainland China RMB 120,000,000 = 100%  Provision of education
Co., Limited (“Dianchi Co.") * consulting and
management services
EMELHEEIARAA ((BRAR])  F8/REAE ARE120,000,0007 REAREAREERE
Dianchi College of Yunnan University* The PRC/ Mainland China RMB290,183,700 - 100%  Provision of formal

undergraduate college
education services

ZHABEHER e/ hEAR AR¥290,183,70070 REEAARBOHE RS
Yunnan Dianchi Education Management  The PRC/ Mainland China RMB100,000,000 = 100%  Provision of education
Co., Limited* consulting and
management services
SRR ERARAT e/ hEAR ARH100,000,0007C RUABHAREERT
Yunnan Dianchi Vocational College Co.,  The PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
Limited” consulting and
management services
ZHELERERARAA /A AR ARH50,000,0007 RESEFARERRS

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share
registration and business capital

AR/ AMEERERLE SROLE/ERRK

Yunnan Dianjiao Asset Management Co.,  The PRC/ Mainland China RMB1,000,000
Limited*

EHRAEEERARAA GEVEEN:: ARE1,000,0007

TCL Educational Weh Limited The British Virgin Islands US$5,521,977
(‘TCL Educational Web")

TCLAEEERLAR(TCLARR)) RERTES 5501 9T1%TC

Shenzhen TCL Education Technalogy Ca.,  The PRC/ Mainland China HK$31,000,000

Ltd. * (“Shenzhen TCL")

FITCLEBRREREL AR B/ HEARE 31,000,007
(T#imeL))

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI EE ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

1. RFREEER(HE)
BHEAE LAz EX (&)
ARREZMBARIFBTWO TR -

(%)

Percentage of effective equity
interests attributable to the Company principal activities

AORRERRRELA IRERED

Direct

28

Indirect
[

100%  Provision of asset
management and
project investment and
management services

RUEEERRERRERE
B i

100%  Investment holding

RERK

100%  Provision of educational
software development

and other related
services

REFE ML RAIEE
%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. AFAREEER(E)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEKE LG z2EF ()

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AAREEMBARINFEBO AR

follows: (continued) (&)

Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share  Percentage of effective equity
registration and business capital  interests attributable to the Company principal activities
BRAL/aMesRERey ERAEE/SRRE  FLANGERERNN  imsgms
Direct Indirect
E% [

Silk Road (Beijing) International The PRC/ Mainland China RMB39,000,000 - 80%  Provision of technology
Educational Technology Centre Co., development services,
Ltd. * ("Silk Road") educational consultation

services, intermediary
services for overseas
studies

BAZELRERSERERLERAR  RE/REAR AR#39,000,0007 REFHFRERE  HEH
([ )) % - B2 R

Doxue Network Technology (Beijing) Co.,  The PRC/ Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 60%  Provision of technology
Ltd. * (“Doxue Network’) development and

education consultation
services

DEBEMR (L R)BRATS &/ PEAR A&%5,0000007T REKGRE RABFARE
([#284))

Huixue Education Technology (Beijing) The PRC/ Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 60%  Provision of organising
Co., Ltd. * (*Huixue Education’) cultural and artistic

exchange activities and
advertising services

SRHERR (R ARAR! hE/PEAR AR%5,0000007T REESREMTRED
([2245)) HREE RS

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share
registration and business capital

AR/ AMEERERLE SROLE/ERRK

Huixue International Cultural Exchange  The PRC/ Mainland China RMB3,000,000
(Beijing) Company Limited *
("Huixue International’)

BEARULRRLR)BRAT GEVEEN:: ARHE3,000,0007
([228%))
Doxue Huixing Education Technology The PRC/ Mainland China RMB1,000,000

(Beijing) Co., Ltd. * (“Doxue Huixing’)

PESHBNR(L R ERAR /A AR ARE1,000,000T
([#287))
Beijing Mingyuan International Culture The PRC/ Mainland China RMBE,000,000

Co., Ltd. * (‘Beijing Mingyuan’)

IREBEEY AR HREE]) 8/ FEAE AR 6,000,000

Open University Online Long Distance The PRC/ Mainland China RMB125,000,000
Leamning Education Technology
Company Limited”
(“Open University Online’)

EAERERYERITARAR /A AR ARH125,000,0007C
([8x%8))

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

1. RFREEER(HE)
BHEAE LAz EX (&)

ARREZMBARIFBTWO TR -
(&)

Percentage of effective equity
interests attributable to the Company principal activities

AL AEEERREL ITEEED
Direct Indirect

28 &

= 60%  Provision of organising
cultural and artistic
exchange activities and
advertising services
REERL RENTRES
WRES R

- 60%  Provision of technology
development and
computer animation
design services

RURHRERERDE RS
%

- 60%  Provision of services of
organising cultural
and artistic exchange
activities
REER RBTRED
%

= 100%  National operator of the
service for distance

education

2ENERAERHNERR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. AFAREEER(E)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEKE LG z2EF ()

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AAREEMBARINFEBO AR

follows: (continued) (&)

Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share  Percentage of effective equity
registration and business capital  interests attributable to the Company principal activities
BRAL/aMesRERey ERAEE/SRRE  FLANGERERNN  imsgms
Direct Indirect
E% [

Beijing Open Distance Education The PRC/ Mainland China RMB44,450,000 - 100%  Provision of online academic
Center Co., Ltd. * educational services
("Open Distance Education’) and vocational training

programs

TREEERAETOERART /AR AR 44,450,000 RUESSEHERB RS
([2EZE) SRR

Beijing Xiaoai Intelligent Technology The PRC/ Mainland China RMB4,081,633 - 51%  Provision of SaaS service
Company Limited" and human resource
("Xiaoai Technology’)* compliance consultative

services

TRIOEBEMEARAA (MRS 8/ EAE ARE4,081,6337 RtSaaSRERANERA

Rt

Qingdao Huizhong Salary Tax Technology ~ The PRC/ Mainland China RMB2,000,000 - 81%  Provision of educational
Co., Ltd. * (“Qingdao Huizhong’) consultative services

EEERENNRERAT(BERER))  RE/MEAE AE%2,0000007T REHE RS

Minsheng Online Education Technology ~ The PRC/ Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 51%  Provision of online academic
Company Limited* educational services
(‘Minsheng Online”) and vocational training

programs

BRREEGHANRARAR /A AR ARE10,000,0007T REESEEAERERES
(RERR]) SilliRig

Guangzhou Minyun Information The PRC/ Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 51%  Provision of software
Technology Co., Ltd. * development services
(‘Minyun Information”)

ENREGSRMARAA(RERR)) 98/ HEAK AE%1,000,0007T RAANFE MR

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. AFAREEER(E)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BHKE LR a2 &8 (4E)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AAREEMBARIMNEBO AR

follows: (continued) (&)

Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share  Percentage of effective equity
registration and business capital  interests attributable to the Company principal activities
BRAL/aMesRERey ERAEE/SRRE  FLANGERERNN  imsgms
Direct Indirect
E%

Guangzhou Minfu Shenggiang Education  The PRC/ Mainland China RMB500,000 - 51%  Provision of self-study
and Training Center Co., Ltd. * examination assistance
(‘Minfu Shenggiang’) services

BMmREERABEIRLARAR! hE/PEAR AR#500,0007 REEESZH MR
([RE%R])

Umooc Online Education Technology The PRC/ Mainland China RMB3,750,000 - 100%  Provision of digitalise
(Beijing) Company Limited* educational information
(‘Umooc Online’) and online education

supportive services

BEREBABIR(LR)EREARAY &/ HEAE AE%3750,0007T REHTFIAREERESA
([ERRER) BRERK

Shanghai Zhiaosheng International The PRC/ Mainland China RMB12,000,000 - 51%  Provision of immigration and
Business Development Co., Ltd. * education consultation
("Shanghai Zhiaosheng’) services

HERRBERERERERAT hE /REAR AR%12,000,0007 RUBRRAGHARE
([EEERE])

*  The English names of these companies represent the best effort ZERNRMENEBARARERER
made by the management of the Company to directly translate the WHEEHHEPXEBEHERZ  EEZ
Chinese names as they do not register any official English names. FRR EFMAEMER KT -

#  These entities are owned through contractual arrangements. # ZEBERDERSATHMERES -

A The Group has accounted for the acquisition of 100% of the shares N AEEBEIEZSEEMN100%R M0 AR
of these entities as if the remaining 49% of equity interests were BRI BN T49%RENKEREE
acquired on the date of acquisition. Further details are set out in TUHE o s — PR IBR N RKR M T
note 3 to the financial statements. 3
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

Except for Minsheng Management, Bozhi Education,
Chongging Mengzhuo, Leed (China) and Shenzhen
TCL, which were established as wholly-foreign-invested
enterprises, all the above PRC companies were established
as domestic-invested enterprises.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (which include all International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”)
and interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for an
equity investment and wealth management products at fair
value through profit or loss, a loan to an associate included
in other non-current assets and contingent consideration for
business combination, which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("BRMB”), and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A

1.

2.1

RAREEER (F&)
BB LAz EX (&)

ARREZMEBARNFIBN TR
(&)

BRTRIRINEBEBELCEZRAERE
BEHE EEZ2L - BT BRI
TCL > EAFEFBERRIGKRIAEA
BERE -

ERFIIDEERREIBREASEF
BRANBRAEEEEFERAID
HARBIMB AR - EERRFIIEAM
fERRIMEREESRIBBNIIE

ZEMBHRRIBEEE S EREE
S ((EREFTEAEES )R 2B
MRS R BB 3 R 2 A )
(BREMERRTERSER - BRE
AER(TEREEER D ERE) RE
BRAEDIZ KBEREMRE - RIRA
FEFFABSOBRERE REMER
FEARMIERBEEMNGR THE AR
ERMEBAFNERRENRAFE
BN ZEMEHKRTIIRELKAE
BUERE - ZEMBTRERANUARE
TAR® D27 - BRIEXBHRA - BRI
P RIE A ASKREAN TR
£



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i. e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly or
indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

A ()
mEEXE

AV BREREEBEARTREME A
(G &M ) R E 22022612 31
HIEFERNITBRE - B ARENHA
AREESEEEHNER  2iEEB
MEE AAEEEHFEREENS
S A RESZEER - AlFHA
AEBHZWIRESEBZEGE BA
B BB E IR E H B (mA
EBRGTERRENIETHIRESERE
FMIRBEAN) My EE e ® -

—RBERT - B—AEE - IZERERE
RETURIEHIHE - ERRBIEBBIRE ST
—FANREESELUEN (EREE
i) - AIARSEEF GRS HHEIR
BhEARIKBZERAARBEER
BR - B

HRREHNEMBREREANSG
HINEZRHE -

(a)

REME DL HEMmELNEN : &

AEENRERNEERTE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A

2.1

R E ()
HEEXE(HE)

B /8 B ) B 75 ¥R 3R T D4R AR B K 1 ] A
REHEME KB - BNEFEHET
RS - B R RN EEEAEBEIG
2 BRERA AR - YHSEERE A
R BEEREHABFEZARL -

B G B IR i st M IR R F 4h5R - 18
3 e A 2 E W e S AR D) BRI X AN
SESRREB ASIHERER - A
SEARRRNEENREE  #x:E K
A FAXREERNKERARBERZELE
MRS RERGE ARKZEEH -

fief 55 B N (B AR £ SR A B = TR R )
AEz-—HAZHALRESE ~A&H
SEHHAEEDENGRIRET - B
N A EY P R B B (I R SR R A
) BERRHARK-

AL E L E— KB AR M -
BRI ER)ZMBRARNEE(R
REB)REE - (EAEERERD
BREE M (iR S N R iR
R RERO)FMWARERNRFEE - (i)
FTR BB ERIEE B A F{E K (i) Bz R
AR (R Rl EE AR ) B2 BR Sk B 1E © B AT
Hih2E K am ARERNAS B EL IS
BB EBRIB TN (WER)
ERNEAEBECEEZLERBEESK
BEMARANEREENE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 B BREHREESLS
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for AEBCRAFENGEVERRE X
the first time for the current year's consolidated financial BN T A& & AT BIBR B 15 g 25 £ | -
statements.
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the BIRR B TSR HEBIE3 YL 1EZRH)
Conceptual ASCHEN) FEut
Framework
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and RePERAIEI6R Y BEX
Equipment: Proceeds ({&ETA) 20 (EHE
before Intended Use E AR
BT 50 A
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — R @ %R|FE37% EEMSA—
Cost of Fulfilling a CHES) JBTTEHIK
Contract K
Annual Improvements to IFRS Amendments to R B e iR 2 Al B2 B 5 R
Standards 2018-2020 IFRS 1, IFRS 9, 2018F £2020F ERIETSE
Illustrative Examples FFWHE B2 B 7 R
accompanying IFRS &A% Q
16, and IAS 41 5% BIRES
f@/ﬁu 32l
E 1675 16/E
EFEE I %
BIRR 251
RlIZE415% (15
FTAK)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(a) Amendments to IFRS 3 replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual
Framework”) issued in March 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add
to IFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle
for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The
exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent
liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS 37 or
IFRIC 21 if they were incurred separately rather than
assumed in a business combination, an entity applying
IFRS 3 should refer to IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 respectively
instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
has applied the amendments prospectively to business
combinations that occurred on or after 1 January 2022.
As there were no contingent assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities within the scope of the amendments
arising in the business combination that occurred during
the year, the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position and performance of the Group.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A

22 SRS RKRELE ()

&
A

(a)

F
=y

KA BB RT BRI 5 3R 5 %
HERFEFMMT

I B B 7 R 5 2B RI BB 35 (18 8T AN )
LA20184F3 A 48 F B0 ¥ BF % R &
BESHEZE([HE2AESR |) AR A BY
RE ST HREGRL ZFE
Frmri MTEKRBREELS
Ko ZFEFTNEER MRS
HERIFEIFHERIRAMSAEZRL
ETBKEEXBBENRNB K
RIRBNIE R —HBIIME R o 3% B
SMBE AR TE B AT RE B R B R
S ERFEI7H BB M IS RE
ZEZEgREFIRBEEAN
BERIABENS  MZEE
EEEBEEMIFREBLSEHT
A - BRI A BB B A 3RS 22 R
FEIFEHNEBEBESFLSEBRSE
HERNEI7THR KB B RE R
ZECREF2IHR MIERSE
Z8o boh s ZFBEEBERHIAE
ERKBRBTIFEBRER -
REBED MN2022F1 1B K 2
BET 2 EBE P RTE MR M Z
ZEE] - ARNEEBFEEETH
EBEMHTEEZSEITaER
MKREE - BERKAREE -
ZEETHAEE 2B R
KAV EBENEATE -



2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting

from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items
as determined by IAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively to
items of property, plant and equipment made available
for use on or after 1 January 2021. Since there was no
sale of items produced prior to the property, plant and
equipment being available for use, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under |AS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e. g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e. g., an allocation of the depreciation charge
for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled
all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no onerous
contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

22 SRS RKELE ()

(b) BIEREFHERIFE165R(EETA) L

IEERBRYE  BELXEEE
RAFHBREEENERERT
BRI AR (B IELLE RAKMR)
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BHEEBWEAZSE - AR
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WHESAEE 2 BRI KRR
SRR o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

22 SRS RKRELE ()

(d) Annual Improvements to /IFRS Standards 2018-2020
sets out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details
of the amendment that is applicable to the Group are
as follows:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the
terms of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those
paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either
the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. The
Group has applied the amendment prospectively
from 1 January 2022. As there was no modification
or exchange of the Group’s financial liabilities during
the year, the amendment did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RE# B S£H B R A A

(d) EYRR A7 7% 4 & 2 A20184F 22020

FFEREBERRINBRYHREE
AIZE15E - BIRB A E ERIE9
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10

and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendment to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement
2

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to |IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Insurance Contracts’

Insurance Contracts’®

Initial Application of IFRS 17
and IFRS 9 — Comparative
Information®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
‘2020 Amendments”)?*

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the 2020
Amendments’)

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies’

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022%12H31H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSS (continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of
the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024.

As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June
2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption
that permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on
initial application of IFRS 17

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is as follows:

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A

1

2.3 ERMERTER BRI REER
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSS (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a
downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the
IASB in December 2015 and a new mandatory effective date
will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However,
the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in
a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates
to the right of use it retains. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback
transactions entered into after the date of initial application of
IFRS 16 (i. e.,1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)
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2.3 ERMERTER BRI REER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, in particular the determination
over whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the
liabilities for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that
are considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the IASB
issued the 2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before
the reporting date affect the classification of that liability as
current or non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments
require additional disclosures by an entity that classifies
liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-current when
it has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants within
12 months after the reporting period. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application
is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early
is required to apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments,
and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact
of the amendments and whether existing loan agreements
may require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment,
the amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit
is available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions. The amendments
are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions
related to leases and decommissioning obligations at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented,
with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits or other component
of equity as appropriate at that date. In addition, the
amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions
other than leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier
application is permitted.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSS (continued)

The Group has applied the initial recognition exception and did
not recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences for transactions related to leases.
Upon initial application of these amendments, the Group will
recognise deferred tax for all temporary differences related
to leases at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented. During the year, the Group has performed a
detailed assessment on the impact of amendments to IAS 12.
The Group has estimated that it will recognise a deferred tax
asset of RMB13,105,000 for deductible temporary differences
associated with lease liabilities and a deferred tax liability of
RMB 13,760,000 for taxable temporary differences associated
with right-of-use assets, and recognise the cumulative effect
of initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to
retained profits at 1 January 2022.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which itis in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in consolidated profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates or
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates or joint ventures, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates or joint ventures.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in
the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

24 FESTHHREMEGE)

REBEHREE(HE)

AEERWE—RIEABREERE
HRHEEEHWRENBEATRAN —
BERAR—EEERREETED WS
e

EAKENBE-AEBE  @RESH
R~ RUHE B HI R0 AR AR O K AR R
ki - FHEPIAENEREENMEE -
MMEHBEE DB METR - BRERD K
BRI ERHPRARITET
Ao

MEBEH D BEEBETT - KRB
BIZARNBBE RPN A FEEHE
ML EE N BB IR R -

BT S T E A E A SR AR EER
WiE BN AT EER - D BEREEN
BENIRNERAFEAE AT
BEEFH TN BRER - D BAERNK
AREBTEENTE  MEREES
RiEmm AR

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &

€



-

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss
is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investment, wealth management
products, a loan to an associate included in other non-
current assets and contingent consideration for business
combination at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FESHHREME(E)

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on
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the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value A
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active F—H — REREEXAGBRIETER
markets for identical assets or liabilities MHHHRE (REHE)
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Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly
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Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and non-
current assets classified as held for sale), the asset’'s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating
unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (e. g., a headquarters building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:
(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the

same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 1.9% to 10%

Motor vehicles 9.5% to 23.8%

Furniture and equipment 9.5% to 31.7%

Computer equipment 11.9% to 31.7%
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress mainly represents buildings under
construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Computer software

Purchased computer software is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life of 5 to 10 years.

Brand name

Brand name is depreciated over the estimated useful life of
10 years based on the directors’ best estimation.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship is depreciated over the estimated
useful life of 3-6 years based on the directors’ best estimation.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases for low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

24 FESTHHREMEGE)

BB A

Ry A0 NS %N R R CINERIEN
BYIER - WABAVAESE10FMfhET
QISR T

&R

on 8 B B IR IR E AR EMBFTI0F
RERHE R E RIS -

EFBF

EFBARBEENREMFTNIES
FHEHERFHARFE -

HE

AEERSORERFGENRE /K
BEHE - HANABERRKEMET
£ — B BN 2 B & E AR E
Mo RZAHSAREEHE -

EEEEREAEA

AEEYF RS HEEREEE
EEMER N RNE—RRRES
% o AEERBRARE A ENERR
T RA R A
7 o

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &



~—-—

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 50 to 70 years

Buildings 2 to 6 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using
the estimated useful life of the assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

24 FESTHHREMEGE)

(b) Lease liabilities

(b) HEER

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e. g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in measurement of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (continued)

(c)

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that
are considered to be of low value. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Sale and leaseback transaction — the Group as
seller-lessee

The Group applies the requirements in IFRS 15 to
determine whether the transfer of an asset under a sale
and leaseback arrangement is accounted for as a sale of
that asset. If the transfer of an asset by the Group under
a sale and leaseback arrangement does not satisfy
the requirements of IFRS 15 to be accounted for as a
sale of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset and recognises a financial liability equal
to the transfer proceeds which is presented as interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and interest accruals
in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
(continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an asset are classified as operating leases. When a
contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in profit
or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’'s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host;
a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and
the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through
profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i. e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The
Group considers that there has been a significant increase
in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 3
years past due.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default (other
than trade receivables) when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s financial liabilities include financial liability at
fair value through profit or loss, other payables and accruals,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, loans from the
ultimate holding company, payables for compensation fees
and put option liability.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the
initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9
are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or
loss, except for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s
own credit risk which are presented in other comprehensive
income with no subsequent reclassification to profit or loss.
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement
of profit or loss does not include any interest charged on
these financial liabilities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised costs (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.

Put option liability

After initial recognition, put option liability is subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are not
restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
year, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

e inrespectof deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Government grants (continued)

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss
over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in IFRS 15.

Tuition and boarding fees are generally received by colleges
and high schools in advance prior to the beginning of each
academic year, and are initially recorded as contract liabilities.
Tuition and boarding fees are recognised proportionately over
the relevant period of the applicable program. The portion of
tuition and boarding payments received from students but
not earned is recorded as contract liabilities and is reflected
as a current liability as such amounts represent revenue that
the Group expects to earn within one year. The academic
year of the Group’s schools is generally from September to
June of the following year.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

24 FESTHHREMEGE)

W SR (A
EFEaHWE (&)

ERABERMEMDLAEFIRMES
—FREVEMIMBTELETRE
HMEARMRE - WasiRE W e EANERE
A8 WEMRIREALE - BRARRE
RRAEBERPESKFRIGR B
REXZTRIR - ERHNBESHMEND
I AR B ER R B — F RV E AR 75 A
=7 AHNETEINPERBERER
MEERAWBERFHNEFRZ -
PR EEB PR E Mk RTS8
BR—FHEERNEGHNMNE  XHE
1% 5K P B R B 755 i &5 2R R SR 155 A 17
BEE  TEHEARERSNTE
{EL AR -

—RIBERT » RERSHNREEFHEA
RITREWIMEBE MEREE @ TRRERA
BHAE - BEREBEENEBRIEN
MERHINZLL IR - ERBENEE
FAETEBEARBREREY B D ABRFIES )
AR YARBRERT  ZERAHEH
BRAE BB N — FRMIA Y o
AEBERNSEF—RHIARBET
—F6H1E -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &



-

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

The Group charges fixed rate service fees based on tuition
fees received by cooperative universities, where the Group
generally is acting as an agent and its performance obligation
is to provide e-platform for distance education operated by
cooperative universities. Revenue from distance education
services are recognised on a net basis.

The Group also operates education centres and provide
educational support services. For these services, the Group
charges fixed rate service fees based on tuition fees received
by cooperative universities. The revenue is recognised as
gross basis as the directors of the Company considered that
the Group is acting as principals on the service provided.

Both service fees are recognised proportionately over the
periods of the applicable program. The portion of payments
received from cooperative universities but not earned is
recorded as contract liabilities and is reflected as a current
liability as such amounts represent revenue that the Group
expects to earn within one year. The academic year of the
Group’s cooperative universities is generally from January
to December.

Service income from teacher training services, online courses
services and examinations and assessments are recognised
in the accounting period when the services are rendered.

Commission income is recognised at the point in time when
the referred students enrolled at the overseas education
universities, with the tuition fees paid and upon the entitlement
of the Group to the commission income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Revenue from sales of books is recognised when the
purchaser obtains the possession of the books, being when
the books have been delivered to the customers, and when
the Group has the present right to payment and the collection
of the consideration is probable.

Revenue from other education business provided by the
Group is recognised when the relevant service is provided
or when goods are delivered.

The Group’s contracts with customers may include multiple
performance obligations. For such arrangements, the Group
allocates revenue to each performance obligation based on
its relative stand-alone selling price. The Group generally
determines stand-alone selling prices based on the prices
charged to customers.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised services to the
customer and the payment by the customer exceeds one
year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of
the transaction prices for the time value of money.

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income (continued)

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i. e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund
some or all of the consideration received (or receivable)
from a customer and is measured at the amount the Group
ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer. The
Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the
corresponding change in the transaction price) at the end
of each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. Further details of which are given in note
33 to these financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected
in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award,
as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The subsidiaries operating in Mainland China are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

24 FESTHHREMEGE)

BR G B BRI 5 (&)

I A E RN AT 3H - RIS A JE LD
REHEHERE - M= R % RN
R EMERARE TAER - B
S B R BEH EE N IER B R
BEm B T ERBN - 2R - W — IR
BB ELTHEH - LN REER
RIEE Rz S K - Bl E
FREN S FT HREN IS AR R I AN R A RN 2
gy (a0 E—BRArat) -

ATERRERTTERRSAEER
BN EE AR ) HO 38 A0 o

HittlES &
BASEHE

AEERPEAREZENNEARINE
B/AZ2E i M2 &ER T RER
& - R BEARELENMBARA
BETERAZFE—B DL AR REK
BETEIHR - HFRRIEH RRKSFT
R ENRERENR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &

¢



-

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)

Pension schemes (continued)

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i. e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB. Each entity
in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i. e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The Company incorporated in the Cayman Islands uses the
United States dollar as its functional currency. As the Group
mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is used as the
presentation currency of the Company. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of the Company
and certain overseas subsidiaries, which use currencies other
than RMB as their functional currencies, are translated into
the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated
at the closing rate.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures,
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Contractual arrangements

The Group exercises control over Chongging Yugangao,
Chongqging Yuecheng, Chongqging Electronic Information
College, Chongging Zhenzhi Real Estate Company Ltd.,
Chongging Yiersheng Education Technology Company
Limited, Chongging Yujingao Education Technology
Company Limited, Chongging Jierui Education Technology
Company Limited, Chongging Fanyun, Chongging Jiehan
Education Technology Company Limited, Shiji Kuangao
(Beijing) Investment Management Co., Ltd., Laoling
Minsheng Education High School Company Limited, Beijing
Minsheng Zhicai Education Technology Company Limited,
Doxue Network, Huixue Education, Huixue International,
Doxue Huixing, Beijing Mingyuan, Beijing Yierxue Education
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Yierxue”), Beijing Minsheng
Zhihe Education Technology Co., Ltd., Beijing Minsheng
Zhiyun Education Technology Co., Ltd., Beijing Minsheng
Zhixue Education Technology Co., Ltd., Beijing Fanyun
Education Technology Co., Ltd., Xiaoai Technology, Qingdao
Huizhong, Minsheng Online, Minyun Information, Minfu
Shenggiang and Umooc Online (the “Structured Entities”)
and enjoys economic benefits of the Structured Entities
through a series of contractual arrangements.

The Group considers that it controls the Structured Entities
notwithstanding the fact that it does not hold direct equity
interests in the Structured Entities, as it has power over the
financial and operating policies of the Structured Entities
and receives substantially all of the economic benefits from
the business activities of the Structured Entities through
the contractual arrangements. Accordingly, the Structured
Entities have been accounted for as subsidiaries during the
year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Current and deferred taxes

Significant judgement is required in interpreting the relevant
tax rules and regulations so as to determine whether the
Group is subject to corporate income tax. This assessment
relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a
series of judgements about future events. New information
may become available that causes the Group to change
its judgement regarding the adequacy of the tax liabilities.
Such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the
period that such determination is made. Further details of the
current and deferred taxes are set out in note 10 and note
30 to the financial statements.

Put option liability

Pursuant to the share purchase agreement in respect of
the acquisition of Leed International (“Share Purchase
Agreement”), between the date of the fourth anniversary and
the date of the fifth anniversary of the effective date of the
Share Purchase Agreement, Minsheng Vocational Education
Company Limited (“Minsheng Vocational Education”) will
grant a put option to the vendors. After Minsheng Vocational
Education grants the put option to the vendors, the vendors
will have the right to sell the shares of Leed International
held by the vendors to Minsheng Vocational Education,
and the exercise price will be calculated according to
the predetermined formula after the put option are being
granted (the “Put Option”). Significant judgement is required
in determining whether a present ownership interest exists
in the shares that are subject to the Put Option, so as to
determine the accounting treatment of the non-controlling
interest and the Put option liability. Management considers
that the Group has a present ownership interest over the
remaining 49% interests in Leed International since the
exercise price of the Put Option is determinable and the
Group can exercise right over these interests and enjoy
the related return. This assessment relies on estimates and
assumptions and may involve a series of judgements. Further
details of the Put option liability are set out in note 31 to the
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the year, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
goodwill was RMB2,338,424,000 (2021: RMB2,335,902,000).
Further details are given in note 15 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of the year.
The non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. Impairment exists when the carrying value of
an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
using key assumptions such as budgeted sales amounts
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. As at 31 December 2022,
the total carrying amount of non-financial assets that were
subject to impairment tests was RMB3,963,749,000 (2021:
RMB3,820,002,000).

Fair value of contingent consideration

The contingent consideration arising from business
combination was estimated using the discounted cash flow
model and Monte Carlo simulation model. These models
require the Group to make estimations about the expected
future profits, discount rate and volatility, and hence, they
are subject to uncertainty. Further details are included in
note 41 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their services and has two reportable
operating segments as follows:

(a) on-campus education
(b) online education

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit before
tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest income,
non-lease-related finance costs as well as head office and
corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group
basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at
the then prevailing market prices.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

HZE2022F12A31 A L EE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

4. REFWER (M)
On-campus
education Online education Total
REZE ERHE mct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR® TR ARBTR

Segment revenue (note 5) 2 ZBUER (FIFE5)
Sales to external customers & FINBEF 1,311,676 1,042,289 2,353,965
Intersegment sales DEPRISHE - 1,258 1,258
2,355,223

Reconciliation: R
Elimination of 73 #8584

intersegment sales (1,258)
Revenue g 2,353,965
Segment results DEDEE 520,846 202,822 723,668
Interest income B A 48,554
Corporate and other EREMARDE

unallocated expenses F (65,102)
Finance costs (other than MERA(HEAERE

interest on lease liabilities) ~ BR4M) (160,619)
Profit before tax BR A% A& A 546,501
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

4,

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

4. =B

On-campus
education

REHE
RMB’000
ARETT

PE ()

Online education

ERHAA
RMB’000
ARET R

Total

mct
RMB’000
ARBTR

Segment assets PEHEE 10,000,259 3,135,786 13,136,045
Reconciliation: #k -
Elimination of 2 B0 [ B WK TH £ 89

intersegment receivables (1,247,811)
Corporate and other rEREMKRDBREE

unallocated assets 68,347
Total assets BERE 11,956,581
Segment liabilities Pk 3=Ri 4,382,442 2,812,425 7,194,867
Reconciliation: #ER -
Elimination of 5 BRI S IR 8

intersegment payables (1,247,811)
Corporate and other TrERHEMRDEAE

unallocated liabilities 972,409
Total liabilities BEEE 6,919,465
Other segment information  H b5 I[EH
Share of profit of il NI

an associate (363) - (363)
Impairment losses REBEERRERE

recognised in profit or loss 12,282 4,484 16,766
Depreciation and WEREH

amortisation 171,505 132,591 304,096
Investment in an associate REE RN RIRE 2,063 - 2,063
Capital expenditure BEARRAX 312,823 42,834 355,657
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI EE ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. BEHIBER(ME)
On-campus
Year ended 31 December 2021 education  Online education Total
BZE2021F12A31BLEFE RE#E EEHE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT ARBTT
Segment revenue (note 5) 2 ZBUER (FIFE5)
Sales to external customers ~ $HE FINEBRF 1,251,502 1,142,510 2,394,012
Segment results D EDEE 620,792 138,940 759,732
Interest income IS ON 72,707
Unallocated income RABWA Rz
and gains 377
Corporate and other EREMADERX
unallocated expenses (42,080)
Finance costs (other than MERA(HEARBHNE
interest on lease liabilities) Broh) (128,935)
Profit before tax R AR A 661,801
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. BEHIBER(ME)
On-campus
education  Online education Total
RE#E EEHE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTTT AREFT ARBT T
Segment assets PEHEE 8,881,313 2,932,829 11,814,142
Reconciliation: #k -
Elimination of 2 B0 [ B WK TH £ 89
intersegment receivables (678,669)
Corporate and other TEREMKDIBREE
unallocated assets 302,321
Total assets BELE 11,437,794
Segment liabilities ABEE 4,389,641 2,086,475 6,476,116
Reconciliation: #ER -
Elimination of 5 BRI S IR 8
intersegment payables (678,669)
Corporate and other TrEREMRSEEE
unallocated Liabilities 851,312
Total liabilities BEeRE 6,648,759
Other segment information Hfth D &R
Share of loss of an associate JE(FE:Z A TEE 22 = 22
Impairment losses RIEBEERZREEE
recognised in profit or loss 11,828 (1,439) 10,389
Depreciation and WEREH
amortisation 165,729 100,507 266,236
Investment in an associate ~ REEEREHRE 1,545 = 1,545
Capital expenditure BEARRAX 685,111 64,285 749,396
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

During the year, all of the Group's revenue was generated
in the PRC and over 90% of its long-term assets/capital
expenditure were located/incurred in the PRC. Accordingly,
no geographical information is presented.

Information about major customers

No revenue derived from services provided to a single
customer accounted for 10% or more of the total revenue of
the Group during the year.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

4. BEHIBER(ME)
HhEEH

FA - AEE2BREENTEES -
MBBIO%M KRR E, ARG
RORBHTE o Bt - B2 5E R
BEHETEEFHEH

FR - WEKRERE—FPRERBEH
WaRE A EBEBWEE10%3A L -

5. Wi - HttWAR WS
BRAWREH DT

Note 2022 2021
gz RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTTT
Revenue from contracts EF& M
with customers
Tuition fees 25 1,204,604 1,155,390
Boarding fees FEE 107,072 96,112
Distance education services =2 E R
— platform services —F &R 365,200 371,718
Distance education services REZHE R
— educational support — BB FERE
services 387,818 426,338
Teacher training services RIS ) AR 7 84,817 69,982
Online courses services R IR 39,108 58,164
Commission income e A 27,914 46,865
Sales of books HEEE 27,014 29,359
Examinations and = S5 K&OBIEE
assessments 8,958 24,302
Other education business HM#HE %% 101,460 115,782
2,353,965 2,394,012
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

5. Wi - HthW AR W ()

Note 2022 2021
MisE RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Other income and gains HA A R as
Investment income from short- EAFEF AR 20
term investments measured  fEEIRE 2 LB WA
at fair value through profit
or loss 29,985 20,951
Fair value gain on contingent sKANREBZ AFEUKE
consideration 57,085 -
Rental income: HEWA -
Fixed lease payments EEHER K 18,500 24,988
Variable lease payments AEAENR 3,997 -
22,497 24,988
Bank interest income ERITH B UA 29,067 54,927
Interest income from a REWE A E R AT
company controlled by the 2 AINSIESEYRSR N
former shareholders of a
subsidiary 19,487 17,780
Government grants IR T R 27
— Related to assets —EERH 25,952 22,809
- Related to income R ONEL 77,694 73,117
Gain on disposal of items BREWE - KFEKEE
of property, plant and 5B 2 e
equipment - 1,002
Others Hib 18,803 34,320
280,570 249,894

The government grants are related to the subsidies received
from the local government for the purpose of compensating
the operating expenses arising from the schools’ teaching
activities and expenditures on teaching facilities. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to such

recognised government grants.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. Ua - HMUA K s ()
Disaggregated revenue information for revenue from EF XK 7 Bz &R

contracts with customers

Year ended 31 December 2022 B Z22022F12H831HLLFE
On-campus
education Online education Total
REHE ERHE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR%T R AR% TR
Timing of revenue e 25 HE R R
recognition
Revenue recognised BERF BB RER BN 7 -
over time:
Tuition fees 2% 1,204,604 - 1,204,604
Boarding fees EEE 107,072 - 107,072
Distance education services EEHE R
- platform services —FER% - 365,200 365,200
Distance education services &®E2HE R
- educational support —HE RS
services - 387,818 387,818
Teacher training services REmsE | AR 75 - 84,817 84,817
Online courses services ERRERY - 39,108 39,108
Examinations and Z 3 KORIY
assessments - 8,958 8,958
Other educational services — Ef#H A R - 101,460 101,460
Revenue recognised KRR —IF B2 7R A
at a point in time: WA :
Commission income Al A - 27,914 27,914
Sales of books HESHE - 27,014 27,014
1,311,676 1,042,289 2,353,965
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. Uz - HMUA K e ()
Disaggregated revenue information for revenue from EFEX a5 ENm &R (E)
contracts with customers (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021 EHZE2021F12A318ILFE
On-campus
Segments education  Online education Total
D REHE ERHE st
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARBFTT ARBT T
Timing of revenue e 25 HE R R
recognition
Revenue recognised BERF BB RER B 7
over time:
Tuition fees 28 1,155,390 - 1,155,390
Boarding fees FEE 96,112 = 96,112
Distance education services EEHE R
- platform services —FER% - 371,718 371,718
Distance education services EREHERH%
- educational support —HE RS
services - 426,338 426,338
Teacher training services REmsE | AR 75 - 69,982 69,982
Online courses services TR R IB AR TS - 58,164 58,164
Examinations and Z 3 KORIEY
assessments = 24,302 24,302
Other educational services — EA#E RH% - 115,782 115,782
Revenue recognised at a KRR —IF B2 7R A
point in time: WA :
Commission income BEWA = 46,865 46,865
Sales of books HEESE - 29,359 29,359
1,251,502 1,142,510 2,394,012
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
On-campus education

The Group’s contracts with students for college and high
school education programmes and boarding services can
be terminated anytime without compensation. Tuition and
boarding fees are determined and paid by students before
the start of each school year.

Online education

The Group’s contracts with cooperative universities and
other customers are recognised proportionately over the
service periods of the applicable program. The cooperative
universities and other customers are entitled to the refund
of payment in proportion to the service not yet provided.

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting year:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

5. W - HtbW AR W ()
REHE

AEBHEBEFARZRFHHERER
EERBEILNAH - AIRER TIAKLE
MERNERRE - REREBET
E’\%Eiﬁ'ﬂﬁéﬁf*"*&ﬂﬂfjiiﬁ

HERUE

AEEEAEREREREMEF ZEHE
KN A BEREA IR BAIR L PIRERR o
CREZ WS E ISR CE: 24 A EEE Y
RIEHEARFEHIARRE SR ©

NRINFER AR E REERL A ARE
FEMBRENABNRESE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARBTT
Revenue recognised that was T ATREHATAE LA B
included in contract liabilities B RS
at the beginning of the
reporting period:
Tuition fees 25 620,510 580,303
Boarding fees FEE 65,108 53,717
Distance education REHERGE
service fees 226,852 -
Teacher training services HENIE I RS & 43,582 -
Other education business HEMHBEES 30,508 3,710
986,560 637,730

No revenue recognised during the year related to performance
obligations that were satisfied in prior years.

FAMERINBEFETKBENEE
Hy i as
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. Wz - Hh AR Urss (&)
Performance obligations BAEE
The contracts for educational services are for periods of one HEREELABE—FES AT - FEE
year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction MR ELBIFEISFAERTT - WER
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. PEEZEHNABITAEONZ ZERE
H# R -
6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRELADGF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBEBRFEANEFR T3, (GEA)AT
(crediting): FBIRRES :
Notes 2022 2021
fitE RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTR ARETTT
Depreciation of property, 0% - BEREENE
plant and equipment 13 168,971 154,049
Amortisation of other intangible assets HEhEpAEEH 16 86,933 68,812
Lease payments not included in the Ve A \EERETER
measurement of lease liabilities HERHK 14(c) 15,726 11,303
Depreciation of right-of-use assets RREEERE 14(a) 48,192 43375
Auditor's remuneration T 4,900 4,900
Employee benefit expense (including EERMAX
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): (BEESM ()
Wages and salaries I8k#%s 613,964 443,084
Equity-settled share option expense INEREERBRERY 33 2,582 5,141
Pension scheme contributions (defined ~ R{kS &I (REMFETE)
contribution schemes) ** 167,423 89,793
783,969 538,018
Foreign exchange differences, net* RN EE 4,090 980
Impairment of financial assets: eREERE
Impairment of trade receivables® B SN IE R E" 21 8,722 5,518
Reversal of impairment of trade B RN R ERE
receivables” 21 - (1,439)
Impairment of financial assets included AR R « EfEKGERA
in prepayments, other receivables tEENSHEERE"
and other assets* 22 8,044 6,310
16,766 10,389
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 6. FMRBIATRA ()
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBERBATREF TR (BT A AT
(crediting): (continued) FIRBER (&)
Notes 2022 2021
s RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT
Investment income from short-term BRATE BRI ENEHRE
investments measured at fair value RERA
through profit or loss (29,985) (20,951)
Bank interest income SRITRIEIMA (29,067) (54,927)
Interest income from a company REMBARRRRAESIA AN
controlled by the former shareholders FEHA
of a subsidiary (19,487) (17,780)
Fair value loss from an equity investment ~ RATFE ABHHRIERE
at fair value through profit or loss* RNHEEE 21,164 15,830
Fair value loss from a loan to an associate st AEAIERBEERR
included in other non-current assets ATHEFENG THEL AN
measured at fair value* ERMATEEE 17,986 10,133
Fair value loss from short-term BATEA AR ENEERE
investments at fair value through profit ~ AFEEFE"
or loss* 4,787 -
Fair value (gain)/loss from contingent BATESABRNIAREBATE
consideration at fair value through (hz)/ BE
profit or loss* (57,085) 53,054
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of BRENE  BERERE D RER
property, plant and equipment and BEELER/ (W) 58
right-of use assets, net 1,385 (1,002)
Donation expenses BERAx 8,425 8,993
*  The exchange loss, net, fair value loss from financial assets at fair * EBEREEFE- - BATEFABENS
value through profit or loss and impairment of financial assets are REEATEBERESREERBA
included in “Other expenses, net” in the consolidated statement GEBEREMEERERAOI MY
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. SRR o
** There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group > WEERWERTHRAEEEREETR
as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. R AIRB HEFKTF o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

7. FINANCE COSTS

BE A

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARET T
Interest on bank loans and RITE R R E AL 1EFKF A
other borrowings 90,876 69,444
Interest on sale and leaseback 14L& EF 8
liabilities 21,130 7,458
Interest on loans from the REREIERARINERF B
ultimate holding company - 2,945
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFNE 3,121 1,629
Interest on put option liability — RhHHAEE EF 2 43,729 41,704
Interest on payables for B HEERTE
compensation fees 4,884 7,384
163,740 130,564

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383 (1)(a), (b), (c) and
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

EsHeE

RIE EMAR - FE R RHEPIZE383(1)
(@)~ (b)) c)R(HERAR(ERES
BANZERBR)ROIEHMEEZA
FEEFMEFBEWT :

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETFTT
Fees we 966 882
Other emoluments: HEai <
Salaries, allowances and e EMAREYHZE
benefits in kind 17,731 16,098
Equity-settled share option R EENRRERA
expense 1,668 3,412
Pension scheme contributions  E{R & st 155 124
19,554 19,634
20,520 20,516

Viiley  Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RA#E £FHRE A A
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

During the year, certain directors were granted share options,
in respect of their services to the Group, under the share
option scheme of the Company, further details of which are
set out in note 33 to the financial statements. The fair value of
such options, which has been recognised in profit or loss over
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements for the
current year is included in the above directors’ remuneration
disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

8. EEM=(®

FRETESREAQARBRE S
H AR B (AR TSI R FE R - 1878
#E— SR B R B A5 R M £33 o %
ERBER B AR BEMERNAF
BRI L B HREE - NEEMB®RER
FYIBRENAIXEEMERENR -

(a) BYHHTEE
REARBLIFATEEMNHN

during the year were as follows: ool (I N
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T ARBTTT
Mr. Chan Ngai Sang PRI 322 294
Mr. Yu Huangcheng REKITEE 322 294
Mr. Wang Wei Hung FHEREE 322 294
966 882

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2021: Nil).

RERN - HEEMBIIEHNITE
EEMNENE (20214 « #) o

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. EEM< (&)
(b) Executive directors (b) BITEE
Salaries, Pension  Equity-settled
ear ended BZ2022F allowances and scheme share option Total
1 December 2022 12A31ALEE benefits in kind  contributions expense  remuneration
#e 2R RikEE  EREEN
REMR G 7% BREER MemE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETR ARBTR AR¥TR
Mr. Li Xuechun TEELLE 4,528 - - 4,528
Ms. Zhang Weiping RETRT 7,314 - 1,030 8,344
Mr. Zuo Yichen ERRESE 3,743 139 288 4,170
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung MBREEE 1,737 16 288 2,041
17,322 155 1,606 19,083
Salaries, Equity-settled
Year ended BE2021F allowances and Pension scheme share option Total
31 December 2021 12A31BLEEE benefits in kind contributions expense remuneration
oo 2 BINGEE EZEER
REYHN & % BREER & 8%
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETTT ARET T ARETT
Mr. Li Xuechun FEERLE 4,069 - - 4,069
Ms. Zhang Weiping REFRT 6,624 - 2,134 8,758
Mr. Zuo Yichen rRELE 3,338 109 586 4,033
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung MBEEE 1,590 15 586 2,191
15,621 124 3,306 19,051
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8.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(c) Non-executive directors

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

8. EZME(H)
(c) H#HBITEE

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

Salaries,
allowances Pension Equity-settled
EZ20224 and benefits scheme share option Total
31 December 2022 12A31HILEE in kind contributions expense remuneration
E A= 3:11 BAEE LUEREEN
5§ L/ K BREER MemEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
Ms. Li Yanping T+ 409 - 62 471
Mr. Lin Kaihua* MFRHE A - - - -
409 - 62 471
Salaries,
allowances Pension Equity-settled
Year ended B Z=20214F and benefits in scheme  share option Total
31 December 2021 12A318LFE kind  contributions expense  remuneration
e 2R BA2EE EREER
REYH = R BREER Ak
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETF T AERBTF T AEETF T AEETFT
Ms. Li Yanping FREF L 477 - 106 583
Mr. Lin Kaihua MFHESE AL = - - -
477 - 106 583
*  Resigned as a non-executive director on 21 December 2022. * R2022F12A21B B EERNITE

=o

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year and
no remuneration was paid to any of the directors by
the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

RER BEESHENXRBN
REMFHMOLE - RAKER
BEREMNESIAHEMERMA
SR DA R 5 [B1% A 52 b 35 B
e -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022 include four (2021: four) directors,
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining one
(2021: one) highest paid employee who is neither a director
nor chief executive of the Group, are as follows:

IEBREHFMES

HE2022F12A31HILFE - A& E
hE&E=EHES BFENE(20214F -
MEZ)EE HEESHFMFBESN E
M HIEE8 o FNE R — & (20216 + —
ZIEAEBESNIEFETHAR
B = B B E B O E GBI T ¢

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Salaries, allowances and e RMLREDNZ

benefits in kind 1,016 1,194

Equity-settled share NEREENBREEZR
option expense - 123
1,016 1,317

The remuneration of the non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employee fell within the following band:

FEZNFTETRABNRSFHE
EHMNFTHIEE :

Number of employees

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001#&TE
1,500,000/ 7T

EEAE
1 1

During the year, no highest paid employees waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration and no remuneration was paid
by the Group to any of the five highest paid employees
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

250 Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A
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10.

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

The Company, Minsheng Education Company Limited,
Minsheng Education Services Company Limited, Minsheng
Education Development Company Limited, Minsheng
Vocational, Minsheng Secondary Education Company
Limited, Minsheng Education Technology Company Limited,
Minsheng Education Information Company Limited and Leed
International Education Group Inc., which were incorporated
in the Cayman Islands, are not subject to income tax.

Minsheng Education Development (Hong Kong) Company
Limited, Hong Kong College of Technology and Business
Limited and Leed International Education Group (China)
Limited, which were incorporated in Hong Kong, were subject
to profits tax at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned
in Hong Kong during the year.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and
the respective regulations, except for Chongging Li’ang
Education Services Company Limited and Chongging Pass
Education Services Company Limited that are subject to
preferential tax rate of 15% under the Western Development
Tax Incentive Scheme, Doxue Network, Huixue International,
Open Distance Education, Minsheng Online and Umooc
Online that are subject to preferential tax rate of 15% for
high-tech enterprises, and Chongqging Huizhi, Silk Road,
Huixue Education, Doxue Huixing, Beijing Mingyuan and
Xiaoai Technology that are subject to the preferential rate
of 20% under the Notice Regarding the Implementation
on Tax Reduction/Exemption Policies for Small and Micro-
sized Enterprises (SEMs), the companies of the Group which
operate in Mainland China are subject to Corporate Income
Tax (“CIT”) at a rate of 25% on their respective taxable
income.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

10. FRE#
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

10. INCOME TAX (continued)

According to the decision (the “2016 Decision”) of the
Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress on
Amending the Private Schools Promotion Law ( (2B AR
REAGEBZESUNBR<FEARKNBIRPHE (REE
>HIRTE) ), which was promulgated on 7 November 2016,
and came into force on 1 September 2017, private schools
are no longer being classified as either schools for which
the school sponsor (s) require reasonable returns or schools
for which the school sponsor (s) do not require reasonable
returns. Instead, the school sponsor (s) of a private school
may choose for the school to be a for-profit private school or
a non-profit private school, with the exception that schools
providing nine-year compulsory education must be non-profit.

On 14 May 2021, the State Council released the
Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting Private
Education of the PRC ( (REAREMBIRMRHBRELE
Kl ) with an effective date of 1 September 2021 (the
“2021 Implementation Rules”). The 2021 Implementation
Rules are the detailed implementation rules of the Law for
Promoting Private Education of the PRC. Pursuant to the 2016
Decision and the 2021 Implementation Rules, a private school
may enjoy the preferential tax policies, which are not defined
under neither the 2016 Decision nor the 2021 Implementation
Rules, as stipulated by the related government authorities
and a non-profit school may enjoy the same tax policies as
enjoyed by a public school.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A
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10. INCOME TAX (continued)

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, except
for one school which was incorporated as a limited liability
company, the PRC Schools are in the process of classification
registrations and remain as private non-enterprise units.

Considering that the relevant taxation policy regarding schools
for which the school sponsor (s) require reasonable returns
or schools for which the school sponsor (s) do not require
reasonable returns remains unchanged and no further new
and specific tax implementation regulations are announced, if
the school nature has not yet been changed, in accordance
with the tax compliance confirmations obtained from the
local tax authorities and the Group’s external legal advisor’s
comments on the preferential tax treatments for the current
year, the PRC Schools did not pay corporate income tax
for the income from formal educational services and have
enjoyed the preferential tax treatments during the year of
2022. Following the completion of the registration of the PRC
Schools as for-profit private schools, the PRC Schools may be
subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 25% in respect
of service fees they receive from the provision of formal
educational services, if they do not enjoy any preferential tax
treatment. As such, significant impact on the Group’s profit
and loss may arise.

The major components of the income tax expense for the
Group are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8])
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10. FR&% (&)
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2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT

Current — Mainland China BN EA — AR B KB
Charge for the year* FRNEE 35,971 50,652
Overprovision in prior years BT FEEERE 4,118 (724)
Deferred (note 30) EFE(KI7E30) (6,860) 4,294
33,229 54,022

* Current tax charged for the year amounted to RMB29,266,000
(2021: RMB34,710,000) was in relation to the online education
business during the year.

* FREEH ENEAR TR A A R # 29,266,000
Jt(20214 : A R #34,710,0007T ) * Jb
BERNERAEEEER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rates for the countries in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled

10. FriS%i (&)

RAARRARE KBS M B AR R
EERZEEREGTE 2 BB AR ME
Rz HRERERBERTRGTHE 2R

to the tax expense at the effective tax rates is as follows:

ERHRMT

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AR®TTT
Profit before tax R 75 Al s A 546,501 661,801
Tax at the statutory tax rates REEDERGFE A 165,972 207,774
Lower tax rate enacted by local & BB 2 BRF =X
authority (29,362) (34,642)
Effect of withholding tax MEARIDIE L ERGELR
on earnings remitted or Mz Bz &
anticipated to be remitted by
subsidiaries 15,874 18,657
Adjustments in respect of TBEFEREBRIBEL 2 A
current tax of previous years 4,118 (724)
Income not subject to tax BARBA (136,204) (148,409)
Income tax arising from BRIEF BN AESE 2 FTISHE
deemed interest income 1,245 1,081
Expenses not deductible for PRIHFLF X2
tax 1,441 5,584
Effects of preferential tax BB E 0 B K e e
benefits on Super-Deduction FXSZ BB A B 3% & AR hnat
of research and development IR E L (H:+)
expenses of subsidiaries
incorporated in Mainland
China (Note) (11,607) (8,267)
Tax losses utilised from R EAEERBEER
previous years (378) -
Tax losses not recognised AERZ TIBEE 22,130 13,168
33,229 54,222

Note: According to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, enterprises
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to
claim 175% of the research and development expenses so incurred
as tax deductible expenses when determining their assessable
profits for that year (“Super-Deduction”).

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A
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11.

12.

DIVIDENDS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

Proposed final - RMB3.76 cents
(2021: RMB4.32 cents) per
ordinary share

BREARBREESRERR
AE#3.767 (
4.32%)

2021%F : ARHE

1. RE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETTT
158,744 182,274

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 4,217,720,000 (2021: 4,217,720,000) in issue during the
year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

REFNBEIR R B AFARRIBRR
REERRBFEREG EHERTTAIE

B °

12. BRARIEERESRAEARGERER

BREAZF IRES AR L BRER
RFEABGFERMNRFABETER
R% N ¥ F 15 2k4,217,720,0004% (2021
1 4,217,720,0000% )51 & -

H ZE2022F 22021 F12 A31H L FE -
AEEREDBITHEEEE LR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 12. BAREERESEEAELERAER

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (continued) (&)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share BRERANEERRN 2 TE THIRE ¢

are based on:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARKET T

Earnings 2
Profit attributable to ordinary RARGTEEREARETRF 2
equity holders of the parent, BRREBRERTE ARG

used in the basic and i )
diluted earnings per share
calculation 490,066 576,886
Number of shares
RoEA
Shares 5
Weighted average number AR ESRERRBIZFRE
of ordinary shares in issue BT ERAR MBS E

during the year used in the
basic earnings per share
calculation 4,217,720,000 4,217,720,000

Jisley  Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B £H AR A A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W% BEKRRZRE

Furniture and Computer ~ Construction
Buildings Motor vehicles equipment equipment in progress Total

B nE BARKE By ERIR #it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTz  ARWTR  ARBTR  ARET:

31 December 2022 20205128318
At 1 January 2022: R202251A18 :
Cost A 2,773,761 39,724 699,863 140,364 515,760 4,169,472
Accumulated depreciation gt (585,901) (26,557) (413,767) (81,619) - (1,107,844)
Net carrying amount BEFE 2,187,860 13,167 286,096 58,745 515,760 3,061,628
At 1 January 2022, net of R2022E1A1A -

accumulated depreciation il Hpi 2,187,860 13,167 286,096 58,745 515,760 3,061,628
Additions AE 16,896 2,273 55,598 7,764 239,400 321,931
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 35)  AEHIB A (FixE3s) - 150 4 - - 154
Disposals t (3,336) (99) (451) (66) - (3,951)
Depreciation provided EninERE (o)

during the year (note 6) (90,067) (2,710) (57,294) (18,900) - (168,971)
Transfers 25 294,935 - 1,642 - (296,577) -
At 31 December 2022, net of R2022%12A318 -

accumulated depreciation il Hpi 2,406,288 12,782 285,595 47,543 458,583 3,210,791
At 31 December 2022: HR2022%E12A318
Cost A 3,081,032 40,764 746,421 136,229 458,583 4,463,035
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (674,744) (27,982) (460,832) (88,686) - (1,252,44)
Net carrying amount FEFE 2,406,268 12,782 285,595 47,543 458,583 3,210,791
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13. Y%  BMERRZE(E)
Furniture and Computer  Construction in
Buildings  Motor vehicles equipment equipment progress Total
g7 nE BARRE Bl EETR h

RMB000 RMB1000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTL  ARBTR  ARBTL  ARMTR  ARBTL ARETR

31 December 2021 20215127318
At 1 January 2021: R01F1A18 :
Cost A 2,520,003 33,480 605,504 97,360 175,530 3,431,967
Accumulated depreciation ZitE (508,230) (23,377) (361,179) (68,167) - (960,953)
Net carrying amount BEFE 2,011,773 10,103 244,415 29,193 175,530 2471014
At 1 January 2021, net of R2021E1A1A -

accumulated depreciation il 201,773 10,103 244,415 29,193 175,530 2471014
Additions AE 21084 1929 75,260 17,233 576,585 692,091
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35)  AUEHEA A (FH335) 1462 4,29 16,852 34,656 = 57,266
Disposals hE (742) (33) (3,535) (384) - (4,694)
Depreciation provided during the ~ EATER & (fite)

year (note 6) (76,727) (3,128) (51,145) (23,049) - (154,049)
Transfers 2% 231,010 - 4,249 1,096 (236,355) -
At 31 December 2021, net of R2021%F12A318 -

accumulated depreciation il Hpi 2,187,860 13,167 286,096 58,745 515,760 3,061,628
At 31 December 2021: 2021127318 :
Cost A 2,713,761 39,724 699,863 140,364 515,760 4,169,472
Accumulated depreciation Zithe (585,901) (26,557) (413,767) (81,619) - (1,107,844)
Net carrying amount FEFE 2,187,860 13,167 286,09 58,745 515,760 3,061,628
The Group’s buildings are situated in Mainland China. REB 2 EF A BAEE -

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



13.

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Certificates of ownership in respect of certain buildings
of the Group in Chongqing,
Shandong, the PRC with a total net carrying amount of
approximately RMB350,874,000 at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB379,066,000) have not yet been issued by the relevant
PRC authorities. As at the end of the year, the directors were
still in the process of obtaining these certificates.

located Yunnan and

At 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s buildings with a
net carrying amount of approximately RMB82,680,000 (2021:
RMB84,422,000) were pledged to secure bank loans and
other borrowings (note 28).

Sale and leaseback liabilities

The carrying value of the Group’s buildings and equipment
held under sale and leaseback liabilities as at 31 December
2022 was RMB176,968,000 (2021: RMB102,579,000). Leased
assets were pledged as security for the related sale and
leaseback liabilities.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for items of property and
plant used in its operation. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire the leased land from the government with
lease periods of 50 to 70 years, and no ongoing payments
will be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases
of buildings generally have lease terms between 2 and 6
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) KEEERAHA ()
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets AREBFEAFRAEEEMNRETE
and the movements during the year are as follows: REEIT
Buildings Leasehold land Total
BF HE+ i et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT AR®BT AR®T
As at 1 January 2021 7202161818 18,161 822,273 840,434
Additions NE 34,763 - 34,763
Acquisition of subsidiaries YR A A
(note 35) (BfzE35) 27,486 = 27,486
Depreciation charge FEEHR (25,371) (18,004) (43,375)
As at 31 December 2021 M2021F128318 K
and 1 January 2022 2022%F1A1H 55,039 804,269 859,308
Additions NE 31,941 - 31,941
Acquisition of a subsidiary W — BB AR
(note 35) (BF3E35) 126 - 126
Disposal HE (6,139) = (6,139)
Depreciation charge TEBH (29,728) (18,464) (48,192)
Exchange gain or loss b 5 e S B 1E 186 - 186
As at 31 December 2022 ®2022F12H31H 51,425 785,805 837,230

V45)0F  Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RA#E £FHRE A A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) KEBERAFEA (HE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under FRHEEBENREEGIAGE
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the RITREMERBET) REHNM
movements during the year are as follows: T
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTTT
Carrying amount at 1 January 1A 1B&REE 52,421 17,726
New leases HHEE 31,941 34,763
Additions as a result of EWEH B AR EERRE
acquisition of subsidiaries (PfF5E35)
(note 35) 123 28,440
Accretion of interest FRERNFTERE
recognised during the year 3,121 1,629
Payments B (29,347) (30,137)
Disposal k= (6,813) =
Exchange gain or loss b 3 W ok B 18 48 —
Carrying amount at 31 M12A31BMEEE
December 51,494 52,421
Analysed into: DWW -
Current portion mENER D 22,653 14,635
Non-current portion IERENE 28,841 37,786
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEBENIHBERS TR
note 42 to the financial statements. WERMIFTA2H 5, -
The Group has applied the practical expedient to all FR REBBERBATEERE
eligible rent concessions granted by the lessors for FERRBEEARE THERE
leases of certain plant and equipment during the year. FENHER THMEESERES
B=E -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) KEEERARHA (E)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (c) REERERBANSHENT :

relation to leases are as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETTT
Interest on lease liabilities HE&ENE 3,121 1,629
Depreciation charge of EREEENEER
right-of-use assets 48,192 43,375
Expense relating to EEEER AR
short-term leases (included (FFASHERKA)
in cost of sales) 7,329 3,694
Expense relating to leases of REEEEREMNERAFRYX
low-value assets (included GFATTHAEX)
in administrative expenses) 8,397 7,609
Total amount recognised in MBS R A AR
profit or loss 67,039 56,307
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d) HENRREBERERYBH
36(b) to the financial statements. WEKMTFE36(D) ©
The Group as a lessor KR EE R H A
The Group leases certain of its buildings under operating ARERBEEHERFHEE TE
lease arrangements. Leases for buildings were negotiated for FEFNNBERABENTF 2=
initial terms ranging from one to three years. Rental income FeoFARKREEINESBARA
recognised by the Group during the year was RMB22,497,000 K 1522,497,0007t(20214F = A R ¥
(2021: RMB24,988,000), details of which are included in note 24,988,0007T) * A BARHIE B M 155
5 to the financial statements. KMEES ©

62 Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A
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14. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI EE ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

14. HE(HE)

EEFESHEA(E)

R2022%12A31H » ANEBREEE
Gis =IRVAORNEIE: €=
B RN A AR BR B ERN T ¢

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETTT
Within one year —FR 13,942 16,319
After one year but within two years ~ —FR&ERBEA 1,685 4,392
After two years but within MEZRBR=FA
three years 1,126 1,384
After three years but within =FERERAFA
five years 775 1,169
17,528 23,264
15. GOODWILL 15. HE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETT
Cost: B
At 1 January »1A18 2,335,902 1,782,894
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35) Yt EEHI B & (FH3E35) 2,522 553,008
At 31 December »W12A31H 2,338,424 2,335,902
Accumulated impairment: RERE -
At beginning and end of year REMNRER = -
Net carrying amount: AREHE :
At 1 January ®1A1R 2,335,902 1,782,894
At 31 December M12A31H 2,338,424 2,335,902
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

15. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combination is allocated
to the following cash-generating units for impairment testing:

15. && (&)
R Rl (5 R

BRRGAHKBENEEDEEN TR
TELEBNGETRERR

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R AR®ET T

Chongaing College of BEAXEER

Humanities, Science and

Technology 303,937 303,937
Leed International BEEE 1,381,162 1,381,162
Doxue Network R 97,795 97,795
Open University Online BALLR 391,095 391,095
Xiaoai Technology INERHE 66,725 66,725
Minsheng Online RERFEZ 86,483 86,483
Umooc Online BRRER 8,705 8,705
Shanghai Zhiaosheng LB RE 2,522 —
2,338,424 2,335,902

The recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit has
been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
a five-year period approved by senior management.
The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A
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15. GOODWILL (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

15. &E (&)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) AR (E)

2022

Chongging
College of
Humanities,
Science and

20225

Open
Leed Doxue  University Xiaoai  Minsheng Umooc  Shanghai

Technology International Network Online  Technology Online Online  Zhiaosheng

BRA
IHEER

BEsE #2482  ExER MERR REER  BERER  LEERB

Sales amount (annual ~ HESE

growth rate) (FEERE) 5% 3% 5% 6% 12% 3% 8% 5%
Long term growth rate REHER%E 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3%
Pre-tax discount rate AT 15% 16% 20% 18% 2% 20% 17% 15%
2021 20214

Chongging
College of
Humanities,
Science and Leed Open University Xiaoai Minsheng
Technology ~ International  Doxue Network Online Technology Online  Umooc Online
BRAX
Mgk BiEcE Hems BN INERIE REER  BREAER
Sales amount (annual ~ HELE

growth rate) (FEERE) 6% 3% 6% 3% 1% 12% 10%
Long term growth rate ~ REERE 3% 3% 3% 3% 2% 3% 3%
Pre-tax discount rate ~ BEAIHTIR% 16% 16% 20% 18% 29% 20% 16%
Budgeted sales amounts — The budgeted sales amounts are TEEHESHE —TAEHEE N EARES
based on the historical data and management’s expectation HIENEERBHARMBHNIEE ME
on the future market. F o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

15. GOODWILL (continued) 15. & (&)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) A2 E R ()
Long term growth rate — The long term growth rate is based REER - REER R TIENFELH
on the historical data and management’s expectation on the EREEEHRKTISHNBEMET

future market.

Pre-tax discount rate — The pre-tax discount rate reflects TATELIE R — P R A A g 8
specific risks relating to the relevant unit, which is determined AN ERRE NEREREEE
using the capital asset pricing model with reference to the beta BEAW2E B HBEENAE TAEREZ
coefficient and debt ratio of certain publicly listed companies EITEREEEN AR LT ARNAERE
conducting business in the PRC education industry. KEETF

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market REBReEABMNTSERKLIE
development of the cash-generating unit and discount rate K FIAE ERETE THEBEEIN
are consistent with external information sources. ERORAE—E -

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. HttBEEE

Computer Customer
software Brand name relationship Total

ERRMH mEER EFH% At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFR AR®TR ARBT ARBTFR

31 December 2022 2022F12A31H

Cost at 1 January 2022, net of 72022F1 B 1 HAY
accumulated amortisation B - B BT

B 54,134 297,252 168,047 519,433
Additions NE 1,785 - - 1,785
Amortisation provided during 4 PO 8% (Ff36)
the year (note 6) (13,606) (32,760) (40,567) (86,033)
At 31 December 2022 2022F12A31H 42,313 264,492 127,480 434,285
At 31 December 2022 20224 12A318 :
Cost BA 113,771 327,600 198,500 639,871
Accumulated amortisation Rt (71,458) (63,108) (71,020) (205,586)
Net carrying amount RHFE 42,313 264,492 127,480 434,285

VAsley  Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RA#E £FH R A A
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

17.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI EE ()

31 December 2022

16. HthEFLEE (&)

2022F12A31H

Computer Customer
software Brand name relationship Total
B3 G R XPRE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETT AREFTT AREFTT
31 December 2021 2021F12H31H
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of 720211 B1HE)
accumulated amortisation B - HIBR Rt A 7,300 21,817 3,889 33,006
Additions NE 22,542 - - 22,542
Acquisition of subsidiaries e =N EES))
(note 35) 32,597 305,600 194,500 532,697
Amortisation provided during 4 P 8% & (K1 556)
the year (note 6) (8,305) (30,165) (30,342) (68,812)
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12H31H 54,134 297,252 168,047 519,433
At 31 December 2021: 20215128318 :
Cost BA 111,986 327,600 198,500 638,086
Accumulated amortisation R (57,852) (30,348) (30,453) (118,653)
Net carrying amount REFE 54,134 297,252 168,047 519,433
INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. REEZEATRE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T AR®ET T
Share of net assets DEEERE 2,063 1,545

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

17. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

17. REFE R TRE (R
A RRIREIRIT

ercentage

interest

25.6% Commercial schools offering higher
education programmes

P
Place of of ownership
Particulars of incorporation/
equity/ interest registration and attributable to
held business the Group Principal activities
FisERE,/ AR, rEEEEREE
Bz wHE ERLE S 3 BRzZEA FEXH
Beacon International Ordinary shares Republic of
College PTE. LTD. * Singapore
L R S AIE

RESSHEER CHEER

* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm
of the Ernst & Young global network

The above investment is indirectly held by the Company.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s associate that is not individually
material:

Y ORREBEBLKRLKERBB B K
BRFIER

AEREBARREEITA

TREMAEE BB S WIFERN

Share of the associate’s profit/ DIREE R B FEREH,

(loss) for the year (E18)

Share of the associate’s total SMEBE N F Z2ERE
comprehensive income/(loss) (E18) s

Aggregate carrying amount of AEBRBEARIREZ
the Group’s investment in an RERE
associate

BN R 2 BB E R
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
363 (22)
363 (22)
2,063 1,545

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



18. OTHER INVESTMENTS/FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

18. HittiRE "RAFEFABENESH
&E

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Current assets MENVEE
Short-term investments measured & AFEEF AR EH
at fair value through profit or 52 HAI (i)
loss (i) 29,455 204,400
Contingent consideration FARREB(HFE41)
(note 41) 148,300 -
177,755 204,400
Non-current assets ERBEE
An equity investment measured at ZAT ARG ERRERE
— fair value through profit or — R AFERFT ABE()
loss (ii) 14,176 33,139
Contingent consideration SRR AE (FI7E41)
(note 41) - 63,400
14,176 96,539
(i)  Short-term investments measured at fair value through profit or (i) BEAFEFAEBEZFENEH
loss ®E

Short-term investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss is wealth management products with expected rate of return
around 1.8%-2.8% (2021: 4.0%) per annum for the year. They
are denominated in RMB. The return on the wealth management
products are not guaranteed, and hence the contractual cash
flows do not qualify for solely payments of principal and interest.
Therefore, they are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
None of the investments are past due. The fair value is based
on cash flow discounted using the expected return based on the
contract and is categorised within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

(i) An equity investment at fair value through profit or loss (ii)
An equity investment at fair value through profit or loss represents
a listed security. The fair value of the listed security is determined
based on the closing price quoted in an active market. It is
categorised within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

FRIEAFEFABSAFENEHEE
B—EEHERE AT FLH1.8%-2.8%
(20214F : 4.0%)H BB EE Gh © RZEE fh A
AREEHE - LB ERH B REER
B WMAESGHNREREBATEER R
BARBNMR - Alt - ZERIZATE
FTABEAE - ZIEWEGH - N F
BERERSREBBAEGH AEE Y FEH
EHAIRFE  URARNFEERNE
e

RO EFABRNRERE
BAFEFARGSHRBERE R EHE
%o ERBHEHAFEDNENERTS
PR mEEE - AR AR FEEBMRN
E
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 19.

Prepayments for acquisition of Yo + 5 AR TR 5RIE

HtERBEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT

land use rights 164,575 164,575
Prepayments for acquisition of a IR PR KA RKTER K

private school and companies 3| 22,789 18,360
Long-term prepayments, other REATEIFIE ~ HAbEKGRIE

receivables and other assets R HAME E 3,624 4,248
Loan to an associate — Hong BTHBERR(BARECELS

Kong Nang Yan College of BrERAT)HER

Higher Education Limited (note  (Fi&E(i))

(i) - 17,169
Loan to a company controlled BB AR RREATIESIA

by the former shareholder of a a8 E SR (FaE(ii))

subsidiary (note (ii)) - 400,000

190,988 604,352

Notes:
(i)  Theloan to an associate (Hong Kong Nang Yan College of Higher

Education Limited) is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

it

(i)

RTHZRR(BERCELERARA
AMERSEER 28 - WRERE

B NRIMFHIBWT

Place of Percentage of

incorporation/ ownership interest

Particulars of registration and attributable to the

equity/ interest held business

Group Principal activities

FsERE/ AR, AEBEERE
2 FE M K 363 b 2 BESCASL FEXH

Hong Kong Nang Yan Membership Hong Kong
College of Higher
Education Limited*

BRECELERARAR KA 0

mn
o>
oy

0%** Education institution providing

higher education

RUESEHE CHARE

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (continued)

20.

Notes: (continued)

*

*%

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network

The Group’s subsidiary, Hong Kong College of Technology
and Business Limited (“Hong Kong Technology and
Business”), is one of the two members of Hong Kong Nang
Yan College of Higher Education Limited (“Hong Kong Nang
Yan”). Pursuant to the Articles of Association of Hong Kong
Nang Yan, no portion of the income and property of Hong
Kong Nang Yan shall be transferred directly or indirectly, by
way of dividend, bonus, or otherwise, to any member of it.
Hong Kong Technology and Business is entitled to appoint
four members to the school management committee of Hong
Kong Nang Yan which represent 29% of the voting rights.

(i)  The loan to a company controlled by the former shareholder of

a subsidiary is secured by the pledge of a 49% equity interest
in Leed International. The maturity of the loan is in 2023 and the
balance as at 31 December 2022 is included in “Prepayments,

other receivables and other assets” in note 22 to the financial

NOTES TO

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

19. Hb3EREEE ()

faE

(i)

(%)

*ORBREBERBRKRLKERBEZ S
—ERREZ

> AREBZHBARETEIEZSRE
RAR([ERBIESEKR]) B HEE
CEFERERAR(EBEEC])
MEKE R Rz — o IREBE BT
ZRBERRMA - BAEECZWA
MR EARE - Ak HE
AEEKEESRTHEMAKER
Al BB IHBRAEREBEC
WEREEZEBSEMENEKE -
HERIREEN29% °

BFHEABRBREESAARMNER
NGB EEEIO%RIEBIER - % E
FRI2023F FHY - 1R20224F12A31HK)
EHRMATIEHRERMF2 [ TBAFIE - &
foEM R R E M EE IR -

statements.

INVENTORIES 20. #E
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFIT
Consumables SHAE M 3,040 2,014
Books £4 6,963 9,576
10,003 11,590

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. EZEWRRE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTTT
Trade receivables B SRR 707,591 621,069
Impairment B (23,454) (15,038)
684,137 606,031
On-campus education KEHE

The Group’s students are required to pay tuition fees and
boarding fees in advance for the upcoming school year,
which normally commences in September. The outstanding
receivables represent amounts related to students who have
applied for the delayed payment of tuition fees and boarding
fees. There is no fixed term for delayed payments. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of
the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to a large number of diversified students,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A

AEENSLEFRN TESFNEE R
EEE  BE-—RNNLARK - WAX
NEWFAEEE AR EEHRRBE R
EEENSLERNSE - TENRAL
EREEHR - REBRNBRIES RS
T REKEIE - WRIREERR - SRE
BETEHEEBHGR - BN XA
NARENE 5 RBGRIRY I ABUEX
Mo EE - A B|EXEEARE
oo REEIWESEE 5 EUIRAER
LHHEME R M E AR - B
YRR RRE ©



21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Online education

The trade receivables mainly represent amounts related
to service fess due from cooperative universities. There
is no fixed term for delayed payments. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting year, based on the transaction date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

1. EZRWFEE)

HERAE

B 5 R IGRIAE B R IWA (ER AR BV BR
15 B R RE AR IR o JEIE 5 3R & T 2
PR o ZANER B BUN M ERARHE B R S LR
R - WREEERR - eRERET
HEERUER ARBEYESEES
FEN IR AR A TR A m e E M
RER - EZRUGFKARRE -

BERSEEE - B2 5ABRNBE
B B SRRSO
mF -

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMTF T AR®ET T

Within 1 year —FR 641,237 600,169
1 to 2 years —EMF 42,297 5,206
2 to 3 years ME=F 364 572
Over 3 years =FUE 239 84
684,137 606,031

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Online education (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

21. BZRWFRE(E)
HERHE (&)

B SRWFIERESERENZESH N
N

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T R AREFT

At beginning of year F4] 15,038 489
Acquisition of subsidiaries &AL by NG| - 10,470
Impairment losses (note 6) BB EE (fizEe) 8,722 5,518
Reversal (note 6) B E (FiFE6) - (1,439)
Write-off T 8 (306) —
At end of year FR 23,454 15,038

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for the
expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables.

On-campus education

Trade receivables from students are considered to be
credit-impaired when the students drop out from the tuition
programmes and are assessed individually for lifetime ECL
provision.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A

7R 5% [ e R A5 4 73 0 ot BB R B s e
ERIZERFT R 2 R EEEET R &
B BRI AR B 5 R NFUAR
A2 RAEMEEERE -

REHE

MEERE - RIRESEENE S5 RUGK
BRI R EERE - MRERIEERF
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21.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

On-campus education (continued)

The Group assessed the expected losses on trade receivables
from students grouped based on the ageing of the trade
receivables, considering the historical default experience
and forward-looking information, as appropriate. The Group
uses debtors’ ageing to assess the impairment for students
in relation to its college and high school education because
these customers consist of a large number of students with
common risk characteristics that are representative of the
students’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. The loss rate applied is minimal.
Generally, trade receivables are written off when the student
drops out from the tuition programmes and are not subject
to enforcement activity.

Online education

The Group assessed the expected loss on trade receivables
from cooperative universities grouped based on the ageing
of the trade receivables, considering the historical default
experience and forward-looking information, as appropriate.
The Group uses debtors’ ageing to assess the impairment
for cooperative universities in relation to distance education
because these customers consist of numbers of cooperative
universities with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the cooperative universities’ abilities to pay
all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

1. EZRWFEE)

REHE (&)

AEBEEKREZENE FRUGIAR
EHERER - TIRIEE S EUGIRM AR
BETTOM - WEBBEEL R LA
AR (RRE) - AEBEBESAK
BRORFEER R ST HE REFHRE
RARBEOER - ZEBPREREZ A
ERARFIENEE  RRBEEXN
BN RIENRES - FIEABEXE
e —MBENT EELRER B
JE W TRIR T DA SH b BB /R AE 1T 98 I AT T
TEE o

HEHRHE

AEEFHERE A 1R E 5 RUGK
AMWTAHRERR - DRIEE 5 BEIR
MRRERETTOE - W EEBEELCE
KATEEER (NIER) - AEBRE
A BRE R LB IZHE 1HRE & YRR ARG
ERE - ERRBEEOGK  ZEFETFP
BIERZ A g BRRF LA R -
REREBAERRINAA RN FIAN

&k
BE ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 22. AMNRE  HtEWREREMGEE
ASSETS
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T AR®ET T
Prepaid expenses AR 3,854 3,201
Advance to staff BB THIB 26,444 20,650
Advance to third parties BNE=HHRIE 35,971 37,119
Loan to third parties BYE=ZFHNER 6,408 37,449
Interest receivables FEUUF B, 5,518 6,442
Deposits e 21,289 16,991
Receivables from companies REREEGIFIERIRFTIE
controlled by non-controlling i~ 7] &9 FE W IE
shareholder of Minsheng Online 32,000 32,000
Loan to a company controlled BTHBRRRERBREZESNA
by the former shareholder of a A E R
subsidiary* 400,000 -
Other receivables H U kI8 65,993 58,202
Other current assets HEMREEE 3,809 5,314
601,286 217,368
Impairment allowance VERI=EE L (35,197) (27,152)
566,089 190,216
*  The loan to a company controlled by the former shareholder of a * KBTHBRARRBREEHNARMNE R
subsidiary is secured by the pledge of a 49% equity interest of ThiE A E R ENEEIFR40%RIEIERIER ©

Leed International.

VALsy  Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RA#E £HFHRE A A
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22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

ASSETS (continued)

Except for certain receivables for which the counterparty
failed to make the demanded repayment and the Group has
made a 100% provision (“default receivables”), the balances
will be settled within 12 months and has no historical default.
The financial assets included in the above balance were
categorised in stage 1 for measurement of ECLs at the end
of the reporting period. In calculating the expected credit
loss rate, the Group considers the historical loss rate and
adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data. During the
current year, except for the default receivables, the Group
estimated the expected loss rate for the other receivables
is minimal (2021: minimal).

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Long ageing balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
fact that the Group’s deposits and other receivables relate
to a large number of diversified counterparties, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
deposits and other receivable balances. Other receivables
are non-interest-bearing. The movements in the provision for
impairment of deposits and other receivables are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

22. ANRE  HtBEWHREREMEE

(&)

BHFHRREREREAEED 2R
IR BB R A T R UGRIA (] 8 X B R
REDIN BEHRBR12[E 8 A& -
HBEWEA RS - LlERAEs
NEREERB SRS HRAERYE
EEENFIRER Rt BERYREES
BXRE - AREZEREEBEER - XH
AR ERBUEBEERE L AR - RASF
B - BRIEREUWGRIRSN - NEBAF
H YR IR B0 TR BB 18 R K (2021
F:AK) e

IR R R B e 15 S EL R S IR MR
HIBRRIES] - DOREEERR - FREeE
ENERBHSREEBTHIERM - 2R
REBNRE K EAMRUGIRS R AR
FRAMADBME T - MABBEKREE
R EEF - NEEWEREIZS M HA
FEWGRIR R A A m R E S
FRIEAR - R EUIATNG R - e R
H i R F IR ER B BT ¢

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%BTR ARETT

At beginning of year F4) 27,152 17,208

Acquisition of subsidiaries WM B A A 1 3,634
Impairment losses recognised BRI EEIE (HI7E6)

(note 6) 8,044 6,310

35,197 27,152

The individually impaired other receivables relate to
counterparties that were in financial difficulties or were in
default in payments and no receivable is expected to be
recovered.

(B RRE B0 E fh FE A TR IR Th 348 B IS IR
BESCORBEN B F oML BFRHE
WIS AT [E]
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/RESTRICTED BANK

23. RERFASEEY SRERTER

DEPOSITS
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AR®ET T
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTT4S 84 3,477,088 2,936,243
Less: restricted bank deposits  J& : SZBRHIERITIFEK - (186,016)
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIReEEY 3,477,088 2,750,227
Cash and cash equivalents T3 EEENRE RS
denominated in: ZEWY :
- RMB —AR¥ 3,200,501 2,443,905
— Hong Kong dollars (HK$) —BTT 26,289 163,623
— United States dollars (US$) -7 250,298 142,699

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’'s cash and
cash equivalents denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB3,200,501,000 (2021: RMB2,443,905,000). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised
to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily

bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A

MR2022F12831H REBWIE &
RBEEBMAARETE  BAR
#3,200,501,0007T(20214F : A B #&
2,443,905,0007T) - ARBETAIBHH
BMAHMER - Am - RIEPBEKED
COMEE B IGH1) R 4ETE - BIE RFE
ERBRE) AEEEATRABEE
RITHARE LB AEME R LAETTIN
PEZE TS ©
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/RESTRICTED BANK
DEPOSITS (continued)

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations imposed
by the relevant PRC government authorities or the terms
and conditions set out in the relevant government grant
agreements, proceeds from government grants are required
to be deposited into designated bank accounts and restricted
to be used in the relevant projects. As at 31 December 2022,
such balances were RMB63,356,000 (2021: RMB56,920,000).

24. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

23. RERFASEEY SRERTER
(&)

BEHEFEBRNE REENEBE
BERXNBEABRTH S BRI
PR BTSSR IEATK
RIEERITERFIREEA@ER F
F - R2022F12A31H » BEE&E%H A
AR ¥63,356,0007T (20214 : AR
56,920,0007T ) °

24. BEZRMNANIER

BEREHRK B BEN RS
A EI R I -

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARET T

Within 1 year — 4K 914,985 790,112
1to 2 years —EMRF 16,934 12,259
2 to 3 years ME=4F 7,696 3,410
Over 3 years =EE 4,605 1,357
944,220 807,138

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled on 30-60-day terms.

BHRNREAR/REH—RN0E60
FHRAEE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

25.

Short-term advances received  [a] & /= YCER A

BRAME
BHREFBNT ¢
2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT

from customers 7 HTET 0
Tuition fees 28 631,833 620,510
Boarding fees TEE 70,185 65,108
Distance education service RIEHERBE

fees 151,825 226,852
Teacher training services A EE ) AR 7S 37,117 43,582
Other education business Hib B %R 18,647 30,508

909,607 986,560

On-campus education RE#E

Contract liabilities mainly include short-term advances
received from students in relation to the proportionate service
not yet provided. The Group receives tuition and boarding
fees from students in advance prior to the beginning of each
academic year. Tuition and boarding fees are recognised
proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable
program. The students are entitled to the refund of payment
in proportion to the service not yet provided.

Online education

Contract liabilities mainly include short-term advances
received from cooperative universities and other customers
in proportion to the service not yet provided. Service fees are
recognised proportionately over the service periods of the
applicable program. The cooperative universities and other
customers are entitled to the refund of payment in proportion
to the service not yet provided. The gross amount due to
customers for the provision of services is expected to be
settled within one year.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RE# B S£H B R A A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. HttENRIEREER
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Current portion: BIEAER 5 -
Accrued bonuses and other FEFTIEAL R H A8 B & F
employee benefits 95,844 120,257
Payables for catering services BN ESIRIE A 4,156 6,954
Payables for purchase BEYE  BERKZENEMNK
of property, plant and B
equipment 299,304 365,119
Payables for management fees ‘&2 B EN7KE 21,124 20,340
Payables for compensation JEfHIE & A
fees 60,000 60,000
Miscellaneous expenses U ER B2 A O 3 TR B S
received from students (note CEIO)
(i) 102,465 71,479
Tuition fees received from W ER 2B A m 2 2 (B a(ii)
students (note (ii)) 212,753 280,945
Other tax payable HAu i 11,730 17,907
Payables for audit fee EiTERENFIE 2,925 3,125
Payables for interest JESFI B 1,855 1,240
Refund liabilities RREE 1,282 542
Consideration payable for XG0 ENRE
business combination 57,225 156,215
Payables to the non-controlling  FE{Fff B X B SR A AL 3R
shareholder of subsidiaries IR 20,000 20,000
Other payables H At &< 5RIE 75,026 53,882
965,689 1,178,005
Non-current portion: JEBNHREL 5 -
Payables for compensation JEfHEE A
fees - 55,116

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable on

demand.

HitEARIBERRE  WIRBREE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

27.

Notes:

(i)  The amounts represent the miscellaneous expenses received from
students which will be paid out on behalf of the students.

(i)  The amounts represent the payment of tuition fees from students
received on half of cooperative universities. The balance would be

remitted to cooperative universities within one year.

26. HitENREAERETERM(E)

firax -

() SBRA/RMBANMIERX  BREL

S e

(i) SERBEINNEZE  DHREERR
B © #EARBR —FNEZSERR -

DEFERRED INCOME 27. EEWA
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Government grants BT B
At beginning of year F1 283,363 284,182
Grants received B W1 B 85,510 94,652
Acquisition of subsidiaries U BE BT B =) (BT #E35)

(note 35) - 455
Charged to profit or loss BBk (F5E5)

(note 5) (103,646) (95,926)
At end of year FR 265,227 283,363
Current BEA 22,832 22,891
Non-current JERNHA 242,395 260,472

265,227 283,363

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



27. DEFERRED INCOME (continued)

On-campus education

These government grants are related to the subsidies received
from the local government for the purpose of compensating
the operating expenses arising from the teaching activities
and expenditures on teaching facilities of the Group. Upon
completion of the operating activities and the related projects,
the grants related to the expense items will be recognised as
other income directly in profit or loss and the grants related to
an asset will be released to profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset.

Online education

These government grants are related to the subsidies received
from the local government for the purpose of reimbursements
of expenditure spent on research and developments projects
of the Group. Upon completion of the operating activities and
the related projects, the grants related to the expense items
will be recognised as other income directly in profit or loss.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

27.

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

IEAEW A (F8)
REHE

ZERF AP ER AN BB EEFEL
R BB R BB R S FTERER
EHRFWER M ARE - EK 25D
KARRATR B FERR - SRR B ARREAY
e EEENERERREMUA
MESEGHENMISREEHEEN
HEEF A R FE AR AR -

HERAE

% U R B B AN S B T B 0R B T SE
FITVESR $H 0 & MU BUT WCER O i B B A o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28. FTERITREMMER
2021
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity ~ RMB'000 (%) Maturty RMB000
BRAIZC%) L N SO B (%) g ARET
Current B
Bank loans - secured  $F{TEH —BHF 3.7-6.3 2023 99,650 3.9-6.3 2022 120,681
Current portion of ~ REIR{TEFAME
long- term bank BH-BHER
loans - secured 2.25.5 2023 299,113 2.2-55 2022 30,549
Current portion of ~ RERITEZAEN
long- term bank 5 - mER
loans - unsecured 2.7-4.9 2023 49,219 2.0-2.7 2022 42,757
Other loans - At &5 — EEA on demand on demand
unsecured 15.0-24.0 REX 6,144 15.0-24.0 BEX 6,144
Current portion KB ER M
of long-term BH-BHER
government loans -
secured 3.5 2023 2,000 315 2022 2,000
Current portion of ~ HEBBEMHNEHHH
lease liabilities (Bt 14(b))
(note 14(b) 4849 2023 22,653 4849 2022 14,63
Current portion of &% R BB
sale and leaseback %
liabilities 6.7-7.4 2023 119,272 71-1.3 2022 78,953
598,051 295,719
Non-current FHH
Bank loans - secured  SR{TEH - BHA 2255  2024-2028 1,111,188 2255 20232028 1,055,313
Bank loans - RITER-BEH
unsecured 2.7-4.9 2024 487,887 2.0-2.7 2023-2024 495,071
Government loan BRER-BHA
-secured 3.5 2032 22,000 35 2032 24,000
Lease liabilities (note  FE&E(FizF14(b))
14(b)) 4.8-4.9 2024-2026 28,841 4849 2023-2026 37,786
Sale and leaseback ~ E%EHEE
liabilities 6.7-7.4 2024-2026 109,567 7.1 2024 71,038
1,759,483 1,683,208
2,357,534 1,978,927

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28. stEHITREMER(E)

(continued)

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Analysed into: DT :
Bank loans repayable: JEEBIRITE
Within one year or on —FZRNHIRER
demand 447,982 193,987
In the second year E-F 767,243 148,840
In the third to fifth years, E=ZFNTF  BEMEFBEER
inclusive A 831,832 1,401,544
2,047,057 1,744,371
Other borrowings repayable:  FEEEEMERK -
Within one year or on —F 2 ARIREK
demand 6,144 6,144
Government loan repayable: JEEBBNER :
Within one year or on —FZAHIRER
demand 2,000 2,000
In the second year F4F 2,000 2,000
In the third to fifth years, FE=ZFNF  BEMEBER
inclusive A 6,000 5,000
Beyond five years HBiE A F 14,000 17,000
24,000 26,000
Lease liabilities: HEARE
Within one year or on —FZAFIRERK
demand 22,653 14,635
In the second year F_4F 13,502 12,855
In the third to fifth years, FoEFHF  EEMEEEL
inclusive A 15,339 24,931
51,494 52,421
Sale and leaseback liabilities: &% RIARE :
Within one year or on —F 2 AFIREK
demand 119,272 78,953
In the second year F_F 70,457 71,038
In the third to fifth years, FoZFRF  2RMERE
inclusive ER 39,110 -
228,839 149,991
2,357,534 1,078,927

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

28.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The Group’s loan facilities amounted to US$28,240,000 (2021:
US$28,240,000), all of which have been utilised in 2022.

Certain of the Group’s bank loans and government loans are
secured by: (i) mortgages over the Group’s certain property,
plant and equipment and certain leasehold lands, which had an
aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting period of
approximately RMB82,680,000 (2021: RMB84,422,000); (ii) the
pledge of a 51% equity interest of Chongqing Li'ang Industry
Company Limited, the pledge of a 60% equity interest of Chongging
Minsheng Education Management Co., Ltd and the pledge of a
100% equity interest of Laoling Minsheng Education High School
Company Limited; and (iii) the pledge of a 100% mortgage of
Doxue Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

The carrying value of the Group’s buildings and equipment held
under sale and leaseback liabilities as at 31 December 2022 was
RMB176,968,000 (2021: RMB102,579,000). Leased assets were
pledged as security for the related sale and leaseback liabilities.

The Group’s other loans are unsecured, bear interest at rates
ranging from 15.0% to 24.0% (2021: 15.0%-24.0%) and are
repayable on demand.

Except for the bank loans of RMB532,549,000 and RMB632,822,000
(2021: RMB541,251,000 and RMB603,651,000) as at 31 December
2022, which are denominated in HK$ and US$, respectively, all
borrowings are in RMB.

Pursuant to the share retention agreement ancillary to the loan
agreement with International Finance Corporation, Mr. Li Xuechun
and Minsheng Group Company Limited, being the controlling
shareholders of the Company, are required to perform certain
specific performance obligations.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RE# B S£H B R A A

28. FTERITREAMMERE)

MEE

(a)

A& B W E KEE 528,240,000% T
(20214F : 28,240,000 7T) * 2 E X
FEECN2022F A -

AEBOHETRITER KRBT EZH()
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FR102022912 431 H A R #532,549,000
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R#5641,251,0007T % A K#603,651,000
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29.

30.

OTHER LONG TERM LIABILITY

According to the share purchase agreement, the school
campus of Dianchi College of Yunnan University, which is
owned by Dianchi Co., shall not form part of the acquisition
(the “Non-acquired Assets”). After the completion of the
acquisition, the Group has the right to continually use the
Non-acquired Assets for free until a new campus of the same
size is established by Dianchi College of Yunnan University,
and meanwhile the Company has the obligation to transfer
the Non-acquired Assets to Leed Education Holding Limited,
National Education Holding Limited and Hyde Education
Holding Limited (the “Vendors”) with all taxes and charges
arising to be borne by the Vendors. As such, the Group
considered that the fair value of the Non-acquired Assets
should be recorded as a payable to the Vendors.

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during
the year are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

29.

30.

BRI EE ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

HttRBEE

RIBERDBE W - RN AFERD
ERAERELSRNRE T EEKKE
EEN B ([FWBEE]) - WES
K% NEEREEERERXRAIE
WHEEE BETMASRENSREK
RIERENFTRE - AFRARBEE
7% JE UL BB & EE ¥ :& T-Leed Education
Holding Limited * National Education
Holding Limited&Hyde Education
Holding Limited ([EJ 1) + EA®FT
BMENERBABETARE - Bt - AF
ERBIFWBEEEN RN TERIRER
NEHFIE -

IEFER R

FREEHBREREEZSWT

Deferred tax liabilities BEHEEE
2022 20224
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Withholding acquisition of
taxes subsidiaries
A U B B R
ARMEEND
Sk FEAE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T AR®T T
At 1 January 2022 202241 A18 31,749 116,428 148,177
Deferred tax charged to FRRIBRIIKRA
profit or loss during RIER IR (FIEE10)
the year (note 10) 15,874 (19,789) (3,915)
Gross deferred tax R2022F12 831 HHY
liabilities at 31 BETHIBB EESE
December 2022 47,623 96,639 144,262
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

30. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

30. JEERIE (&)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued) FEEHEEE(E)
2021 20214
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Withholding acquisition of
taxes subsidiaries Total
BRI s R A
NEmEENA
A FEFE HEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR®ET T ARET T
At 1 January 2021 7202151 H1H 13,092 3,856 16,948
Acquisition of g4l h) =N
subsidiaries - 125,324 125,324
Deferred tax charged to  FARIBEFNM%HELF
profit or loss during IH(FFEE10)
the year (note 10) 18,657 (12,752) 5,905
Gross deferred tax MR20216F12 831 HRYIE
liabilities at 31 ERTA R EARRE
December 2021 31,749 116,428 148,177

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

30. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 30. EERIIE (&)
Deferred tax assets BEAEFHBELE
2022 20224

Accrued
liabilities
and future  Provision for
deductible impairment of

expenses assets Tax losses Total
BB ER AR
AHEEX EERERE BIEEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% TR AR%T R ARET R AR TR
At 1 January 2022 202241818 329 5,139 5,139 10,607
Deferred tax charged  FRMNIBZINERHE
to profit or loss BRI (M
during the year 10)
(note 10) (329) 676 2,598 2,945
Gross deferred 20229124318
tax assets at 31 R IEE ER
December 2022 5] - 5,815 7,737 13,552
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

30. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

30. JEERIE (&)

Deferred tax assets (continued) BEHIEEE (&)
2021 20214
Accrued
liabilities
and future Provision for
deductible  impairment of
expenses assets Tax losses Total
JE&t B 8 BORK
AR  BEAEER HIEEE fast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT ARBFT
At 1 January 2021 120211518 = = = =
Acquisition of G- =YN]
subsidiaries 3,458 3,526 2,012 8,996
Deferred tax charged ~ FRAREREIMRAEL
to profit or loss BE(HEE10)
during the year
(note 10) (3,129) 1,613 3,127 1,611
Gross deferred K20215F12A31H
tax assets at 31 REETIAEER
December 2021 | 329 5,139 5,139 10,607

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RE# B S£H B R A A
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30. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recognised relevant
deferred income tax liabilities of RMB47,623,000 (2021:
RMB31,749,000) on earnings anticipated to be remitted by
certain subsidiaries in the foreseeable future. Other than the
amount recognised in the consolidated financial statements,
deferred tax has not been recognised for withholding taxes
for the earnings of approximately RMB2,535,703,000 at 31
December 2022 (2021: RMB1,890,523,000) expected to be
retained by the PRC subsidiaries and not to be remitted to
a foreign investor in the foreseeable future. In the opinion
of the directors, such remaining earnings will be retained in
Mainland China for the expansion of the Group’s operation,
SO it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such remaining earnings in the foreseeable future.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had tax losses arising
in Hong Kong of RMB180,090,000 (2021: RMB47,749,000),
which are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
The Group also had tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB220,119,000 (2021: RMB151,115,000), that will expire in
one to ten years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

30. JEERIE (&)

EAHELE (&)

#2022¢12H31E| AEBFA TH B

A A TEEA S PA °] R % 2R EE ) 60 BRI RER
MHERERERAEARA7,623, ooo
7z<2021¢ AR #31,749,0007T ) °

PERA B RS TR R FER R ZRIBSN 5@2022
F12A318 - WELF KB A 7R
RBRETERA R RETINHIEEE
B & R K B H 40 A R #52,535,703,000
JL(20214F : AR ¥1,890,523,0007T ) 7%
RIELERTE - EERE ﬁF%ﬁ%Tﬁ‘Jﬂ
EREPEAEARBREAEES
Atz EHB A ﬂﬁ’éjﬁﬂrﬂ(—fﬁu
DIRZEHR T BT o

AR B RAERFIR R EBTE RS
M2 o

R2022F12A318 * AEBEBTBE
A IR B 18 A A R #180,090,0007T
(20214 : A R#¥47,749,0007T ) @ A]
H|BEAEE LR EEN AR AE
JERBEEF o NEBM P B ARREETRESE
FiJE E548 A R 220,119,000 (2021
F: AR#151,115,0000) * BEFH
BHEEER—Z2TFRNER - TRARE
HARERTRF - ARZEN BT
EEAEE—BREHE BRAWEA 6
B REIRBIBEENERTRF -

M ER S EIBEREEHEEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

31.

32.

PUT OPTION LIABILITY

The financial liability for the Put Option is recognised at the
present value of the expected amount payable of RMB981.5
million upon exercise of the Put Option (if being granted)
assuming that the purchase will take place between the date
of the fourth anniversary and the date of the fifth anniversary
of the effective date of the share purchase agreement in
respect of the acquisition of Leed International. Such present
value is calculated as RMB944.5 million (2021: RMB900.7
million) with a discount rate of 4.75% (the published People’s
Bank of China benchmark rate). Further details are set out
in note 3 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

31.

32.

ARG ERE

LN ERABERRA (W
BT ETEEEERENREBARYE
981,500,0007CHIREER © EHRK
BEHRNKEDEEENROEE HE
EHBHEENATFERAREERR
FEAIPREELE BEBRERER
K475% (BB A RIBITAM R EEF
)& B ARM944 500,0007T (2021
% : AR #900,700,0007T ) ° # —#
FBEH NI FEHRERIFES ©

&N

Shares
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T AR®ETTT
Authorised: JETE ¢
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares  #20229F12A318H)
of US$0.00001 each as at 10,000,000,000% & A% T
31 December 2022 (2021: {£0.000013 ) E 3@ A
10,000,000,000 ordinary (20214 : 10,000,000,000
shares) A% @A) 747 747
Issued and fully paid: BT R
4,217,720,000 ordinary shares 2022912 B31BH)
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 4,217,720,0000% & 8 i%
4,217,720,000 ordinary shares) (20214 : 4,217,720,000
AE AR ) 322 322

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RE# B S£H B R A A



32.

33.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 32. BRA(H)
Shares (continued) R (4&)
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital RABINRAEENEEZ T ¢
is as follows:
Number of Share
shares in issue capital
ERITRAHE [} &S
RMB’000
AR®T T
At 31 December 2021 and R2021F12A318 &
31 December 2022 2022412 A31H 4,217,720,000 322
Share options BRE
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share AR E a8 AR BT 81T R
options issued under the scheme are included in note 33 to R FEIBES R B 7SRRI FEI3A o

the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME 33. HERfELE

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) RAArREEERETE(TE]) - H
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible BHAMEREEKINESIELERA
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s BERSEERTHE R EZE - 5ER
operations. The Scheme became effective on 2 March 2017 20173A2E AN - BRIESITEUBE
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in B3] - BHZABRRRBEERTF -

force for 10 years from that date.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. BRI E(E)
The exercise price of share options is determinable by the BRENTEERESSET ' BE1E
board, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal BERATHREE()ROEE (i) T
value of a share; (ii) the Stock Exchange closing price of the R D A EE PR AR Y B AR B ST P AY U i
Company'’s shares on the date of offer of the share options; & R(i)ANR AR MR EREE T B H
and (iii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Al AL B 5 B R X ey EH U m(E -

Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer.

(i) Movements in share options (i) BEREZE
The following share options were outstanding under the FERNE2IIE T A TR M R 1T
Scheme during the year: (C
2022 2021
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options exercise price options
MEFTEE BRENE LSl BikEzs
HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
SRET v} BRAT T
At 1 January M1A1R 1.49 65,250 1.48 71,250
Forfeited during the ~ FRVRI
year 1.42 (500) 1.25 (6,000)
At 31 December W12A31H 1.49 64,750 1.49 65,250

VAZl4y Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RA#E £FHRE A A
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(ii) Outstanding share options

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:
31 December 2022

Number of options Exercise price*
BREHE e
’000 HKS$ per share

i BRER

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI EE ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

33. BRAESTE (&)
(i) RITEBIKHE

R E BRE RITERBRENTT
EERITERINT

2022F12A31H

Exercise period

7,000 1.39 31 August 2018 to 30 August 2023 201848 431H 202348 A30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2019 to 30 August 2024 20198 A31HE2024F8 A30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2020 to 30 August 2025 20208 A31H 202548 A30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2021 to 30 August 2026 202158 H31H 202658 A30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2022 to 30 August 2027 20228 A31HE2027F8 A30H
5,550 1.66 27 August 2019 to 26 August 2024 20198 427HZE2024F8 A26H
5,550 1.66 27 August 2020 to 26 August 2025 202098 427HE2025F8 4261
5,450 166 27 August 2021 to 26 August 2026 202198427 HE2026F8 4261
5,450 1.66 27 August 2022 to 26 August 2027 202298 A27H 202748 A26H
5,450 1.66 27 August 2023 to 26 August 2028 2023F8 427HE2028F8 4261
300 1.42 19 August 2020 to 18 August 2025 202058 H19R £202558 A 18H
300 1.42 19 August 2021 to 18 August 2026 202198 419H£2026F8 A 18H
200 1.42 19 August 2022 to 18 August 2027 20228 A19H £2027F8 A4 18H
200 1.42 19 August 2023 to 18 August 2028 2023F8419H £2028F8 A 18H
200 1.42 19 August 2024 to 18 August 2029 202448 A19HZ2029F8 A 18H
300 1.22 21 August 2021 to 20 August 2026 20218 A21HZE2026F8 A20H
200 122 21 August 2022 to 20 August 2027 202268 A21H 202748 A20H
200 122 21 August 2023 to 20 August 2028 202398 421HZ202848 A20H
200 122 21 August 2024 to 20 August 2029 2024F8421HZE2029F8 A20H
200 122 21 August 2025 to 20 August 2030 20258 421HZE2030F8 A20H
64,750
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(ii) Outstanding share options (continued)

31 December 2021

33. BRAERTE (&)
(i) RITEBREE)

2021%12H31H

Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period 18
BhEse 6B
‘000 HK$ per share
T BRET
7,000 1.39 31 August 2018 to 30 August 2023 201848 H31H£202348 4308
7,000 1.39 31 August 2019 to 30 August 2024  2019F8 A31H £20244F8 4308
7,000 1.39 31 August 2020 to 30 August 2025 202058 H31HZ2025%8 A30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2021 to 30 August 2026 202148 A31H £2026%8 4308
7,000 1.39 31 August 2022 to 30 August 2027 20228 H31HE2027F8 H30H
5,550 1.66 27 August 2019 to 26 August 2024 20198 F27 A E202448 H26H
5,550 1.66 27 August 2020 to 26 August 2025 2020F8 H27 H£2025%8 A26H
5,450 1.66 27 August 2021 to 26 August 2026 202198 527 HE2026%F8 H26H
5,450 1.66 27 August 2022 to 26 August 2027 20228 527 A E202748 H26H
5,450 1.66 27 August 2023 to 26 August 2028 2023F8H27H£2028%8 H26H
400 1.42 19 August 2020 to 18 August 2025 202048 A 198 £2025F8 A 18H
400 1.42 19 August 2021 to 18 August 2026 2021483198 £2026F8 A 18H
300 1.42 19 August 2022 to 18 August 2027 202248 319H £2027F8 A 18H
300 1.42 19 August 2023 to 18 August 2028 20238 H19H £2028F8 A 18H
300 1.42 19 August 2024 to 18 August 2029 202448 H19H Z£2029F8 4188
300 1.22 21 August 2021 to 20 August 2026 202148 H21H£2026F8 A20H
200 1.22 21 August 2022 to 20 August 2027  2022F8H21AE 202748 H20H
200 1.22 21 August 2023 to 20 August 2028 20238 H21H 202848 A20H
200 1.22 21 August 2024 to 20 August 2029 202488 A21H%2029F8 A20H
200 1.22 21 August 2025 to 20 August 2030 202598 H21H Z203068 A20H
65,250
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment * AR A TTE (B A R AR s AT AR 31T
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes AN TR AN i fE L g B L 5
in the Company’s share capital. o

76 Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RE# B S£H B R A A
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(ii) Outstanding share options (continued)

At 31 December 2022, the share options outstanding
under the Scheme were divided into five tranches at
their respective grant dates. Generally, the first tranche
vests in one year after the grant date while the remaining
tranches vest in the subsequent four years each. There
is a five-year exercise period for each share option
granted under the Scheme.

At 31 December 2022, the Company had 64,750,000
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 64,750,000 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital
of HK$5,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB4,470)
and share premium of HK$97,044,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB86,686,000) (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Company had 64,750,000 share options outstanding
under the Scheme, which represented approximately
1.56% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

(iii) Fair value of the share options

The Group recognised a share option expense
of HK$2,960,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB2,582,000) (2021: RMB5,141,000) during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

33. BRAESTE (&)
(i) RITEBREE)

R2022912A831H @ sF &I T %
TEEREZESENREAE
SAEAELK . BEME @ F—
HAREBELBBHE—FARFS -
H R 5 Rl R & MFE & F5
BosrElETRESERENSS
REMITER o

202212 A318 » ARQ A& E|
I8 T R 17 5 B IR ¥ /64,750,000
Do BMBARABERFHR AL
o BEIOTERTEBERESS
B 1 2%64,750,0000% A 1 7] I @
A% - 00 A% A85,00078 ST (#E & R
HARE447070) A R IR0 & B
97,044,000 T(HER VAR
#86,686,0007T ) (R FBRFE1TH
%)

RZEVHEHRERENLEZA - K
NAIFFEIE T ARITHEERE
64,750,000 * {H AN 2 RN % A
EBITRINAI1.5% °

(iii) FEIRE R -FlE

7N 2 @ A E 2022912 A31H 1k
5 JZ 7 3R B8 IR A 22,960,000/
T(HHE R ARK2,582,0007T)
(20214 : AR¥5,141,0007T) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

34. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for each of the years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages
155 to 156 of the financial statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the capital
contribution premium from its then shareholders.

Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the relevant laws in the PRC, the Company’s
subsidiaries in Mainland China shall make appropriations
from after-tax profit to non-distributable reserve funds
as determined by the boards of directors of the relevant
PRC subsidiaries. These reserves include (i) the general
reserve of the limited liability companies and (ii) the
development fund of schools.

(i) In accordance with the Company Law of the
PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Group which are
domestic enterprises are required to allocate 10%
of their profit after tax, as determined in accordance
with the relevant PRC accounting standards, to
their respective statutory surplus reserves until the
reserves reach 50% of their respective registered
capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in
the Company Law of the PRC, part of the statutory
surplus reserve may be converted to registered
capital, provided that the remaining balance after the
capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered
capital.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A

34. %5

(a) F*E£H

AEBERSFNHFHEELAES
SR A BIHRKRFE155H = 5F156
BHGAEREEHRET -

(b) EXfE

AEBNERNFHESE SRR
REVEEHE -

(c) ZERE

BRIBEFEEBEE  AARF
AEMNKHBARIBERSEESS
ETNSEAERBBENERE
T RFEEEDS ZEHEES
FE()VE R & R B — R EEE (i)

BRVERES °

(i) BREB(REARLFMEAR A
E) AEEETHWEBARA
WERE EHREFBTP
et ERMETRHZE
FM10%E R EZBMNETE
BREHE EZREEIS
Bl E AB50% - EFA
(PEAREMBERRDE
HETRHINBERT  HH
EERBFEBE T ER AT
B FIRREBRFTERNEH
THRBATERZIMELRD
25% °



34. RESERVES (continued)

(c) Statutory reserve (continued)

(i) According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
private schools that require reasonable returns are
required to make appropriation to the development
fund of not less than 25% of the net income of the
relevant schools as determined in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the
PRC. The development fund is for the construction or
maintenance of the school facilities or procurement
or upgrade of educational equipment.

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Year ended 31 December 2022
Acquisition of Shanghai Zhiaosheng

On 28 July 2022, Open Distance Education, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity
investment agreement with CIIC Technology Group Co., Ltd
(PERIREBAR AR, pursuant to which Open Distance
Education agreed to acquire 51% equity interests in Shanghai
Zhiaosheng at a total consideration of RMB8,750,000. After
the completion, Open Distance Education will hold 51%
equity interests in Shanghai Zhiaosheng.

Shanghai Zhiaosheng is an agency company which mainly
engages in providing immigration and education consultation
services. The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy to form a good integration and synergy with the
Company’s existing education business. The acquisition
has been accounted for using the acquisition method. The
acquisition was completed on 23 December 2022. Since
then, Shanghai Zhiaosheng has become a subsidiary of the
Company.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

34. f##E (M)

(c) ZEEf#E(HE)

(i) MEBHEBEHEEZEEZR F
2RERHNRMERAR
BHREARSARAGERN
12 B8 ERF WA D R25%
RERRED BERES
FAE B2 Sl S BRI -
KB RIBHRERTTAR o

35. £KA6

B F2022F12531 HILFE
WefE £ E R

20227 H28H * BB (ABAR
ANEENBAR)EAEREERE
PRAFIRI S EREIRE R - Bt - B
HERBWE LGS RBES1%RE - 2
KRB A ARES,750,0007T ° R 5 T
& BISHEKITE LBERES1%K
T o

FEERRBA—REIENREBREHE
BARBHF N AR c RAKBEIRTD
ERAEEEEN—5 5 - BEHEAR
AHRAEHEEBERKRINEES KiGE
WIE - A RE B AR EHIRESRIR
HEITARR - WiE FIEMN2022512H23
HEK - Bt © BB RBKAERQT
KB AR °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 35. EHKE0F(E)
Year ended 31 December 2022 (continued) B Z2022F 12531 HIEFEE ()
Acquisition of Shanghai Zhiaosheng (continued) WekE e e R (E)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of EEERBRKIERRAEANEERE
Shanghai Zhiaosheng as at the date of acquisition were as BEHQAFERAT :
follows:
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
WEERERATE
RMB’000
AR®T
Property, plant and equipment ME - B R&E 13 154
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14(a) 126
Prepayments, other receivables and  TEfI3K1E + H A EUGRIE R HAth
other assets BE 77
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEYD 19,462
Other payables and accruals H e 58 R e R & A (2,149)
Contract liabilities aHEE (5,335)

Lease liabilities included in interest- T AGTBIRITREMERNEE

bearing bank and other borrowings  B&f& — B1HA

— current 14(b) (73)
Lease liabilities included in interest-  FFAGTBIRITREMERNEE

bearing bank and other borrowings & f& — FEBNE]

— non-current 14(b) (50)
Total identifiable net assets at fair AR FEELRE IRATE

value 12,212
Non-controlling interests FEIERRAE 2 (5,984)
Goodwill on acquisition U B A5 PR A P R 15 2,522
Satisfied by: SENIE
Cash consideration RERE 8,750

£1010F  Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RA#E £HFHRE A A
m—



35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)
Acquisition of Shanghai Zhiaosheng (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
subsidiaries is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

35. EHKEHF(H)

BF202212531H 1L FZ ()
e fE £ B ()
BB RRNESRESTNT

RMB’000
AR®TR

Cash consideration HeRE (8,750)
Cash and bank balances acquired FTis BB3R & M SR 1T 45 84 19,462
Net inflow on acquisition included in FFAKRE RSB REeRENBIERAF

cash flows from investing activities 5] 10,712

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB29,500 for this
acquisition. The transaction costs have been included in
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Since the acquisition, Shanghai Zhiaosheng contributed
RMB106,000 to the Group’s revenue and caused a loss of
RMB29,000 to the consolidated profit for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group
for the year would have been RMB2,360,203,000 and
RMB511,205,000, respectively.

AEERRXMRBEEL FRAARE
295007t - BEEAR S AE T AL A
B kHEtM2ERER AT

BUREEEEMNR - EEERBAREE
HE2022F12A31H L FE BB
AR¥106,0007T @ W ALGAFBEL
&5 18 A R#29,0007T °

fHaHRFETET - BIFARKE RS

XA E &5 Bl A A RE2 360,203,000
TR AER®S511,205,0007T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021
Acquisition of Open University Online

On 13 January 2021, the Group acquired the other 50%
equity interests in Open University Online from Guokai
Xiangyun (Beijing) Asset Management Company Limited
(BRFEZEELR)EEEE AR AT F])atacash consideration
of RMB410.0 million. Open University Online is principally
engaged in providing online long distance learning services.
Before this transaction, the Group has already held 50% of
equity interests in Open University Online, and the Group’s
equity interests in Open University Online increased to
100% upon the completion of the acquisition. Since then,
Open University Online became an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Open
University Online as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A

35. KO

B E2021F12H31 HILFE

B E RIEAR

1202118138 - AEBURESRE
ARE410.08BLRBERAFEEEER)
BEEEARETARWESKERS
INB0%ARHE - EAE R EENEREA
BREBERE - REARZAE A&
EEFEERELRNS0%ME - B
BTRKEBEAEBEREATHENRELES
100% > Bt » EAEZKALAEEK
MEZEWB AT -

BEARESRKEARAHIEERARE
HAFEAT



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 35. EBEE0F(E)
Year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) BZ2021F12531HILFEE (4E)
Acquisition of Open University Online (continued) IWIBEXETE(E)
Fair value
recognised
Notes on acquisition
W BB R RE SR
BiiaE ~E
RMB’000
ARBTTT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MERE 13 57,015
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14(a) 22,042
Other intangible assets HibBm&E 16 439,135
Deferred tax assets RIETHIRE B 6,984
Inventories E3=1 8,280
Trade receivables B 5 WA 342,867
Prepayments, other receivables and FBIT IR - Eh EUCERIA K KAt
other assets BE 17,640
Cash and cash equivalents ReKBHEFEED 1,033,591
Trade payables B 5 RN IR (752,209)
Other payables and accruals H {th < 5RIE R FEET B (366,202)
Contract liabilities BHAaE (241,282)
Deferred income — current BT A — BN E] 27 (455)
Tax payable eI R (7,072)

Lease liabilities included in interest- & AFTEIRTT R EAMERHEE

bearing bank and other borrowings &f{&—B1H}

— current 14(b) (19,495)
Lease liabilities included in interest- s AFHEIRITREMERNEE

bearing bank and other borrowings & f& — JERNHH

— non-current 14(b) (8,560)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEBE 30 (106,150)
Total identifiable net assets at fair AR FEELRE - IRATE

value 431,129
Goodwill on acquisition W B TS R A 2 15 391,095
Satisfied by: SANE
Prepayments for acquisition WS =B TR R IE 82,000
Cash consideration RERE 328,000
Fair value of previously held equity SR AT BN A FE

interests 412,224

822,224
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 35.

Year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)
Acquisition of Open University Online (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
subsidiaries is as follows:

RX%E (&)

B E2021F12531H 1L FZ ()

e i A A% (M)

BB RRNESRESTNT

RMB’000

ARBTFTT

Cash consideration RERE (328,000)

Cash and bank balances acquired Frus i8R & RIRTT 45 &R 1,033,591
Net inflow on acquisition included in cash & AREEFBFIEE SR EXUE

flows from investing activities MAEER 705,591

The Group incurred transactions costs of RMB3,100,000 for
this acquisition. The transaction costs have been included
in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Since the acquisition, Open University Online contributed
RMB981,720,000 to the Group’s revenue and RMB207,475,000
to the consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December
2021.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group
for the period would have been RMB2,394,012,000 and
RMB607,579,000, respectively.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RE# B S£H B R A A

AEBMBAWBEELGRAARE
3,100,000t » AR Z KA E 5 A 4R
AERZNHEMEEKRER NN ITERER
§ °

BUREEEEMNUR EAEGRELASEE
F2021F12A31H EFE ERMMKE A
R #981,720,0007T K47 & FI AR
207,475,0007C °

MEHREYETT QAR ER WS
N A E &5 5 A A RE2 394,012,000
TR AR¥B607,579,0007T °



35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)
Acquisition of Xiaoai Technology

On 16 July 2021, Shiji Kuangao, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an equity investment agreement
with Ms. Tan Huafang (ZEJX), Ningbo Xiaoai Weizhi
Intelligent Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership) (2%
NEERRERHE AR E(ERER)), Zhuhai Yunshi Yuanze
Phase | Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(RBEFREZE-HRERESBEE(BRER)), Ningbo
Meishan Free Trade Port Zone Anan Xincheng Investment
Management Center (Limited Partnership) (& #8ILRTE
@RI E B R L(FRE %)), Beijing Anan Xinchuang
Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership) (1t 54z
A E B A L(ERE %)), Ningbo Zhongcai Investment
Management Company Limited (B A &R EERFRAR]),
Shanghai Wangzhuo Asset Management Center (Limited
Partnership) (L8RS EEEEH L(EREH)), Ningbo Free
Trade Zone Juzhuo Equity Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (BRRHEEBZERERESRCEEBREER)),
Wuhan Jiazhuo Innovation Equity Investment Center (Limited
Partnership) (BVEIERIFREREFR (EREE)) and
Xiaoai Technology, pursuant to which Shiji Kuangao agreed
to acquire 44.7964% equity interests in Xiaoai Technology at
a total consideration of RMB63,184,986 and inject a total of
RMB16,880,000 into Xiaoai Technology as a capital injection.
The consideration shall not exceed RMB80,064,986 with
performance commitment for the three years ending 31
December 2023, and net profit of which shall not be less
than RMB15,000,000. After the completion, Shiji Kuangao
held 51% equity interests in Xiaoai Technology.

Xiaoai Technology is an internet company which mainly
engages in providing Saa$S services for the human resources
industry. The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy to form a good integration and synergy with the
Company’s existing education business. The acquisition
has been accounted for using the acquisition method. The
acquisition was completed on 10 August 2021. Since then,
Xiaoai Technology has become a subsidiary of the Company.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

35. EHKEHF(H)

B Z2021F12H31HILFEE ()
PERRWEEER

R2021F7 168 » KAGRNEEH B
ARt LEEEAES L ERNE
HEBENMEEELE(BRER) « K
BERFREZE-HRERESELX(E
REE)  BREBILREBEZRIRK
KREBEPL(BRER) L RRRH
BIEEERPL(ERER) BRPS
KEEBRERRAR - LEREEEEE
FL(ERER)  FERHBERER
EREERECE(AREE) R
FEFREREROL(BRER) R/
BRI RERE Wi - Rt - 42
EaRENRREARY63,184,986
TRANER R NIEERET A
R ¥16,880,0007T © W B /N B Bl
44.7964%R Ik tE - RETHBA AR
#80,064,9867T © H 7t & £20234F 12
ANBILE=EFEELEEAFH H
/% F1 B T ME R A K 15,000,000
TC o RTTEkig - HE ERFA/NERE
H151 %L HE ©

NERFR-—REZBANERITER
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ERAASEEEANEANRREHE %
B RIS B RIREEEK IS -
WHEETEERABEEAR - WEEEIE
R2021F8 A10H T ° Kt/ NERHE
RABKRABIHEBEAR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 35.
Year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)
Acquisition of Xiaoai Technology (continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of

E1E 6t ()

BF2021512531H 1L FE (F)
PEMEBIBEE )
PNEMERRER SR FREERAE

Xiaoai Technology as at the date of acquisition were as WAFEMAT :
follows:
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
W R iR A 1B
Notes RMB’000
P aE ARBTTT
Property, plant and equipment Y - R N GRE 13 19
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14(a) 1,190
Deferred tax assets B IEE E 2,012
Trade receivables 2 5 WA 200
Prepayments, other receivables TEfRIE - iR RIEREMEE
and other assets 18,865
Cash and cash equivalents REMREFEEY 304
Other payables and accruals HAu BN FRIB R BT ER (7,520)
Contract liabilities BHEE (1,800)
Lease liabilities included in FEAGTRIRITREAMERNEES
interest-bearing bank and other & — BN HA
borrowings — current 14(b) (1,230)
Total identifiable net assets at fair AR E & E4A%8 -
value BAFE 12,040
Non-controlling interests FEPER i (5,900)
Goodwill on acquisition BT R 2 15 66,725
Satisfied by: SN
Cash consideration RERE 76,380
Consideration payable FERTRAE 3,685
Contingent consideration HARE (7,200)
72,865

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RE# B S£H B R A A
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)
Acquisition of Xiaoai Technology (continued)

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB100,000 for
this acquisition. The transaction costs have been included
in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As part of the purchase agreement, contingent consideration
is payable, which is dependent on the amount of the net profit
of Xiaoai Technology for the three years ending 31 December
2023. The initial amount recognised was RMB7,200,000 as
a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, which
was determined using the discounted cash flow model and
is within Level 3 fair value measurement.

Significant unobservable valuation inputs for the fair value
measurement of contingent consideration are as follows:

Projected 2022 net profit of
Xiaoai Technology

RMB13,820,000

Projected 2023 net profit of
Xiaoai Technology

RMB25,490,000

Revenue volatility 22%

A significant increase (decrease) in the net profit of Xiaoai
Technology would result in a significant decrease (increase)
in the fair value of the contingent consideration asset. A
significant increase (decrease) in the discount rate would
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value
of the contingent consideration asset.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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35. EHKEHF(H)

B Z2021F12H31HILFEE ()
PEMZWEEEGE)

AEBMBAWBEESFRAARKE
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BIELE=AFEFMNE - NBEER
ERA/RAFEFABENEHEEA
R #7,200,0007T * T3 BEEIRE R
BAEFWAAE=RRTEHNE -

RARBATEHBOEATTHES
EHABIEIT -

NERIFF2022F AR¥13,820,0007T
FEHF )

INERFR2023F AREE25,490,0007T
FEHF )

s 58 B 22%
NERECEFEREZNCR D) B E
BHARBEENAFEKXNRRLD (1
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)
Acquisition of Xiaoai Technology (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
subsidiaries is as follows:

35.

RX%E (&)

BE2021F12531H 1L FZ ()
NERBEBIBEEE)

BB RRNES RO T

RMB’000

ARBT T

Cash consideration HeRE (76,380)

Cash and bank balances acquired FrU 838 & RIRTT 48R 304
Net cash outflow on acquisition included &FAIKEEFATER S REMUWEE

in cash flows from investing activities WMEMHFEE (76,076)

Since the acquisition, Xiaoai Technology contributed
RMB5,847,000 to the Group’s revenue and caused a loss
of RMB5,634,000 to the consolidated profit for the year ended
31 December 2021.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group
for the year would have been RMB2,403,343,000 and
RMB601,147,000, respectively.

Acquisition of Minsheng Online

On 26 June 2021, Chongging Mengzhuo Education Technology
Company Limited (“Chongqing Mengzhuo”) and Chongging
Fanyun, wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, entered
into an equity transfer agreement with Mr. Pan Guogiang (/&
Bl5%), Ms. Liu Ruigiong (£|&18), Guangdong Mingshi Group
Company Limited (EERPAHEHEEEHR A A]), Guangdong
Mingshi Online Education Technology Company Limited (&
RAEFHE 4R B BBR 2 7]) and Minsheng Online, pursuant to
which Chongging Mengzhuo and Chongging Fanyun agreed
to acquire 51% equity interests in Minsheng Online at a total
consideration of RMB130,000,000, subject to the downward
price adjustment in accordance with the completion of the
performance commitment.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A

BUEEEIEAR - NEREAREEE
F2021F12A318 L FEERKZE A
R #5,847,0007T K& ¥ 47 & FI| B 75 2K &5
B AR5 634,0007T °

MEHREVETT  MFAREBR NS
A E &5 5 A A RE2 403,343,000
TR AR®G601,147,0007T °

REEGUWEBER

R2021F6H26H * ARFIZEWB A
AEREEHERBTBERARERE
Bs  DREFLERERBILE - B
2B L BERAEHEEEERA
A BERAEESHEERAFTRRE
ERTIREEERZ Bt EF
2EREFABRENAREARE
130,000,0007T ( 7] 4R ¥ 3 48 7 5 89 58
RIBAEHARETUAATAR)KER
ETELREI51 %A AE -



35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)
Acquisition of Minsheng Online (continued)

The consideration shall be adjusted based on Minsheng
Online’s actual financial performance for the three years
ended 31 December 2022 with reference to the following
performance targets: (i) the net profit of Minsheng Online
for the year ended 31 December 2021 shall be higher than
that of the year ended 31 December 2020 and the net profit
of Minsheng Online for the year ended 31 December 2022
shall be higher than that of the year ended 31 December
2021; (ii) the total net profit of Minsheng Online for the three
years ended 31 December 2022 shall not be less than
RMB60,000,000; and (iii) the net profit for the year ended
31 December 2022 shall not be less than RMB30,000,000.

Minsheng Online mainly provides academic education
services and vocational education and training through an
online platform. The acquisition was made as part of the
Group’s strategy to expand its network of online education.
The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition
method. The acquisition was completed on 15 September
2021. Since then, Minsheng Online has become a subsidiary
of the Company.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

35. EHKEHF(H)

B Z2021F12H31HILFEE ()

REERWESE(HE)

REGRER LT G £2022512 A
SIALE=HAFEMNERMBRALLR
EATHEBZETHE  (\REER
HZE2021F12A31B L FEFHBER
RE Z22020F12A8318 It FEF A E
MERAEGE E2022F12831H IE4F
EEAMBSREZE2021F12A318 1t
FEFANE (WREEGENRE 22022
F12A31B L =EAF EHFF HRE
TME R A R #60,000,0007T : M(ii)&
F2022F12A31H IEFERFFED
K7 A R #30,000,0007T °

RETGBBAEG TR T ERHTEREY
BRBEUARBEHFEI - WEEIE
EXANSERREETGHE BERE
HAEKE D - WESHEHAKEEA
B o WEERIAN2021F9 8158 Ak ©
RERETEEKNBEATMBRAR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 35. EHKE0F(E)
Year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) B Z2021F12531HIEFEE(4E)
Acquisition of Minsheng Online (continued) REERWESIE(E)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of REGCHERKERBARNEERAE
Minsheng Online as at the date of acquisition were as follows: BRFENT :
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
W BB R R A E
Notes RMB’000
P aE AR®TT
Property, plant and equipment W - B K 13 136
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14(a) 154
Other intangible assets B\ EE 16 75,862
Trade receivables 2 5 W GRIE 79,337
Prepayments, other receivables and FBft3IA « M EKF B EME
other assets 23 38,962
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEFEEYD 2,395
Trade payables B 5N FIE (11,553)
Other payables and accruals E e 5B R R & A (67,583)
Contract liabilities AHEE (27,337)
Lease liabilities included in interest- 5T AGTEIRITREMERNEES
bearing bank and other borrowings & — Bl &j
— current 14(b) (162)
Tax payable e IR (1,129)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIBEE 30 (18,875)
Total identifiable net assets at fair AIHRFEELRE  RATE
value 70,207
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR B (34,400)
Goodwill on acquisition WHE S R 15 86,483
Satisfied by: XA
Cash consideration HERE 45,500
Consideration payable FERHRE 68,950
Contingent consideration AR ME 7,840
122,290

{0) Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RE# B S£H B R A A
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)
Acquisition of Minsheng Online (continued)

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB300,000 for
this acquisition. The transaction costs have been included
in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As part of the purchase agreement, contingent consideration
is payable, which is dependent on the amount of the net profit
of Minsheng Online for the three years ended 31 December
2022. The initial amount recognised was RMB7,840,000 as
a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, which
was determined using the discounted cash flow model and
was within Level 3 fair value measurement.

Significant unobservable valuation inputs for the fair value
measurement of contingent consideration are as follows:

Projected 2022 net profit of
Minsheng Online

RMB30,437,000

Post-tax discount rate 17%

A significant increase (decrease) in the net profit of Minsheng
Online would result in a significant increase (decrease) in the
fair value of the contingent consideration liability. A significant
increase (decrease) in the discount rate would result in
a significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of the
contingent consideration liability.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

35. EHKEHF(H)

B Z2021F12H31HILFEE ()
REERWESE(HE)

AEBMBAWBEESFRAARKE
300,000 ° BEEAR B AEFF AL E
BakEMEmEmBERAMITHRAY

ERBEHEMNEXE D - BRASAR
BEUAR R AETEER B E2022F12 A
SIBE=EFEMNFMNE - Y525
ERAZATEFABENESREEA
K #%7,840,0007T * J3fEABLIRE &R
BRBEFITAE=RAFEFE -

RARBATEHBOEATTHES
EHABIEIT -

RAELZ2022F AR¥30,437,0007C
TERTEFE

&AL = 17%
REEZZFMBERBEMORD)EE
BRARBEBHOAFEAELIMNCR

D) o REIR AR L N Oft ) 5 B Bk
AREERENRFHERERD (&)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)
Acquisition of Minsheng Online (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
subsidiaries is as follows:

35.

RX%E (&)

B E2021F12531H 1L FZ (HF)
REERUIBSHE(HA)

LB B RRINES RO T

RMB’000

ARBTT

Cash consideration HeRE (45,500)

Cash and bank balances acquired P B3R & M SR 1T 4564 2,395
Net cash outflow on acquisition included s AKREEEBRESRENUWERS

in cash flows from investing activities i bEE- (43,105)

Since the acquisition, Minsheng Online contributed
RMB28,413,000 to the Group’s revenue and RMB12,113,000
to the consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December
2021.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group
for the year would have been RMBZ2,469,151,000 and
RMB620,066,000, respectively.

Acquisition of Umooc Online

On 16 October 2021, Beijing Yierxue, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share purchase
agreement with Beijing Yidiyou Education Technology Center
(Limited Partnership) (At R ZHEHBE R R L(ERE %)),
Mr. Gujiang (B&)T), Mr. Zhang Xiaoyi (58 E &), Ms. Li Shengjie
(ZBA), Ms. Zhao Shuli (#8F]), Ms. Zhao Yan (#4%) and
Umooc Online, pursuant to which Beijing Yierxue agreed to
acquire 100% of the issued share capital of Umooc Online
at a cash consideration of RMB37.5 million. UMOOC Online
provides education and teaching informatisation construction,
online teaching support, mixed teaching applications and
other services for undergraduate colleges and vocational
colleges. The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy to expand its network of online education. The
acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition
method. The handover was completed on 23 November
2021. Since then, Umooc Online has become a subsidiary
of the Company.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A

BUIESEIENR REERAEAEEE
F2021F12A31H IEFE TR E A
R #28,413,0007T MR & A BE A R
12,113,0007T °

MEHREETT  MIFRALRER NS
KR 5 R A AR B2 469,151,000
TR A E#620,066,0007T °

BERRERKWESRE

R2021F 108168 * AR A2 EK B
AEdt R S MmE R R 5 ERE RHY
FL(BRER)  BIIAE  RERE
£ FRBAL T ERFIR T  BIRK
TREZREFTIRGBEE HE &
I RS MERBUREREARE
37,500,000t B EREREFEN D
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

35. XHE (A
B E2021F12531H 1L FZ ()

Acquisition of Umooc Online (continued) BRFESWESEEEA)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of EBRREERKER B ENEERE
Umooc Online as at the date of acquisition were as follows: BERAFENAT
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
W BB R R A E
Notes RMB’000
P aE AR®ET T
Property, plant and equipment EN NS 13 96
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14(a) 4,100
Other intangible assets Hi\EEEE 16 17,700
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFEY 11,095
Accounts receivable FEUER SR 3,277
Prepayments, other receivables  FBN B - EfEWRBEREMEE
and other assets 2,573
Trade payables Z SN IR (35)
Contract liabilities BHERE (4,378)
Other payables and accruals H fth B~ 5RIE R FEST B (1,331)
Lease liabilities included in FFAGHRSRITREMERNEES
interest-bearing bank and other & — B1£f
borrowings — current 14(b) (1,551)
Tax payable FERIBEIE (10)
Lease liabilities included in FFAGTRRITREMERNEES
interest-bearing bank and other & — FEBNES
borrowings — non-current 14(b) (2,442)
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEAE 30 (299)
Total identifiable net assets at fair AJ R FEELREE -
value EATE 28,795
Goodwill on acquisition WHE RS R R 15 8,705
Satisfied by: SANE
Cash consideration BeRE 15,000
Consideration payable FERHRE 22,500
37,500
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 35. EHKE0F(E)
Year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) B Z2021F12531HIEFEE(4E)
Acquisition of Umooc Online (continued) ERFESWBEE(E)
The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB100,000 for AEBERRANKBEERIKAARE
this acquisition. The transaction costs have been included 100,0007T - BEAR HK AT ALZRE
in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of B kEME2ERERANITRRES -

profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of UWENBARNIR SR T
subsidiaries is as follows:

RMB’000
ARBT T
Cash consideration RERE (15,000)
Cash and bank balances acquired il & RIRTT4E &R 11,095
Net outflow on acquisition included in FFAREEABRESRENBERDF
cash flows from investing activities %8 (3,905)
Since the acquisition, Umooc Online contributed BWEEIENR  ERREEAELAEEH
RMB9,169,000 to the Group’s revenue and RMB6,230,000 to HZE2021F12A31H I FE BB
the consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December 2021. AR 19,169,000 R 4r & FIE AR
6,230,0007T °
Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the ma HREVHET - MFRAKRERES
year, the revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group R FE#& 5 5l A AR%2,411,300,000
for the year would have been RMB2,411,300,000 and TR AR #608,570,0007T °

RMB608,570,000, respectively.

|4 Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RE# B S£H B R A A
-



36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

31

BRI EE ()

December 2022 2022412H31H

36. RERERERME

(a) REZEFELRENEE

activities
2022 20224
Loans from
Bank and Sale and  the ultimate
other Lease leaseback holding Dividends
borrowings liabilities liabilities company payable
REER
BITR E&EA BERAR
HAtfE ™ HEER a8 NEX EfRE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR AR¥TR AR®TR AR¥Tn
At 1 January 2022 202251 A1H 1,776,515 52,421 149,991 - 23
Changes from financing B&R&RE 3
cash flows 105,969 (29,347) 57,718 - (90,111)
New leases g - 31,941 - - -
Acquisition of a MEARIKESE
subsidiary - 123 - - -
Interest expense FEHE 90,876 3,121 21,130 - -
Disposal of leases REME - (6,813) - - -
Dividends declared BEERRE - - - - 192,516
Effect of foreign EEEHTE
exchange rate
changes 103,841 48 - - -
At 31 December 2022 202212431
H 2,077,201 51,494 228,839 - 102,428

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36. MEREREBRMTE(E)
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (a) BEZEFIEEEENEE (F)
activities (continued)
2021 20214
Loans from
Bank and Sale and  the ultimate
other Lease leaseback holding Dividends
borrowings liabilities liabilities company payable
R T
HRITR EREE ERAR]
HifE R HERE =0 MER FERTRRE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL  ARBTL  ARBTR  ARBTRL  ARET:R

At 1 January 2021 R202141A1H 1,690,466 17,726 55,821 137,236 62,179
Changes from financing BEHREREE

cash flows 36,697 (30,137) 86,712 (138,814)  (100,108)
New leases THE - 34,763 = = =
Acquisition of EBARMESE

subsidiaries - 28,440 - - -
Interest expense FEHY 69,444 1,629 7,458 2,945 =
Dividends declared EEIRKRE - - - - 37,952
Effect of foreign ExEgHyE

exchange rate

changes (20,092) - - (1,367) -
At 31 December 2021 #2021512A431

A 1,776,515 52,421 149,991 - 23
(b) Total cash outflow for leases (b)) HEZEEHHEE

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement FARERERNEEZREN
of cash flows is as follows: HABREIAT -

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARWT T ARBTT

Within financing activities REEEA 29,347 30,137

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



37.

38.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities (2021: Nil).
COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

37. BAREE
MR2022F12A31H » 7N & B #f 2 F {r]
BAKRBE(20214F : £) o

38. i
AEBRWEBHRNEAREDT -

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARETTT

Contracted, but not provided B &] 4B AREHE
for:

Equipment ] 43,553 43,503
Buildings gF 358,441 367,018

Acquisition of a private KERHER R AR
school and companies 91,800 91,800
493,794 502,321

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have
significant capital commitments that are authorised but not
contracted for (2021: Nil).

RIERR - AEBTEBSREBERET
K E KB AEIE(20214F « £) ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. BELRS

(a) Name and relationship of a related party (a) BEERERBREHESHBEEFR
Name Relationship

# T ERES

Minsheng Group Company Limited
EEEHBRAR]

The ultimate holding company
BRARIERR A T

(b) The Group had the following transactions with a (b) RER  FEFHBEEFEUT

related party during the year: X8
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARETTT
Repayments to: BT :
Minsheng Group Company  RASHERAF]
Limited = 138,814
Interest expense to: JEART A BRI
Minsheng Group Company  RAEHAR AT
Limited - 2,945

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the (c) FEEETEEZEANSRIFHY -

Group:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT T ARBET T
Salaries, allowances and e RMAEYHIZE
benefits in kind 18,697 16,980
Equity-settled share option NEREENERESS
expense 1,668 3,478
Pension scheme RSB R
contributions 419 250
20,784 20,708
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in EEMemE —PHEBIHNRITE
note 8 to the financial statements. RRHIFES o

( /' Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAE#E £HBR A A
-



The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

40. EMIESE
RIEHR  SESRT ENEREEAEN

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as TS @
follows:
2022 2022%F

Financial assets

TREE

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

RAVPEFTABENEREE

Designated as
such upon initial

Mandatorily
designated as

Financial assets

recognition such at amortised cost
REHEE
RA5 TEN
BAREE BEIETE tREE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R AR%TR AR®TR AR%TR
Trade receivables B S EMIE - - 684,137 684,137
Financial assets included st ATEfTZUE - Hifh
in prepayments, other PR R E fth &
receivables and other ENeREE
assets - - 496,011 496,011
Financial assets included st AEMIEREEE
in other non-current MeRAE
assets - - 900 900
Financial assets at fair N E R PN E:
value through profit or EREE
loss
— Equity investment —RIERE - 14,176 - 14,176
- Contingent —HARE
consideration 148,300 - - 148,300
- Wealth — B ER
management
products 29,455 - - 29,455
Cash and cash equivalents & KELEEY - - 3,477,088 3,477,088
177,755 14,176 4,658,136 4,850,067
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 40. SR T AP E(E)

2022 (continued) 20225 (%)
Financial liabilities ez =k
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REHER AT E
NEMas
RMB’000
AR®T T
Financial liabilities included in other AT AR B RIA I B G B A ) &
payables and accruals A 541,615
Trade payables Z S IR 944,220
Dividend payables FERTAR B 102,428
Interest-bearing bank and other At SIRTT R EAMAETR
borrowings 2,357,534
Put option liability son R 944,472
4,890,269

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 40. &R T E5 % ()

2021

Financial assets

20214

SREE
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

BRAHEFABENEREE

Designated
as such Mandatorily Financial
upon initial designated as assets at
recognition such amortised cost Total
R
R STER
MR HETE 58 Hl 6T TREE HEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
Trade receivables Z 5 W IR - - 606,031 606,031
Financial assets FFATENRIE - K
included in b 8 U R T8 N B
prepayments, other B EER SR
receivables and BE
other assets - - 123,932 123,932
Financial assets FFAEMIERENE
included in other ENEREE
non-current assets 17,169 - 400,900 418,069
Financial assets at  ZAF{EFF AR
fair value through NEMEE
profit or loss
- Equity investment  —IRIEIRE = 33,139 = 33,139
— Contingent —HARE
consideration 63,400 - - 63,400
— Wealth —BMER
management
product 204,400 - - 204,400
Cash and cash ReERREEFED
equivalents - - 2,750,227 2,750,227
Restricted bank 2R IR TR
deposits - - 186,016 186,016
284,969 33,139 4,067,106 4,385,214
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

40. €T A E(E)

2021 (continued) 20214 (#8)
Financial liabilities A= =N
Financial liability
at fair value
through profit or
loss
BRATFERA
Baneme s
Designated as Financial
such upon initial liabilities at
recognition  amortised cost Total
RN IREHKARE
i =ha WEREE o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREFTT
Financial liability at fair ZAFEFABZAE
value through profit BE-SNRRE
or loss — contingent
consideration 7,840 - 7,840
Financial liabilities ST AE A S RRIE K
included in other EEtERNESRARE
payables and
accruals - 687,417 687,417
Trade payables B SN RIE - 807,138 807,138
Dividend payables FERTAR S - 23 23
Interest-bearing bank 5B RTT R EALE K
and other borrowings - 1,978,927 1,978,927
Payables for FEfS#E1E B A — FERN AR
compensation fees -
non-current = 55,116 55,116
Put option liability RoLEERE - 900,742 900,742
7,840 4,429,363 4,437,203

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



41.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

TREE
BRAHEF ABEH SR

BRI EE ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

41, SMIENAFERATFEER

AEBEEeRMTACRAEEQATVESE
BEZERINOER@ENR D FHERT

2022
Carrying
amounts

2022

Fair values
AFE
RMB’000
ARBT

SREE
RMB’000
ARBT T

— Equity investment — RERE 14,176 14,176
- Contingent consideration — s AR(EB 148,300 148,300
— Wealth management — BB Em
products 29,455 29,455
Financial assets included in FFAHMABEENCRIEE
other current assets 400,000 400,000
Financial assets included in STARMIERBEER
other non-current assets TRIEE (4 THE ARINEN
(other than a loan to an BRI
associate) 900 900
592,831 592,831
Financial liabilities tHAas
Interest-bearing bank and other & BR{TREMER
borrowings (other than lease  (FAE& &K
liabilities) 2,077,201 2,076,257
Put option liability RonHEEE 944,472 944,472
3,021,673 3,020,729
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 4. EMIENAFERLIFLEBR(E)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
2021 2021
Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE ~EE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTTT
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at fair value  EAFETABZHE /M
through profit or loss BE
- Equity investment — IR E 33,139 33,139
— Contingent consideration —HARE 63,400 63,400
- Wealth management — BT Em
product 204,400 204,400
Loan to an associate included FFAEMIEREEEN A THE A
in other non-current assets AW E K 17,169 17,169
Financial assets included in FTARMIERBEENSREE
other non-current assets (% THE & R R E BRI
(other than a loan to an
associate) 400,900 400,900
719,008 719,008
Financial liabilities cRAas
Financial liability at fair BAFEFAERD
value through profit or loss TRIBE-IARE
-contingent consideration 7,840 7,840
Interest-bearing bank and other &t ER1TREMER
borrowings (other than lease  (FAE&EKIN)
liabilities) 1,926,506 1,796,760
Payables for compensation JE{S i 1E B A — FERD AR
fees — non-current 55,116 55,116
Put option liability RnEERE 900,742 900,742
2,890,204 2,760,458

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



41.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets,
trade receivables, trade payables, dividend payables and
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of financial assets included other non-
current assets except for a loan to an associate, which have
been measured at fair value, financial liabilities included
in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and loans
from the ultimate holding company have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as a
result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2021
and 2022 were assessed to be insignificant.

The fair value of the put option liability has been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

41.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

41.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
quoted market prices.

The fair value of the loan to an associate included in other
non-current assets has been estimated using the discounted
cash flow valuation model based on assumptions that were
not supported by observable market prices or rates. The
valuation required the directors to make estimates about
the expected future cash flows including expected future
interest return on maturity of the loan to an associate. The
directors believe that the estimated fair value resulting from
the valuation technique, which is recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, is reasonable, and that it is
the most appropriate value at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of the contingent consideration has been
estimated using the discounted cash flow method.

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable
inputs to the valuation of financial instruments together with
a quantitative sensitivity analysis at the end of the reporting
period:

31 December 2022
Valuation

technique

HERE

Significant
unobservable input
EXTHEEZY

Contingent Discounted cash Discount rate
consideration flow method
FIARE RERERAE LR

41.

17.0%

17.0%

EMTANAFERAFEER(E)

RIS A T E RIS R E
ﬁo

AEARMIERBEENLG THZE QAN
EXHNNFE - DRARRBESRMGE
BEAME - EPHRKRABEIGSTER
MEXL X - BRGERESHE
HARAER(BREGTHERRANE
B B /O TR B R 2R B 2 ) (i
it BEMRE  RUBETAGHNMG
ARFE(REEFBARRERALRKR) B
BE - Y ARESHMRRIGENMEE -

SRRENRFEIEBERRE R
RfEET ©

eRIAGMERRSHRNERTAIH
R2H RE(CFRE ST ES S 1A
™

2022512A31H

Sensitivity of fair value to the input

AVEHZBNBRE

0.5% increase/(decrease) in discount rate
would result in (decrease)/ increase in
fair value by RMB600,000/ RMB400,000

BRE T/ (TH)0.5%HEHRAFECH
1)/ EIAR¥E 600,0007,/ AR
400,0007T
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41.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

31 December 2021

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

4. EMIENAFERLAFEBR(E)

2021%12H31H

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable input Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input
(EEVR BATAHE2Y BE ATEH2ENHRE
Loan to an associate  Discounted cash Discount rate 3.0% 0.5% increase/(decrease) in discount
included in other flow method rate would result in (decrease)/
non-current assets increase in fair value by RMB2,198,000/
RMB2,540,000
AARMEREEE REBEERNE BB & 3.0% BRERELEA/ (TH)0.5%EEHDFECH
i FEE DRI D) /B MAR%2,198,0007T /AR ¥
BR 2,540,000t
Contingent Discounted cash Discount rate 17.0% 0.5% increase/(decrease) in discount
consideration flow method rate would result in (decrease)/
increase in fair value by RMB950,000/
RMB1,250,000
HARE BRRERAE B K 17.0% HEEXEAR/(TH)05%EEHRATE

Revenue volatility

WK

GRY) /A R#950,0007T,/ AR
1,250,0007T

22.0% 0.5% increase/(decrease) in revenue
volatility would result in increase/
(decrease) in fair value by RMB500,000/
RMB500,000

22.0% WARIEEF/ (TE) 0.5% K EHATE
#m,/ (fd) AR#ES00,0007T,/ ARE
500,0007T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2022

Quoted prices

4. EMIENAFERLIFLEBR(E)

AFEER
TEMAAEESRTANATEE
B -

BATEN BORE

A2022%F12 8311

Fair value measurement using

ATEHBER

Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
RERT S BEX BX
MR E AEEZ2Y ITUBEZSH et
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(B—#%) (B=#&%) (=)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®BTT ARBTT AR®T T
Financial assets at BATERAR
fair value through mHEREE
profit or loss
- Equity investment —XIEIRE 14,176 - - 14,176
— Contingent — S ARE
consideration - - 148,300 148,300
~ Wealth — BB Em
management
products - 29,455 - 29,455
14,176 29,455 148,300 191,931
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41.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value (continued)

As at 31 December 2021

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

4. EMIENAFERLAFEBR(E)

RFEERE)
BRAVEFENEEE)
MN202112A31H

Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices

ATESHE (A

Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
& BT % BAA] BANA]
HERE Bm=2y B2y #Et
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(B—#) (B=&) (B=#)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT ARBT T ARBTT
Financial assets at AV EFT AR
fair value through MEBEE
profit or loss
- Equity investment  — X AERE 33,139 = = 33,139
— Contingent —ARKE
consideration - - 63,400 63,400
- Wealth — IR Bt E
management
product - 204,400 - 204,400
Loan to an associate st AHthIERE
included in other BEMNGT
non-current assets BERNTNE
= - - 17,169 17,169
33,139 204,400 80,569 318,108
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Liability measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2021

4. EMIENAFERLIFLEBR(E)

RFEERE)
BRAFEFENERS
MN202112A31H

Fair value measurement using

ATEHERA
Significant Significant
Quoted prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs Total
A B T 5 ) EXRAEE  EANUEE
WwE 28 28 a5
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(F—&) (B=H) (B=R)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Financial liability at fair R FEABE
value through profit NEeREE
or loss
- Contingent —HARE
consideration - - 7,840 7,840

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A



41.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Liability measured at fair value (continued)

As at 31 December 2021 (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3
during the year are as follows:

f BRI (8])

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

EMTANAFERAFEER(E)

RFEERE)
BRAVEFENES(E)
MR2021FE12A318 (48)

FRE=ZFARFEFTENEBINT

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T

Loan to an associate included in  F AEMIERENE EMLS THE

other non-current assets EREINER
At 1 January ®1A1H 17,169 27,942
Total losses recognised in ST A A ST R 1B e FERR Y S

profit or loss included in other BERE

expenses (17,986) (10,133)
Effect of foreign exchange rate ~ [EXREFHE

changes 817 (640)
At 31 December MW12H31H - 17,169
Financial assets at fair value BATFEGTABZNESH

through profit or loss BE

-Contingent consideration —SARE
At 1 January »1A1H 63,400 58,560
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B BT B R ) - 7,200
Consideration paid EfRRE 13,430 =
Fair value change NEEEF 71,470 (2,360)
At 31 December ®12A31H 148,300 63,400
Financial liability at fair BAFEFTABEHNEE

value through profit or loss afE

-Contingent consideration —HARKE
At 1 January ©K1A18 7,840 74,652
Acquisition of subsidiaries g1 hEEYNG)! - 7,840
Consideration to be paid R AE (22,225) (125,346)
Fair value change N EES 14,385 50,694
At 31 December ®W12H31H - 7,840

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, there
were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level
1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both
financial assets and financial liabilities.

RE E20214F 2022512 A31H [EF
B emEERERBAENS £—
BRE_F2ABEQNTFEFEEE
e = RIMEEALE L -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed

As at 31 December 2022

4. EMIENAFERLIFLEBR(E)

NFEER (&)
WEAFENERS
420225128311

Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices
in active
markets

RERT S
HY R E
(Level 1)
(B—#%)
RMB’000
ARET T

Interest-bearing bank &t B 8R1T R EH M

AFEHEEA

Significant
observable
inputs

EXRT
BE2H
(Level 2)
(=)
RMB’000

AR¥TR

Significant

unobservable

inputs
ERFT
BER2Y
(Level 3)
(B=4)
RMB’000
ARBTR

Total

#Et

RMB’000
ARBT T

and other loans ER(HE
(other than lease BERIN)
liabilities) - 2,077,201 - 2,077,201
Put option liability RoaHEEE - 944,472 - 944,472
- 3,021,673 - 3,021,673
As at 31 December 2021 2021612 H31H
Fair value measurement using
AEFTEER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
A BT % BKRA] BANA]
CE BR28 B2 HEt
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(B—#) (B (B=4)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREFTT ARETTT
Interest-bearing bank &t BR1T R EAM
and other loans ER(HE
(other than lease BERIN)
liabilities) - 1,796,760 - 1,796,760
Payables for EREE A
compensation fees
- non-current —JERNER - 55,116 - 55,116
Put option liability RoLEEAE - 900,742 — 900,742
= 2,752,618 = 2,752,618
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank
loans, other interest-bearing loans and cash and bank
balances. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables, other receivables, trade payables and
other payables and accruals, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank loans with
floating interest rates. It is the Group’s policy to keep certain
borrowings at floating rates of interest so as to minimise the
fair value interest rate risk. The Group currently does not use
any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk. However, the directors of the Company will consider
hedging significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable rate bank
borrowings at the end of years 2021 and 2022 and assumed
that the amounts of liabilities outstanding at the end of years
2021 and 2022 were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022%12H31H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 42. cRIEKEREBERBK(E)

POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profits for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2022 would decrease/increase by RMB8,033,000 and
RMB8,656,000, respectively. This is mainly attributable to the
Group’s exposure to variable interest rates on its bank loans.

Foreign currency risk

All of the Group’s turnover and substantially all of the
Group’s operating expenses are denominated in RMB, which
is not a freely convertible currency. The PRC Government
imposes controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign
currencies and, in certain cases, the remittance of currency
out of Mainland China. Shortages in the availability of
foreign currencies may restrict the ability of the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries to remit sufficient foreign currencies to pay
dividends or other amounts to the Group.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity as at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
US$ exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s profit before tax and the Group’s equity (arising
from US$ denominated financial instruments).

Effect on profit before tax and equity

Increase in the US$ rate by 3% = CiERIEAN3%
Decrease in the US$ rate by 3% ELEXRT%3%

T2 (F)

fHFIR EF T RRSOMEE 2 & A HAtb
AEARERTE  XEEHE2021F
N2022F 124318 1EF & W) Fi 18 4 7l
& 5 B A3 hn A R #8,033,0007T
& AR #8,656,0007T ° & £ ZHMA
SERITEREFENF R ERFTE o

S B

AEEREXBRRET2LERT
DI ARBE - MAREILIFA B H
RIETE o RBIRFEGARBEINE
B LR - SR TR TSR E
REIRRE o SIS KE R 2 & IR il AN SR o
50/ ) B 3 J S 51N ) AN 5k 1B 2 A+
M B Sk H b FRIERYBE N

NREINME R R - EFAAEMA]
BERZEFTENERT  AERENH
A M MR (B AR TR ERN ST
HEL)YXTERSEAEZEFHH

BB R FIR R A B &

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET ARBTT
(14,236) (9,282)
14,236 9,082
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group's financial assets, which comprise
bank balances, trade receivables and deposits and other
receivables, arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

Cash and cash equivalents

Most of the bank balances and pledged deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default. The expected credit loss is approximately zero.

Trade receivables
On-campus education

The Group’s trade receivables are due from a number of
individual students. The credit quality of each student is
assessed and outstanding receivables are regularly monitored.
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on financial situation and
historical payment records for groupings of various student
segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade
receivables are written off after one year of graduation of the
specific students and are not subject to enforcement activity.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)
Online education

The Group assessed the expected loss on trade receivables
from cooperative universities grouped based on the ageing
of the trade receivables, considering the historical default
experience and forward-looking information, as appropriate.
The Group uses debtors’ ageing to assess the impairment
for cooperative universities in relation to distance education
because these customers consist of numbers of cooperative
universities with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the cooperative universities’ abilities to pay
all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is
the carrying value of each class of financial assets disclosed
in note 21 to the financial statements. The Group does not
hold collateral as security.

Other receivables

As disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements, except
for default receivables, other receivables were categorised in
stage 1 for measurement of expected credit losses at the end
of the reporting period. In calculating the expected credit loss
rate, the Group considers the historical loss rate and adjusts
for forward-looking macroeconomic data. During the current
year, except for the default receivables, the Group estimated
the expected loss rate for the other receivables is minimal.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Other receivables (continued)

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Long ageing balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
fact that the Group’s deposits and other receivables relate
to a large number of diversified counterparties, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
deposits and other receivable balances. Deposits and other
receivables were mainly loans to employees, loans to third
parties and other receivables.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of internally
generated cash flows from operations and other borrowings.
The Group regularly reviews its major funding positions to
ensure that it has adequate financial resources in meeting
its financial obligations.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

42. TREMREREBBERBER(E)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 42. cRRAKBEEBERBEKE)
POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) HEBELEE ()
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at REESBABERRERRENE DR
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual BRIR R BAE R T

undiscounted payments, was as follows:

As at 31 December 2022
20225128318

Less than 3 3 to less than
On demand months 12 months 1to 5years Over 5 years Total

ZEt=f8A
RER  ZEAUR D -85 BBLE @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥TR ARETR AR%Tn AR%Tn AR%Tn
Trade payables BARNFE - = 944,220 = - 944,220
Dividend payables ~ EfIfRE - - 102,428 - - 102,428
Financial liabilities s AEMER A
included in other ~ REHERHE

payables and HER

accruals 424,390 - 117,225 - - 541,615
Lease liabilities HEAE - 6,519 20,815 31,822 - 59,156
Interest-bearing FTERTTREM

bank and other fER(TREE

borrowings 581)

(excluding lease

liabilities) - 69,679 581,808 1,746,364 105,558 2,503,409
Put option liability ~ RAHEAE - - 981,500 - - 981,500

424,390 76,198 2,747,996 1,778,186 105,558 5,132,328
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 42. cRIEKEEBERBR(E)

POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) HEBELEE ()
As at 31 December 2021
#2021612A318
Lessthan 3 3 to less than
On demand months 12 months  1to5years QOver 5 years Total
==+-fHA
BER  ZEAMRA AR —ERF BARE h
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTL  ARETT ARETR ARETR ARBTn ARETR
Financial liability at ~ RATEAEBR
fair value through ~ M&RBE
profit or loss - - - 7,840 - 7,840
Trade payables BIENTA - = 807,138 = = 807,138
Dividend payables ~ EfIFRE - 23 - - = 23
Financial liabilites s AEAERFE
included in other ~ KIE:EEH
payables and cHAR
accruals 471,202 - 216,215 - - 687,417
Lease liabilities HEARE - 5,241 10,768 41,905 - 57,914
Interest-bearing ATERITREM
bank and other fER(TaER
borrowings g818)
(excluding lease
liabilities) - 56,726 269,686 1,528,216 224,962 2,079,590
Payables for ENHEER-F
compensation fees  BIH
- non-current - - - 60,000 = 60,000
Put option liability — RAHEARE - - - 981,500 - 981,500
471,202 61,990 1,308,807 2,619,461 224,962 4,681,422

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 FE#H &



-

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRRMEE(E)

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had certain interest-
bearing bank borrowings denominated in US$. The interest
rates of these instruments are based on the LIBOR with a
tenor of six months or twelve months, which will cease to be
published after 30 June 2023. Replacement of the benchmark
rates of these instruments from LIBOR to an RFR has yet to
commence but it is expected that there will be renegotiations
of terms in the future. During the transition, the Group is
exposed to the following risks:

e Parties to the contract may not reach agreement in a
timely manner as any changes to the contractual terms
require the agreement of all parties to the contract

e Additional time may be needed for the parties to the
contract to reach agreement as they may renegotiate
terms which are not part of the interest rate benchmark
reform (e.g., changing the credit spread of the bank
borrowings due to changes in credit risk of the Group)

e The existing fallback clause included in the instruments
may not be adequate to facilitate a transition to a suitable

RFR

The Group will continue to monitor the development of the
reform and take proactive measures for a smooth transition.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A

2. SRIEMEEREERBK(E)

FlEREYE

ANEBR2022F12831BHBAUET
FHEME TEIERITEE - 2SI AR
F= %7 @ A s+ =18 A 8RR A e 2R
TREFBFE - ZFHER2023F
6A30REETBAM - BiZET AW
HEEFNEABBERTTRERENAER
BRI IR RS - BIERIER B
RAEEFER - RBEHMENRN - &%
E e TRk

e HRAMNGRIMEMEREAELS
WIMBERIRE  aMNETH
BOR M ER — B

& o>

e HMRAMNBTARENERIAI
R EERE R R (FI 2 E
AEEEERBROZEHMEWIR
TIERENGEERE) AR E
PX— Bl BE R B E L]

. RETAFBBRTEEHEER
T 87 2 BA (R 141 2 4 L
R

AEBREBRIENERBRLR
R T Bh¥E e A (R B 8K -



42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform (continued)

The information about financial instruments based on an
interbank offered rate that has yet to transition to an alternative
benchmark rate is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

42. TREMREREBBERBER(E)

FIRE A Y E (A1)

ERBITRARKELEFBEEEME
ENEN SR T AMEBEERDT

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR TTT
Non-derivative financial TECRIBE
liabilities — carrying amount —REE
Interest-bearing bank FFERITEE
borrowings - US$ LIBOR —ELRBRITRIERFE 632,822 603,651
Capital management BXEHE

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so
as to maintain creditor and market confidence and to sustain
future development of business.

The directors review the capital structure on a continuous basis
taking into account the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through raising new debts as well as redemption of existing
debts. The Group’s overall strategy remained unchanged
during the reporting period.

AEENBER SEFISREARER - U
REFEEARTZOED - RSERFK
KEERER

EETERS EANRE - BEEAKA
MEZSBENEENRER - RIEEFH
HBEES  ~AEEeERERMENE
CRBEHFEEREARARE - A5EH
R RIS N RS REERFAE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a debt-to-asset ratio which
is total liabilities divided by total assets. Capital represents
equity attributable to owners of the parent. The debt-to-asset
ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

42.

TREREERRRBE(E)

BAEHE(H)

AEERAEERBEXENES BE
BEXRERERBERUNEERE -BX
R RREAE ARGRBAE - RREHR
MEERMBLERMNT

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT T ARBET T
Total liabilities BERERE 6,919,465 6,648,759
Total assets BERE 11,956,581 11,437,794
Debt-to-asset ratios BEBGER 58% 58%

43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 43. KEHB2EEH

Dividend RE

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the board of
directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMB3.76 cents per share totalling RMB158.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The proposed final dividend
for the year is subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A

REHEERE  ET2EEREE
2022F 12 H31H L FEIRE REAR B
BERARK3 7650 A HARK158.7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B HRRME(E)

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H

44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 44, RRQTF 2B BT R
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the RIPEHKR - AARHERAER ZER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: WA -
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEMBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB AR REE 789 789
Right-of-use assets FREEE 550 1,316
Other non-current assets HMIEmE & E 562 2,548
Total non-current assets FERBEERE 1,901 4,653
CURRENT ASSETS mBEE
Due from subsidiaries JE L B B 1 B 3R 1,946,512 1,768,737
Prepayments, other receivables  JBff7RIE - H b EKFIB K
and other assets HEMmEE 2,994 2,922
Cash and bank balances Re KIRTTHER 64,205 295,507
Total current assets MEVEERE 2,013,711 2,067,166
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBBE
Other payables and accruals HAth e~ 508 R EET & A 7,370 2,120
Dividend payables FERTRR B 102,428 23
Interest-bearing bank and other 5+ 8MR1T R EMER
borrowings 90,725 64,132
Due to subsidiaries AN ENGIE/SE 287,712 274,712
Tax payable JEAH A5 18 818 615
Total current liabilities nBaEER 489,053 341,602
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEFE 1,524,658 1,725,564
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #E&ERTBEE
LIABILITIES 1,526,559 1,730,217
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FnRBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other 5 BERTT R EMER
borrowings 719,803 749,572
Total non-current liabilities EREBERE 719,803 749,572
Net assets FEE 806,756 980,645
EQUITY T
Share capital [N 322 322
Reserves (note) GRS, 806,434 980,323
Total equity B 806,756 980,645
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MM ()

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

45.

COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

44. ARTF BB R (R)

MiEE

RARBHZEEMTHR

Share option Accumulated Exchange
Capital reserve reserve losses fluctuation reserve Total reserves
BRGE BRERE RiEE INE B B re
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETTT AEETT ARETTT ARETTL
At 1 January 2021 M2021F1A1R 1,327,173 38,235 (219,136) (67,350) 1,078,922
Loss for the year FEFE = = (42,557) = (42,557)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: FREMZERR :
Exchange differences on translation of AEHBRRZ
financial statements ERES - - - (23,231) (23,231)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEZEFBER = = (42,557) (23,231) (65,788)
Final 2020 dividend declared BER020FFRHARE (37,952) = = = (37,952)
Recognition of share-based payment BRARD ARRL
expenses fRMER = 5,141 = = 5,141
At 31 December 2021 12021%12A318 1,289,221 43,376 (261,693) (90,581) 980,323
Loss for the year FERE = = (65,640) = (65,640)
Other comprehensive income for the year;  FREM2ERE :
Exchange differences on translation of HERI R EN,
financial statements B = = = 71,426 71,426
Total comprehensive income for the year FERENRER - = (65,640) 71,426 5786
Final 2021 dividend declared BER021FRHRE (182,257) = = = (182,257)
Recognition of share-based payment RARDBER 2
expenses fH0ER = 2,582 = = 2,582
At 31 December 2022 120228 12A31R 1,106,964 45,958 (327,333) (19,155) 806,434

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the financial
statements. The amount will either be transferred to the capital reserve
account when the related options are exercised, or be transferred to
retained profits should the related options expire.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2023.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEH B EH AR A A

BRERBRBCSROEHRTERBENAF
8 - R RERM T2, 4R A T 1 5%
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